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GROUP PROFILE
SEB/N

Time Interconnect Technology Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is a well-established supplier of customised
interconnect solutions with more than 20 years experience in the industry.
The Group is headquartered in Hong Kong, and has manufacturing facilities
in Shanghai, Suzhou and Huizhou, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC").

The Group currently manufactures and supplies, a wide variety of
copper & optical fiber cable assemblies and networking cables products
which are produced to the specifications and designs, of its individual
customer partners. Its products are used by a number of established
PRC and international customers in a variety of market sectors, including
telecommunication, data centre, industrial equipment, medical equipment
and networking cables.

Its business features on customised cable products for a variety of
specifications which are used in a wide range of applications. The Group
supplies cable products on a CMS basis, and its cable products are made-
to-order, upon receipt of its customers’ orders.

VISION

To be a leading provider of electronic interconnect products, continually
recognised as a “Preferred Supplier” capable of delivering world class
quality, products and services — EACH and EVERY TIME.

STRATEGY

To become a Tier-1 supplier of cable products and high performance
interconnect products to the market leaders in the 5G telecommunication,
data communication, healthcare, transport and industrial sectors.

COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen

Non-Executive Director:
Mr. Lo Chung Wai Paul (Chairman)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Ho Hin Shun

Mr. Luk Wai Shing

Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric (Chairman)
Mr. Ho Hin Shun

Mr. Luk Wai Shing

Remuneration Committee
Mr. Ho Hin Shun (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen

Mr. Luk Wai Shing

Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric

Nomination Committee

Mr. Luk Wai Shing (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen

Mr. Ho Hin Shun

Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Ng Hoi Ying

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen
Ms. Ng Hoi Ying

COMPLIANCE ADVISER
Frontpage Capital Limited
26/F, Siu On Centre, 188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

35/F, One Pacific Place, 88 Queensway, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS AS TO HONG KONG LAWS
CFN Lawyers in association with Broad & Bright
Room Nos. 4101-04, 41/F, Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Unit 601, Photonics Centre, 2 Science Park East Avenue
Hong Kong Science Park, Shatin, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS
Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited

Windward 3, Regatta Office Park

PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG
Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
China Citic Bank International Limited

United Overseas Bank Limited, Hong Kong Branch
Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of China (Huizhou Branch)

HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
China Construction Bank Corporation

Nanyang Commercial Bank (China) Limited

COMPANY'’S WEBSITE
www.time-interconnect.com

STOCK CODE
1729
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRHE

For the year ended 31 March

BEZA=T—HILFE

Operating results (HK$'million)

Revenue

Gross profit

Total profit for the year — Adjusted (Note)

Total profit for the year

Basic earnings per share (Hong Kong cents)
— Adjusted (Note)

Basic earnings per share (Hong Kong cents)

Financial position (HK$'million)
Cash generated from operations
Bank balances and cash
Shareholders’ funds

Capital expenditure

Key ratios (%)

Gross profit margin

Net profit margin — Adjusted (Note)
Net profit margin

EBITDA/Revenue — Adjusted (Note)
EBITDA/Revenue

Return on shareholders’ funds
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Net profit and Net profit margin

Change

2020 25
(restated)
(&)

2,780.2 8.2%
499.6 16.1%
173.6 32.9%
154.5 46.7%

9.4 33.0%
8.4 46.4%
601.9 -68.5%
366.9 -57.3%
1,158.0 -26.4%
50.3 -7.0%
18.0 1.3pts
6.2 1.5pts
5.6 1.9pts
12.4 0.5pts
11.7 1.0pts
13.3 13.3pts

FAERFNEE

Note:  Total profit, net profit margin and EBITDA are calculated by excluding the extreme BEE -
transaction expenses.
Revenue
HK$'million HK$'million
BEET BEET
3,200 240
3,008.0
2,800 2,780.2 210
2,400 180
2,000 150
1,600 120
1,438.8
1,238.4 1,314.4
1,200 90
864.6
800 60
400 30
0 | .. | — | . | 0
2017 2018 2019 2020 2020 2021 2017 2018
(restated)
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ERERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the "“Directors”),
| am pleased to present to you the annual report of TIME Interconnect
Technology Limited (the “Company” and together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Review Year" or
“FY2021"). During the Review Year, the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic
has continued and created a more negative impact on the global economic
activities. The continued lockdown and social distancing policies have put
pressure on economic growth. However, with the introduction of vaccines
and implementation of economic recovery measures, the global market is
expected to recover gradually. Besides, the Sino-U.S. trade war seems to
have eased with United States’ new president Joe Biden coming to power.

Amid the challenging and unstable business environment, the Group has
taken all effective measures to ensure a safe working environment, stimulate
business growth and minimise the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. For
example, we have set up a “Strategic Business Development Task Force”
(the “Task Force"”) to formulate long-term business strategies, accelerate
the development of new markets and strategic customers. Besides, we
have also paid efforts to improve our research and development (“R&D")
capabilities and broaden our product mix, in order to elevate our overall
competitiveness and maintain sustainable growth.

It is worth mentioning that, the acquisition of Linkz Cables Limited and its
subsidiaries (the “Target Group”) was completed on 30 June 2020. The
successful acquisition of the Target Group is believed to enable the Group to
expand its income base and capture the evolving opportunities brought by
the rapid development of 5G technology. In addition, the Group is actively
promoting the upgrade of intelligent manufacturing, and contributing to
the 5G+ Smart City construction in the PRC. While devoting to develop
our business, we also pay great attention to environmental protection. In
FY2021, we have achieved recognition on our environmental control by
gaining accreditation from Underwriters Laboratories Inc. (“UL"), one of
the world’s leading safety science companies.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (conT'D)
FEHE @)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group reported solid operating results and performance amid the
challenging macro-economy environment. During the Review Year, the
Group recorded revenue amounting to HK$3,008.0 million, representing
an increase of HK$227.8 million or 8.2% as compared with HK$2,780.2
million (restated) for the year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Previous
Year” or "FY2020"). The increase was mainly driven by the significant
sales growth of the data centre, the medical equipment and the industrial
equipment sector. The Group recorded a 16.1% increase in gross profit to
HK$580.2 million in FY2021 as compared to HK$499.6 million (restated)
recorded in FY2020. The gross profit margin increased from approximately
18.0% (restated) for FY2020 to approximately 19.3% for FY2021. Such
increase was mainly due to the increase in revenue from the new 5G
products of the telecommunication sector, and the increase in revenue
from the data centre sector and the medical equipment sector, which
generated a higher profit margin for the Group during FY2021.

During the Review Year, the operating profit was HK$320.6 million,
representing an increase of HK$42.4 million or 15.2%, as compared
with HK$278.2 million (restated) for the previous financial year, with
the operating profit margin improved 0.7% to 10.7% for FY2021. The
increase of operating profit was mainly attributable to the improvement of
profit margin of new 5G products in the telecommunication sector and the
increase in revenue from the data centre sector, the medical equipment
sector and the industrial equipment sector.

After considering the Group’s short term financial needs and its cash
on hand, the Board has proposed to recommend to Shareholders the
payment of a final dividend of HK1.5 cents (2020: HK1.5 cents) per share,
amounting to a total of approximately HK$27.6 million.

OUTLOOK

With years of development, China has initially built the world’s largest 5G
mobile network nowadays. In light of the rapid development of the 5G
cellular network technology, we believe that 5G devices and equipment will
be gradually replaced in large scale in the coming years, further driving the
demand of cable assembly products, and leading the sustainable growth
in cable assembly industry. In addition, we expect the sales order from
customer A (“Customer A", one of the Group’s major customers) will
continue to increase, driving by government’s great efforts to accelerate
the research and development of 5G technology. Moreover, the application
and demand of network communication was also increased directly due to
the new norm of economic activities under the COVID-19 pandemic. We
are confident that, all the factors mentioned above will help to promote
the growth of the Group’s telecommunication sector.

For the data centre sector, since the additional tariffs issue had been
resolved, the fibre cable assembly products will not be subjected to any
additional tariffs when importing into the United States anymore. The
shipments of the data centre sector were back to the normal level prior
to the Sino-U.S. trade war. Besides, the growing cloud technology is also
expected to drive the development of data centre. Thus, we remain very
positive on the continuous growth of the business of data centre sector.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (conT'D)
EFEHE

For the medical equipment sector, although vaccines for COVID-19 have
been launched, the COVID-19 pandemic is not completely over with the
appearance of mutated virus. We predict that the demand for medical
cables will last for a while and it will continue to bring positive impact
to the Group's financial performance in this year. In view of the arising
demand from the medical equipment market, the Group will continue to
enhance its medical equipment customers base, as well as to strengthen
its R&D capabilities.

As aforementioned, the cable assembly industry is expected a notable
growth in the coming years. To meet the market demand, the Group
is committed to enhancing its production capacity by acquiring a parcel
of industrial land with two industrial buildings for its production. The
management is optimistic towards the Group’s enlarged production
capacity and well-established business fundamentals would enable it
to capture the market opportunities upon the arrival of this generation
5G network. Moving ahead, the management remain confident in the
Group's long-term business growth in spite of the challenges in the macro-
economy environment.

APPRECIATION

Looking ahead to 2021, the Group will continue to adhere to its professional
practices and efficient operations to grow its existing businesses through
continuous integration of enterprise resources and product innovation.
Meanwhile, we will seize more profitable investment opportunities, to
generate possible additional revenue and business diversification. We aim
to consolidate and expand the Group's competitive advantages, creating
long-term and high-value returns for Shareholders.

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt thanks

to the Board, the management team, business partners and all staff for
their contributions.

Lo Chung Wai Paul
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRE A

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

During FY2021, the COVID-19 pandemic had a more negative impact on
economic activities than anticipated. Greater scarring from the larger-than-
anticipated hit to economic activities have shown during the lockdown
and persistent social distancing, and a negative impact has been made
on productivity as surviving businesses have to spend efforts to enhance
workplace safety and hygiene standards. For economies still struggling
to control infection rates, the need for continued lockdown and social
distancing will take an additional toll on economic activities. Meanwhile,
since Joe Biden has been elected the new president of the United States
in November last year, he has been busy coping with the epidemic and
recovering the economy of its own country. Hence, the Sino-U.S. trade war
seems to have eased, which has given the economy a chance to breath.
Now, with the introduction of vaccines, countries around the world
are vigorously urging people to get vaccinated and actively introducing
economic recovery measures. The market is looking forward to economic
recovery.

In order to cope with the changes and uncertainties of the external
environment and ensure continued growth of the Group’s business,
the Task Force has been set up under the executive office of TIME
Interconnect Technology Group on 1 September 2020. The Task Force
is led by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer and its main responsibilities
are to formulate long-term business strategies for the Group, accelerate
the development of new markets and strategic customers for both cable
assembly and networking cables business. It is expected that the Task
Force can make use of the Group’s business advantages and resources of
different business units to create positive synergy. In addition, the Group
has engaged doctoral consultants to enhance its internal technology and
product development capabilities. The Group continued to pay great
efforts in solidifying its customer base by developing relationships with
leading international customers and further enhancing the business
relationships with existing customers. During FY2021, the Group has
successfully captured new customers and carried out the fundamental
works for cooperation. In the meantime, the Group has pushed forward to
improve its research and development capabilities and improve its product
mix, so as to elevate the Group's overall competitiveness and seize the
huge opportunities generating from the arrival of this generation 5G
networking technology.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (contD)

EEBESRE ST (®)

The acquisition of the Target Group, a long-established networking
cables manufacturer with its manufacturing facilities located in the PRC,
was completed on 30 June 2020. The Target Group has over 27 years of
business operation and currently owns three sizable industrial complexes
situated in Shanghai and Kunshan City, Jiangsu Province, PRC. It is certified
as the first market share ranking of the PRC networking cables market by
the China Electronic Components Association. It has technical know-how
in the next-generation networking cables, such as Cat 8 cables, PoE, hybrid
cables and compatibility with the HDBaseT standard. The Target Group
has distinct customer base as compared with the Group and its major
customers are reputable multinational corporations that have presence in
the PRC. With the successful acquisition, the Group's revenue base has
been significantly enlarged and its risk of customer concentration has
been mitigated by merging with the diverse customer base of the Target
Group. The Company believes that the acquisition of the Target Group can
better position the Group and the Target Group to capture the evolving
opportunities brought by the rapid development of 5G technology, and
strategically improves the Group’s defence position amid the global
economic uncertainties. The expanded business scale after the completion
of the acquisition provides the Group a broader and more diversified
revenue stream and enhances its profit source.

In addition, the Target Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary Linkz Industries
(Suzhou) Limited (“Linkz Ind (Suzhou)”) has achieved 1SO14064
accreditation on environmental control in July 2020, being the first wire
and cable company in Asia to receive the Greenhouse Gas verification
from UL, one of the world’s leading safety science companies. With
the increasing problems on global environment, the society has higher
requirements for environmental protection. In particular, the Chinese
government has issued a number of environmental protection policies
in recent years, vigorously promoting enterprises to reduce damage on
environment during production. As a well-established supplier of custom
cable assemblies, the Group has always attached great importance to the
protection of natural resources and the environment, and has actively
implemented a series of environmental protection measures to achieve
sustainable development, including low energy consumption, recycling,
solar energy, electricity reduction and etc. This time, Linkz Ind (Suzhou)
has commissioned UL to verify the greenhouse gas declaration of Linkz
Ind (Suzhou) according to 1ISO14064-3:2019 greenhouse gas specification,
and confirmed that the greenhouse gas emission of Linkz Ind (Suzhou) met
the required standard. This fully reflects Linkz Ind (Suzhou)'s unremitting
efforts in strengthening environmental protection.

On 16 March 2021, Ms. Li Hui, secretary of Kunshan Huagiao Government,
Suzhou, Jiangsu Province, PRC (She is also the member of the Standing
Committee of the CPC Kunshan Municipal Committee, Deputy Secretary
of the Party Working Committee and Director of the Administrative
Committee of Huagiao Economic Development Zone), visited Linkz Ind
(Suzhou). As a globally recognised supplier of high-quality wire and cable,
the Target Group has experiences in cable industry for many years and is
one of the largest specialised manufacturers in Asia that produces and
exports digital communication cables. Over the years, the Target Group
promotes the transformation and upgrade of intelligent manufacturing
and contributes to the 5G+ Smart City construction in the PRC. With
the support of Huagiao Economic Development Promotion Bureau, the
Target Group is committed to the construction of 5G+ smart factories,
and strives to become the region’s benchmark enterprise with “green
manufacturing” and digital production. This visit was exclusively reported
by Suzhou Kunshan City TV.
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Looking back on last year, due to the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group's
production capacity had dropped temporarily as the PRC government
announced the temporary lockdown in various provinces since January
2020 to avoid the spreading of the COVID-19 pandemic. Following the
end of the extended Chinese New Year holiday on 10 February 2020,
the Group’s production facilities begun resuming in phases. The Group
experienced a slower-than-usual return to normal conditions, as many
workers around the country had delayed returning to work, which led
to a loss of 60% of production capacities of February 2020. The Group's
production facilities had resumed full operations since mid-March 2020.
Fortunately, the demand from customers remained relatively stable and
there was no significant decrease or cancellation of sales orders from
customers. The Group had proactively liaised with its customers to adjust
the delivery schedule in order to minimise the impact, and the delayed
delivery schedule for those sales orders resumed normal in April 2020. As
compared to the Chinese New Year holiday in February 2021, in response
to the call of the PRC government, the Group recommended its workers to
stay in the factory. Except the four days of statutory holidays, the Group's
workers have worked as usual in the rest of holidays, making this year’s
output and shipment volume higher than those of last year.

In spite of the challenges in the macro-economy environment, the Group
still reported solid operating results. During FY2021, the Group recorded
revenue amounting to HK$3,008.0 million, representing an increase
of HK$227.8 million or 8.2% as compared with HK$2,780.2 million
(restated) for FY2020. Operating profit of FY2021 was HK$320.6 million,
representing an increase of HK$42.4 million or 15.2%, as compared
with HK$278.2 million (restated) for the previous financial year, with
the operating profit margin improved 0.7% to 10.7% for FY2021. The
increase of operating profit was mainly attributable to the improvement of
profit margin of new 5G products in the telecommunication sector and the
increase in revenue from the data centre sector, the medical equipment
sector and the industrial equipment sector. Net profit of FY2021 was
HK$226.6 million, representing an increase of HK$72.1 million or 46.7%,
as compared with HK$154.5 million (restated) for the previous financial
year, with the net profit margin improved 1.9% from 5.6% (restated) to
7.5% for FY2021. As compared to the net profit amounting to HK$128.1
million for the year ended 31 March 2020 as disclosed in the 2020 annual
report of the Company, the net profit of FY2021 reported a significant
increase of HK$98.5 million or 76.9%.

EEBE R4 AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

EEEF > HR2019PRFSHIERE - B
BB FE-AERHEBFEMRZE LR
W o LIRS LE2019BIRABRZIBEL - A&
BWERERB N E - RENMFRIERE
“EFECRFTATHE R ARENEER
MR REERET - HR2ESHAIFFE TA
EEE T » AEEWREIEBIRERREZ L
T DB _SF " REKR60%NER ° &
SENEEREE _FT_FF= HEPF%&‘*E%
HREEE - AFEREFPFREFHARE  &F

ifjtﬂﬁjtfbaa/m’)\ﬁﬁi/ﬁﬁé AE o AEEREM
HHERFEGE  AEINERKRLUBDEE

HFHE Jﬁ%k%xﬁﬁﬁﬁaﬁ_¢_§
FORAMELES - WS —F_REN
FRIAE - HRERPREBUTHRS - A5%KE
BEATABERE - BRIUREERAN - &
SENTAEBHERBEYRELE 81X
FHEHEMHEERRNESF -

EEEHAERBERBENKE  KEBHRSE

BEOKESES R_F_—VWRFE &%
B E0ONEA3,0080BBBT  ®R_FZ
B RERER2,780.2BE BT (KEF) 18
227.8BEBEEITHS2% - —F - —HHEEMN
BN A3206 BB RE—VBEE
RU278 2B BB IT (KREF) EN42. A5 EEIT
H15.2% @ M_F_—HIHFEENLKLREER
HE0T%E10.7% ° KLERZFIE NI EER
RN B2 EHSCE MW FIBE RS EREIES
GAES ~ BEERR D B8 N T 2R B D S AW a
Bl _F T - EREEMNFANER22668
AT RE—IREEMI54.58 88T (K
B EMN72 1B EBITHA6.T7% M_F
— U REENERNBEERS6% (KEF) k=
1.9%ZE7.5% - HHEAAT _F _FEMER
FiNERE _S_SF=-A=+—HLEFEN
SEAE1281EE ST _E_—HHEEN
SEAE A AR N8 SE B ITE76.9% ©



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (contD)

S ERELSRIRE b

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Financial Overview
For the year ended 31 March

BE=A=1T—HLEE

Revenue Yazs
Gross profit EF
Gross profit margin EFIR

Other income and other gains and
losses

Total operating expenses

Total operating expenses as a
percentage of revenue

HA A R E fbias kg1

RER R
RERRRIEBEE It

Operating profit R

Operating profit margin RERE=x

Loss on revaluation of building BFEGEE

Extreme transaction expenses RHRZFEL

Finance costs RMERA

Profit before taxation BRI BT

Taxation wiE

Effective tax rate BRI

Profit for the year FRET

Net profit margin FERNEZE

Profit for the year (excluding FERRF (F0ERRE SR )
Extreme transaction expenses)

Net profit margin FEANEZE

Revenue

The Group’s revenue in FY2021 increased by HK$227.8 million to
HK$3,008.0 million from $2,780.2 million (restated) in the previous
financial year, which represented an increase of 8.2% as compared to
previous financial year. The increase in revenue was mainly driven by
the substantially increased sales in data centre, medical equipment and
industrial equipment sector.

For the year ended 31 March ~ BHZ=A=1+—HILFE 2021
HK$'million %
Market Sector HiHAED BEAT %
Cable assembly EinAs
Data centre B 811.6 27.0%
Telecommunication EE 568.1 18.9%
Medical equipment BEHRE 181.7 6.0%
Industrial equipment TR 94.1 3.1%
1,655.5 55.0%
Networking cables BiEER
Cat 5/5e cables Cat 5/5e B4 226.3 7.5%
Cat 6/6A cables Cat 6/6AER 1,001.2 33.3%
Cat 7/7A cables Cat 7/7TAZESR 44.7 1.5%
Others Hit 80.3 2.7%
1,352.5 45.0%
Total yazt 3,008.0 100.0%

KEEE
A5 [cl g
2021 2020 Change &%)
(restated)
(#&E7)
HK$'million HK$ 'million HK$ million
BEET AEBITT AEBTT
3,008.0 2,780.2 227.8
580.2 499.6 80.6
19.3% 18.0%
3.0 20.8 (17.8)
(262.6) (242.2) 20.4
8.7% 8.7%
320.6 278.2 42.4
10.7% 10.0%
(5.8) - (5.8)
(4.2) (19.1) 14.9
(42.5) (70.2) 27.7
268.1 188.9 79.2
(41.5) (34.4) (7.1)
15.5% 18.2%
226.6 154.5 72.1
7.5% 5.6%
230.8 173.6 57.2
7.7% 6.2%

W&

AERR S - —FHREENWZEHE E—8K
FE2,780. 28 EBIT (KEF) N227.85 58
BITE3008.0A 8B B E—FBEEE
H08.2% - WM EBRREEDL B
B S L 2ER 0 BBV SE E IR INFT R -

2020 Change 28}
(restated) (£Z&51)
HK$'million %  HK$'million %
BEBT % BEBT %
698.8 25.1% 112.8 16.1%
565.8 20.4% 2.3 0.4%
126.3 4.5% 55.4 43.9%
47.8 1.7% 46.3 96.9%
1,438.7 51.7% 216.8 15.1%
221.0 7.9% 53 2.4%
934.6 33.6% 66.6 7.1%
100.1 3.6% (55.4) -55.3%
85.8 3.1% (5.5) -6.4%
1,341.5 48.3% 1.0 0.8%
2,780.2 100.0% 2278 8.2%
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Data centre sector: The Group had resolved the additional tariffs issue
by procuring the “Country of origin and Marking Ruling” from the U.S.
Customs and Border Protection for data centre sector’s products last year.
The shipments of the data centre sector resumed to the normal level
prior to the Sino-U.S. trade war since May 2019. The revenue of data
centre sector has significantly increased by HK$112.8 million or 16.1% to
HK$811.6 million for FY2021 as compared to HK$698.8 million for the
previous financial year, the orders of this sector still maintained at a high
shipment level during the year, and it is remaining the highest revenue
sector in the cable assembly business.

Telecommunication sector: It recorded a slight increase of revenue from
HK$565.8 million in the previous financial year to HK$568.1 million for
FY2021, representing an increase of HK$2.3 million or 0.4%. Although
the revenue increase was not much, orders of new 5G products have
increased gradually and the profit margin has improved as these new 5G
products carry a better margin.

Medical equipment sector: The outbreak of COVID-19 has stimulated
an increase in medical equipment cables orders. In the early stage of the
epidemic, the order level has increased by two to three times than normal
from some of the customers. The revenue of medical equipment sector
for FY2021 was HK$181.7 million, representing a substantial increase
of HK$55.4 million or 43.9% as compared to HK$126.3 million for the
previous financial year.

Industrial equipment sector: In order to minimise the risks and
uncertainties in the unstable economic environment, the Group has striven
to grasp different business opportunities. For example, in March 2020, the
Group successfully gained trial orders from a new prestigious customer,
which has become one of the Group’s major revenue contributors in
this sector. The revenue generated from the industrial equipment sector
substantially increased by HK$46.3 million or 96.9% from HK$47.8 million
(restated) for the previous financial year to HK$94.1 million for FY2021.

Networking cables: As the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has been
lasting for a longer time than originally expected, the revenue of networking
cables sector for FY2021 was HK$1,352.5 million, representing only a
slight increase of HK$11.0 million or 0.8% as compared with HK$1,341.5
million (restated) for the previous financial year. The COVID-19 pandemic
seriously affected the global economic activities as the major oversea
markets being lockdown, and many companies have to adopt work from
home policies or no-pay leave arrangements. The flow of people and
logistics have been restricted. As a result, some new projects were on
hold and customer demand was reduced. Fortunately, PRC is one of the
fastest market to reopen, where the recovery from the sharp contraction in
the first quarter is underway. The demand from PRC customers remained
relatively stable and there was no significant decrease or cancellation
of sales orders from customers. On the other hand, after acquisition of
the Target Group, the Group increased its cable assembly product mix
by increasing the intragroup purchase from the Target Group and speed
up the development of certain new products, such as high-speed cables
and hybrid cables, for cable assembly customers. The Group believes that
this strategy will be effective given that individual customer of either the
Group or the Target Group should require both groups’ products, which
will absolutely benefit to both groups’ business.
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Segment Information
Segmental information is presented for the Group as disclosed on Note 5
to the consolidated financial statements.

Gross Profit/Margin

Gross profit for FY2021 was HK$580.2 million, representing an increase of
HK$80.6 million or 16.1% as compared with HK$499.6 million (restated)
for the previous financial year. Gross profit margin increased from 18.0%
(restated) to 19.3%. Although the direct labour costs increased due to the
labour shortage and the depreciation increased due to the amortisation of
fair value gain of the PRC properties, the Group’s gross profit margin has
made improvement mainly due to the increase in revenue from the sale
of new 5G products of the telecommunication sector, and the increase in
revenue from the data centre sector and the medical equipment sector,
which carrying a higher profit margin.

Operating Profit/Margin

Operating profit (excluding the loss on revaluation of building, extreme
transaction expenses and finance costs) for FY2021 was HK$320.6 million,
representing an increase of HK$42.4 million or 15.2% as compared
with HK$278.2 million (restated) recorded in the previous financial year.
Operating profit margin was 10.7% for FY2021 compared to 10.0%
(restated) in the previous financial year. The ratio of EBITDA (excluding the
extreme transaction expenses) to revenue increased to 12.9% from 12.4%
(restated) for the previous financial year.

Other income, which comprise of primarily bank interest income,
government grants, handling income was in aggregate HK$14.0 million
for FY2021, representing a decrease of 7.3% as compared with HK$15.1
million (restated) for the previous financial year. Such decrease was mainly
attributable to the decrease of government grants of HK$0.5 million and
a decrease of bank interest income HK$0.5 million.

Other gains and losses were recorded a loss of HK$11.0 million for FY2021
compared to a gain of HK$5.7 million (restated) for the previous financial
year. Such loss was mainly due to the exchange loss from RMB appreciation
of HK$9.2 million, which was attributable to the Group’s operations in the
ordinary course of business, as compared to an exchange gain of HK$5.6
million (restated) in the previous financial year.

The total operating expenses for FY2021 were HK$262.6 million, an
increase of HK$20.4 million or 8.4% compared to HK$242.2 million
(restated) recorded in the previous financial year. Total operating expenses
as a percentage of Group's revenue remained stable at 8.7%, same as
previous financial year.

Distribution and selling expenses increased from HK$50.2 million (restated)
to HK$51.7 million during FY2021, representing an increase of HK$1.5
million or 3.0% as compared with the previous financial year. It was mainly
attributable to the increase of staff cost HK$2.3 million, and a decrease of
travel and entertainment HK$0.9 million due to the lockdown and social
distancing. As a percentage of Group’s revenue, distribution and selling
expenses slightly decreased from 1.8% (restated) to 1.7% as compared to
the previous financial year.
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Administrative expenses decreased from HK$123.6 million (restated) to
HK$122.6 million over the previous financial year. The decline was mainly
due to the drop of share option expenses of HK$ 1.2 million. Administrative
expenses as a percentage of revenue decreased from 4.4% (restated) to
4.1%.

During FY2021, the research and development expenses were HK$88.4
million, which represented an increase of HK$20.0 million or 29.2% as
compared with the previous financial year. It was mainly attributable to the
increase of staff cost of HK$11.7 million, materials cost of HK$6.0 million
and depreciation of HK$1.4 million. Research and development expenses
as a percentage of Group’s revenue increased from 2.5% (restated) to
2.9%. The Company continuously put great efforts to enhance its R&D
capabilities by expanding the R&D team, so as to launch more new
products and technologies.

Extreme Transaction Expenses

As at 30 June 2020, the Company completed the acquisition of the
business of manufacturing and sales of networking cables engaged by the
Target Group, at a final consideration of HK$781.0 million. The expenses
incurred in connection with this acquisition was approximately HK$4.2
million for FY2021.

Finance Costs

For FY2021, the finance costs were recorded at HK$42.5 million against
HK$70.2 million (restated) for the previous financial year. The finance costs
included (i) bank loan interest of HK$27.8 million for short-term bank
borrowings mostly for networking cables business; (ii) interest expenses
of HK$12.0 million for the Company’s club loan financing its acquisition
of the networking cables business; and (iii) interest expenses of HK$2.7
million on the lease liabilities under adoption of HKFRS 16 “Leases”
effective from 1 April 2019.

Total Profit for the year and Earnings per Share

Total profit for the year of the Group for FY2021 was HK$226.6 million,
representing an increase of HK$72.1 million or 46.7% as compared with
HK$154.5 million (restated) for the previous financial year. By excluding
the extreme transaction expenses, total profit was HK$230.8 million and
net profit margin was recorded at 7.7 % as compared with 6.2% (restated)
for the previous financial year. As compared with HK$128.1 million for the
net profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 as disclosed in
the 2020 annual report, it represented a significant increase of HK$98.5
million or 76.9%.

Taxation represents the tax expenses arising from the assessable profit
generated by the Group in Hong Kong and the PRC. Taxation was
provided at the respective tax rate of 16.5% and 25% based on the
profit from operating activities. The major manufacturing subsidiaries,
TIME Interconnect Technology (Huizhou) Limited (“Huizhou TIME") and
Linkz Ind (Suzhou), were awarded the Advanced-Technology Enterprise
Certificate and are eligible for tax concessionary rate of 15%. Taxation
charges increased from HK$34.4 million (restated) in the previous financial
year to HK$41.5 million in FY2021. The effective tax rate decreased from
18.2% (restated) to 15.5%.

Basic earnings per share for FY2021 was HK12.3 cents as compared to the

basic earnings per share of HK8.4 cents (restated) in the previous financial
year.

EEBE R4 AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

TBEXHE—BFEEMN123.688ETT (K
B5))BAE122.6BEBIT o REHEER
REERREFR SR 2B EBITATE - 175
FAEWR B DL R4 4%ERES B EA1% ©

RIB_—FBEE » HEFEXA8LIESE
BT RE—TREEE 2005 E BT
292% - FBEANETLRAENI.7TEES
IT MR A N6 0/ B T AT ER 1.4
BEET - MERAIGAEEREE DR
2.5% (REF)EINE2.9% - FIBERFRE
BX » KABMEER D INREM AL - 51T
H B 3T R Sl o

mim 2 B %

RIFB"FBEXAZ=1H » AARTHRYER
BREENRENRENHEPRBERE » &K
RERTBIOEERET - MR _F_—MHF
E > B RRBEENRES R4 2B EBTT °

B R A
NI —WHEE @ MERANA4L25EHEB
Tt ME—FREERA70.2HE BT (K&
Hl)) o BB R ABREG )I%JEHEA BEREREN
EHRITERRTERR E27.8EEBIT ;
(AN B B BT ﬂ%”‘“ﬁ%%%ﬁ%@ﬁﬁ’ﬂﬂ
AEFMAEMZ12.0888T KiilBEZE
—ﬂfﬁmﬁ HERMNE B BREERZE16
HHE BRREEEENAERIZ27TEER

jTE o

Elﬂq,ﬁﬂwgﬁ&ﬁcﬂﬁ“ﬁﬂ

226.65%/%75 ﬁxt—ﬂﬂﬁzfﬁf 5'3154.55%
BT (REY)) N2 1 EH BB ITK46.7% ©
HBBis R BRI %E o HAEEEA230.8858
BT EEABEEATI% M L—HBEEL
56.2% (KREF)) WL —F - ZFEFRATIHE
BE_ R FEF=A=-+—HIEFENEKEE
HFRN128 1 EHEE T ARG NS SHE BT
76.9% ©

HIBIEEAEBNE B MPENEZRR ST E
ARIERY - RIBRBEKEESMEEHND
BIR16.5% K25 % IR RAEH i - FERE
EARESERE (EMN) ERAT ("TEIME
%%‘J ) REER T 2 (BR)N) BRI EEE
C RFEBERZEEI15%NEEREK - HIBERAZ
EE —BREE34.48EETT (KET)) EM
ETFE T -BHREENLAI SAEHET o BEFR
KH18.2%(KEF) THEE15.5% o

NTEB_WBEE > BREAENR12.3%
il mE—HRFEERERRFIRR8.4%
il (K& =E31) -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (contD)

ERE MR S (e
Dividends 145\
The Directors recommend to the Shareholders the payment of a final ZESEZMREIRS _§:—Eﬁﬁﬁ¢fﬁﬁiﬁiﬁ
dividend in respect of FY2021 of HK1.5 cents (2020: HK1.5 cents) per X EEFKR1.5B(ZEF T4 1 1.58(l) 42
share, amounting to a total of approximately HK$27.6 million. B E27 6B &BTT ©
2021 2020

HK cents HK cents
Dividend per share BEEE Al Il
Interim FRER 1.5 1.0
Final* REF* 1.5 1.5
Total #a5 3.0 2.5

*  Final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the cable assembly industry is expected to sustain growth
in the coming years. To meet the market demand, the Group is striving
to enhance its production capacity by acquiring a parcel of industrial
land with two industrial buildings for its production. The management
remains confident that the Group's enlarged production capacity and well-
established business fundamentals would enable it to capture the market
opportunities upon the arrival of this generation 5G network. In the
meantime, with the successful acquisition of networking cables business
(engaged by Linkz Cables Limited and its subsidiaries), the Group’s revenue
base has been significantly enlarged and its risk of customer concentration
has been mitigated by merging with the diverse customer base of the
Target Group. Moreover, the Company believes that the acquisition of
the Target Group can better position the Group and the Target Group to
capture the evolving opportunities brought by the rapid development of
5G technology, and strategically improves the Group’s defence position
amid the global economic uncertainties. The expanded business scale after
the completion of the acquisition provides the Group a broader and more
diversified revenue stream and enhances its profit source.

In April 2021, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of
the PRC stated that the country has initially built the world’s largest 5G
mobile network. With the rapid development of the 5G cellular network
technology in the PRC and the 5G network deployment announced by
various mobile operators in the second half of 2019, the Group noted
that there will be gradual and large scale replacement of 5G devices and
equipment in the coming years, which is expected to drive the demand of
cable assembly products. The PRC has continuously made great efforts to
accelerate the research and development of 5G technology, it is expected
the sales order from Customer A will continue to increase and benefit
the telecommunication sector. In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic has
changed many economic activities. For example, companies are forced
to work from home and increase online meetings during the lockdown
period and persistent social distancing, which will directly increase the
application and demand of network communication.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (contD)
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Huawei recently predicted that, the utilisation rate of cloud technology
in the companies around the world will reach 85% by 2025. In cloud
computing, the computing storage network must be placed in the data
centre, therefore, the growing cloud technology is expected to drive
the development of data centre. At the same time, as the development
of 5G will boost the application of big data, loT, internet gaming and
video streaming through cloud platform. So for data centre sector, as
the additional tariffs issue had been resolved, the fibre cable assembly
products will not be subjected to any additional tariffs when importing
into the United States anymore. The shipments of the data centre sector
were back to the normal level prior to the Sino-U.S. trade war. The Group
remains very positive on the continuous growth of the business of data
centre sector.

Although the COVID-19 vaccines have been available, and countries
vigorously urged people to get vaccinated, the epidemic is still severe
or has rebounded due to the mutation of the virus, and the number of
confirmed cases and deaths is still on the rise in the near future. As for
the medical equipment sector, the Group expects the demand for medical
cables will last for a while and it will continue to bring positive impact
to the Group’s medical cables orders in this year. Moving ahead, the
Group believes that this sector will maintain its dynamic pace of growth,
considering the arising demand from the medical equipment market. To
catch up with the trend, the Group will continue to enhance its medical
equipment customers base, as well as to strengthen its R&D capabilities.

On the other hand, with the introduction of vaccines, and the economic
recovery measures successively launched by the countries, it is expected
that the market will rebound significantly. The Group noticed that the
orders in industrial equipment sector has been increased in recent months.
For the industrial equipment sector, the Group has striven to grasp different
business opportunities in order to minimise the risks and uncertainties
involved in the unstable economies. Moving ahead, the Group expects
the demand for sales order in this sector will increase gradually for the
coming year.

In addition to the cable assembly and networking cables business units,
the Group set up a new business unit - Robotics Business Unit. Whilst
it is challenging, robotics business is a new endeavour of the Group. In
order to better develop this new business, the Group has set up a new
wholly-owned subsidiary “TIME Robotics Technology (Shanghai) Limited”
("Shanghai TIME") in Shanghai. It carries a flexible manufacturing setup,
provides digitised supply chain management and high-level product
traceability. The Group is also building a new team for robotic product
assembly and developing related manufacturing capabilities in vertical
integration. Even this new business is still in a developing stage, but the
Group believes that this new business can create many possibilities and
lead the Group to another new stage.

EEBE R4 AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (contD)
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The COVID-19 pandemic is impacting the business operations of various
enterprises in different manner and disrupting the way we live, work
and learn. As a reputable customised interconnect solutions supplier, the
Group remain committed to fighting against COVID-19 and protecting
and supporting its people, as well as its valued customers, partners and
communities. Over the past several months, the Group have mobilized
across the Hong Kong office and China factories to respond to the COVID-19
pandemic, by focusing on the safety of its staff, manufacturing continuity
and providing solutions to support the customers’ response. Its factories
are in full operation to receive the incoming deliveries from suppliers and
making outgoing shipments to customers. The Group is closely monitoring
the potential adverse impact on supply chain continuity to support its
global customers who depend on its products. Moving ahead, the Group
will continue to stay alert to the changes in economic environment and
take prompt and decisive actions to maintain the Group’s competitiveness
and sustainability. Meanwhile, the Group will keep enhancing its business
operations, so that it is fully capable to capitalise on an eventual market
turnaround.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Shareholders’ funds as at 31 March 2021 were approximately HK$852.5
million, which represented a decrease of HK$305.5 million or 26.4%
from HK$1,158.0 million (restated) as at 31 March 2020. The decrease
was mainly due to the acquisition of networking cables business during
FY2021. To conform with applicable accounting standards in relation to
the acquisition of Target Group, the comparative consolidated financial
information of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 has been
restated as if the acquisition had been completed at the beginning of the
comparative period. Such decrease was partly offset by (i) the revaluation
surplus of PRC properties HK$242.1 million under adoption of revaluation
model HKAS 16 effective from 1 July 2020; (ii) the profit attributable to
owners of the Company for FY2021 of HK$226.4 million; and (iii) the
appreciation of RMB at the reporting date, an increase of HK$93.7
million in the translation reserve from converting RMB into Hong Kong
dollars as recorded in the financial statements of the PRC subsidiary. As a
result, shareholders’ funds per share decreased by 27.0% from HK$0.63
(restated) to HK$0.46.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had bank balances and cash of HK$156.6
million, representing a decrease of 57.3% as compared to HK$366.9
million (restated) as of 31 March 2020. Such decrease was mainly due to
the balance payment of the acquisition of networking cables business of
HK$151.0 million and distribution of the Company’s final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2020 of HK$27.6 million and the interim dividend
for the six months ended 30 September 2020 of HK$27.6 million during
FY2021. As at 31 March 2021, the Group's bank loan was HK$1,012.2
million, representing a decrease of HK$167.1 million or 14.2% from
HK$1,179.3 million (restated) as at 31 March 2020. The Group believes it
has sufficient committed and unutilised banking facilities as at 31 March
2021 to meet its current business operation and capital expenditure
requirements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (contD)
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Analysis of Cash Flow from Operations

For the year ended 31 March

BE=RA=1T—HLEE

Operating profit T

Extreme transaction expenses MK B

Loss on revaluation of property, plant ~ #J2£ ~ R MR HEEGER
and equipment

Depreciation and amortisation rEE R #iss

EBITDA EBITDA

Interest income BN

Gain on change in fair value of financial ©BI&EEN T EEBIU S
assets

Loss on disposal of tangible assets HEREECEIE

Write off of inventories BE#ME

Share based payments PURAR e BT AT R

Loss on revaluation of property, plant ~ #3 - = M HEEGER
and equipment

Working capital change BEESEE

Cash generated from operations REEANRE

The Group's cash generated from operations for FY2021 was HK$189.8
million, a decrease of 68.5% as compared to HK$601.9 million in the

previous financial year. The decrease was mainly attributable to the change
of working capital as compared with the previous financial year.

RERBIRERENM

2021 2020 Change #&)p
(restated)
(#&&=E=71)
HKS$’million HK$ 'million HK$ 'million
BEAET BEETT BEAETT
320.6 278.2 42.4
(4.2) (19.1) 14.9
(5.8) - (5.8)
AR 65.7 6.2
382.5 324.8 57.7
(0.6) (1.1) 0.5
(0.3) 0.2) 0.1)
2.0 - 2.0
4.7 2.3 2.4
5.0 6.3 (1.3)
5.8 - 5.8
(209.3) 269.8 (479.1)
189.8 601.9 (412.1)

AEFREEENRSN _S_—UREES
189.8@EETT ' B LE—BUEERG01.98 8
BITEA68.5% - BREBATERRNEES
S F—BREEAR LAY -

Working Capital Change EEZEEH
As at 31 March R=B=1+—H 2020 Change 28} 2021
(restated)
(&)
HK$ 'million HK$ 'million BaLEH 1T
ABEBIT BEETT BEEET
Stocks x| 401.2 73.7 474.9
Trade debtors FEWRERTE 511.4 241.2 752.6
Other debtors, deposits and HAEWGR ~ B LIENEIR
prepayments 65.1 (9.0) 56.1
Trade creditors FETERIE (494.5) (12.9) (507.4)
Other creditors and accruals E{tﬁﬁgﬁ KN e E (59.1) (5.4) (64.5)
Total working capital EEESHRKE 4241 287.6 711.7
Stock as of 31 March 2021 increased to HK$474.9 million from HK$401.2 M_ZF_—F=A=+—HMWEER47498

million (restated) as of 31 March 2020.

The turnover days was 66 days,

remain unchanged from previous financial year.

EET B S _SEZA=+—HM4012
HEE L (EES) BF R - BEE B A6
A 8 — BB R -

As at 31 March R=A=1+—H 2021 2020

(restated)

(&=&=75)

HK$'million HK$'million

BBET BEBT

Stock s 474.9 401.2
Average stocks as a percentage of cost of FHEEMEEERKAAA L

goods sold 18.0% 18.2%

Turnover days A2 66 66

EEBE R4 AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (contD)
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Trade debtors as of 31 March 2021 increased to HK$752.6 million from
HK$511.4 million (restated) as of 31 March 2020. The higher trade debtor
balance as at 31 March 2021 was mainly due to the increase in revenue in
the last quarter of FY2021 as compared with the previous financial year.
Debtors’ turnover days remain unchanged as 77 days. Last year, due to
the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group’s production capacity had dropped
temporarily as the PRC government announced the temporary lockdown
in various provinces since January 2020 to avoid the spreading of the
COVID-19 pandemic. Following the end of the extended Chinese New
Year holiday on 10 February 2020, the Group’s production facilities begun
resuming in phases. The Group experienced a slower-than-usual return
to normal conditions, as many workers around the country had delayed
returning to work resulting in a loss of 60% of production capacities
of February 2020. The Group’s production facilities had resumed full
operations since mid-March 2020. As compared to this year, in response
to the call of the PRC government, the Group recommended that workers
stay in the factory during the Chinese New Year holiday. Except the 4 days
of statutory holidays, the rest of holidays has worked as usual. Therefore,
this year’s output and shipment volume are higher than last year.

The Group has tight management on credit exposure, and has delegated a
Credit Team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group has reviewed the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debt at the end of each reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced. The overdue balances greater than 90 days
accounted for 0.05% of the gross trade debtors as of 31 March 2021.

R_EBE_—F=ZB=+—HNEWKRIEA
7526EEBITT  R_BE"FEF=HF=+—H
BI511. 4B BT (KEY)) BRTEMN - RZI=
TRt HMERERIEASRIE IR
AR - BREEMRL  —E - —FREE
RE—AZEAIWESIEN - BRFHIEEAE
HFAERETIH - EF > AR2019BRFS
WNER B _FF—AEPHRBGER
SARYEEE - L2098 A REIEE
i NEBNEREERFERTNE - ZEHER
HREE_E_FF_F+H 0 B AEE
R4 E R MERRIA D BEERIRIE - N2 ESHAY
LT AEBET  AERMEIEBARENR
Efu&l'uﬁ_?_gﬁ_ﬁﬁ%W%%
BERE - AEENAERERE _S_SFE=A%
ﬁ%e%@mﬁét HWHARFEREHNER
HEARE - AEEFPEKGNSED  AEERES
TABERE - BRAKETERES - EHRPH
SHREEHYRBEIE - Kt XFENELERE
EEHENAE -

FEEHEERRETERREE  WHREE

EXRaaEERECEE  EEB R - I
REEMEERR - BARERIURERGUE

BRER o IS AEECREHEHR KB
BERRERNAIWEIESE - DERIA K
OB T CRERE - BtmS - EFR
R AEENEEERBERE - N _F_—
FZA=1T—H BFEB0BRERERIE
FEUS ARTE 48 %RAY0.05% ©

As at 31 March R=B=+—H 2021 2020

(restated)

(7e=E=%1)

HK$'million HK$'million

BBET BEBT

Trade debtors and bills receivables FEYERIE R FEWNE B 752.6 511.4
Average trade debtors as a percentage of Y E AR I (L U #h B L

revenue PARD 21.2%

Turnover days A2 77 77

Other debtors, deposits and prepayments as of 31 March 2021 were
HK$56.1 million, decreased from HK$65.1 million (restated) as of 31 March
2020. It was mainly attributable to the decrease of other receivables.

Trade creditors as of 31 March 2021 were HK$507.4 million, as compared
to HK$494.5 million (restated) as of 31 March 2020. Creditors’ turnover
days slightly decreased from 78 days to 75 days.

RIB_—F=A=t—HEMERR - 1%
ERFAMRIBERS6.1TEBTT  BR_Z_FF
=R=1+—HM65.18EBT (%Eﬂ) BFTR
2 TEHREMBBGRIERADATE -

R_BE_—H=ZB= + HHEMIRE R
507.4B&%Br M_F_FF=A=+—H
EU%494.5§%%E(Z«E§U) ENENSIEES
HEH78HEMBAETSH °

As at 31 March MR=R=+—H 2021 2020

(restated)

(&=E31)

HK$'million HK$'million

BEET BEBT

Trade creditors and bills payables FE(TERIE R FEER 507.4 494.5
Average trade creditors as a percentage of cost FHEIRIBI(EEHERBIAT DL

of goods sold 20.6% 21.5%

Turnover days A HZ 75 /8
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (contD)
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Other creditors and accruals as of 31 March 2021 increased to HK$64.5
million from HK$59.1 million (restated) as of 31 March 2020, which was
mainly due to the increase in payable of domestic sales VAT.

Capital Expenditure

For FY2021, the Group invested HK$46.8 million in the purchase of tangible
assets including machinery and equipment, leasehold improvements and
office equipment. All of these capital expenditures were financed from
internal resources and funded by the proceeds from the listing of the
Company.

Charge on Group Assets

Save for the bank deposits that were pledged in order to secure the bills
payables issued by the bank under the general banking facilities granted
to the Group, as at 31 March 2021 and 2020, banking facilities extended
to the Group were not secured with the Group’s assets. Pledged bank
deposits amounted to HK$7.1 million and HK$13.5 million (restated) as at
31 March 2021 and 2020 respectively.

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is calculated as total debt divided by total equity and
multiplied by 100%. As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s gearing ratio was
117.1% as compared to the previous financial year 101.1% (restated).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). There has been
no change in the capital structure of the Group since then. The share
capital of the Group only comprises of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s issued share capital was HK$18.4
million and the number of its issued ordinary shares were 1,840,432,000
of HK$0.01 each.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Most of the Group’s receipts and payments are denominated in US dollars,
Hong Kong dollars, RMB and Euro. The Group’s management monitors
the risk of related foreign exchange exposure by entering into forward
foreign exchange contracts. Foreign currency exchange rates are volatile
and may have an impact on the Group’s results. The Group’s management
evaluates the Group’s foreign currency exposure on a continuing basis and
takes actions to minimise the Group’s exposure whenever necessary.

TREASURY POLICIES

As an internal treasury policy, the Group continues to implement a prudent
policy on financial management policy and does not participate in any high
risk speculative activities. However, the Group’s management monitors
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise. Save for the net proceeds from the listing,
the Group will also monitor and maintain a Hong Kong dollar cash balance
in order to minimise the need for unnecessary foreign exchange conversion
which may result in exchange loss.

EEBE R4 AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (contD)
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The reporting currency of the Group is presented in Hong Kong dollars,
as the Directors consider that it is more relevant to the users of the
consolidated financial statements as the Company listed its shares on the
Stock Exchange.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2021, the capital commitment of the Group is as follows:

AEENZHREBRABIT - DTARESERA
BN GRSV BRENEMERAHE  REA
RANBRAD B PT £ -

BARERBARE

Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition B EIUIEE ETAE AR
TEHBEZYE ~ BEKEEN

of property, plant and equipment contracted
but not provided for in the consolidated
financial statements

BEARRX

As of 31 March 2021, the Group had not provided any form of guarantee
for any company outside the Group and had not been involved in any
material legal proceedings for which provision for contingent liabilities was
required.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
AFFILIATED COMPANIES AND PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Company completed the acquisition of the business of manufacturing
and sales of networking cables engaged by the Target Group on 30 June
2020. As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the
acquisition exceeds 100%, the acquisition constituted a very substantial
acquisition of the Company under the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). In addition, as the
acquisition may have the effect of achieving a listing of the Target Group,
the Listing Committee has resolved that the acquisition was an extreme
transaction under Rule 14.06C of the Listing Rules.

As at the date of completion, Linkz Industries Limited (“Linkz Industries”),
which was ultimately and beneficially owned by Mr. Lo Chung Wai Paul
("Mr. Paul Lo") as to 59.82% of its effective interest, was a Controlling
Shareholder of the Company interested in 63.86% of the Company
through Time Interconnect Holdings Limited. (“Time Holdings"). As such,
Linkz Industries was a connected person of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (contD)
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The acquisition of the Target Group was approved by the independent
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held
on 29 April 2020. Completion of the acquisition of the Target Group
took place on 30 June 2020 (the “Completion Date”) upon which the
initial sum of the Consideration of HK$802.7 million was satisfied by the
Company through (i) the payment of HK$630.0 million financed by club
loan which coordinated with four leading banks in Hong Kong and (ii)
the remaining HK$172.7 million in cash financed by internal resources.
An adjustment cash payment for this acquisition of HK$21.7 million was
refunded on 11 September 2020 with reference to the finalisation of the
Completion NAV from the Post Completion Accounts of the Target Group.
The final consideration for this acquisition is thus HK$781.0 million.

In addition, Time Interconnect Investment Limited, a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a S&P Agreement with GP
Industries Limited ("GP Industries”), being the controlling shareholder
of the Company, on 31 May 2021, for the acquisition of the business of
manufacturing and sales of automotive wire harness business engaged
by the relevant subsidiaries of GP Industries at an initial consideration
of HK$69.0 million (the “Proposed Acquisition”). As the highest of
the applicable percentage ratios is greater than 5% but less than 25%,
the Proposed Acquisition constitutes a discloseable transaction for the
Company and is subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. In addition, as at the date of this
report, Linkz Industries, which in turn holds 63.85% equity interests of the
Company through Time Holdings, is owned as to 38.13% by GP Industries
(which is owned as to 85.47% by Gold Peak Industries (Holdings) Limited
(“Gold Peak"”)). As such, GP Industries is a connected person of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any significant investments
held, material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and associations for
FY2021. There was no other plan for material investments or capital assets
as at 31 March 2021.

MATERIAL EVENT SINCE THE END OF THE FINANCIAL
PERIOD

Apart from the acquisitions as set out in above section, there has been no
other important event affecting the Group since 31 March 2021 and up
to the date of this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (contD)
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Directors believe that there are certain risks and uncertainties involved
in the operations of the Group, some of which are beyond the Group'’s
control. The Directors believe the more significant risks relating to the
business are as follows:

— the Group may experience labour shortage or unrest or may incur high
labour costs;

— the Group is exposed to credit risk of its customers;

— fluctuations in the prices of the Group’s major raw materials or
commodity prices could materially and adversely affect its business,
financial conditions and results of operations;

— if the Group fails to attract or retain its key managerial and technical
personnel, the Group may compromise its ability to maintain strong
relationships with its customers and suppliers, develop new products
and effectively carry on the R&D and other efforts;

— any occurrence of natural disasters, widespread health epidemics or
other events could have a material adverse effect on the business,
financial condition and results of operations of the Group.

A detailed discussion of the risk factors is set forth in the section headed
“Risk Factors” in the Prospectus.

EMPLOYEE

As of 31 March 2021, the total headcount for the Company was
approximately 2,519, compared to 2,748 (restated) in the previous
financial year. Fair and competitive remuneration package and benefits
are offered to employees as well as discretionary bonus and share option.
Various types of trainings were provided to the employees. Total employee
benefit expenses including Directors’ remuneration for FY2021 were
approximately HK$388.9 million, as compared to approximately HK$340.4
million (restated) in the previous financial year. Remuneration is determined
with reference to performance, skills, qualifications and experience of the
staff concerned and in accordance with the prevailing industry practice.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (contD)
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND
OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group has a strong, long-established relationship with its key
customers, which include leading telecommunication equipment and
network solutions provider in the PRC, global internet-related service
provider and multinational medical equipment manufacturer that have
extensive international coverage. The Group has developed multi-products
strategy and also strengthened its scope of services to its global customers.
The Group will continue to diversify its customer base and the Directors
believe that the extent of customer concentration is likely to decrease in
the future.

The Group maintains long-term relationships with suppliers and
subcontractors. The Group has no concentration or a high level of
dependency on a small group of suppliers. The Group carefully selects its
suppliers based on certain assessment criteria, such as overall track record,
scale and expertise, cost, product quality and quality control effectiveness,
reliability, price, delivery punctuality, historical relationship with the
Group, financial condition, reputation and aftersales services. During the
selection process, the Group generally carries regular on-site examination
of its potential suppliers to ensure that they meet its selection criteria. The
Group carries out evaluation of the performance of its existing suppliers
and identifies better third party suppliers from time to time to replace the
suppliers who fail to perform to its satisfaction.

The Group recognises and supports the culture of attracting, motivating
and retaining talents. The Group provides competitive compensation
and benefits for its employees. Remuneration packages are generally
structured by reference to market and individual merits. Salaries are
normally reviewed on an annual basis based on individual performance and
financial performance of the Group. Those employees with outstanding
performance are also awarded discretionary bonuses. The Group promotes
open communications, encourages continuous learning and supports
different kinds of training on leadership development programme.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to creating a sustainable and greener environment
and continues to explore ways to reduce carbon emissions, conserve
energy and reduce wastage. The Group has implemented various
environmental and sustainability initiatives in its factories and offices,
such as using LED lightings in the Huizhou factory; adopting heat recovery
system to recover the residual heat from the air compressor to heat up
water supply in dormitory; encouraging video and phone conference
to minimise carbon footprint created by business-related travel. Being a
responsible social citizen, the Group has been actively involved in charitable
activities in the communities and cities where its factories are operating,
and encourages the employees to participate in in-house or external
community activities. During FY2021, the Group has been participating
in various environmental and social related scheme and awarded a lot
of certificates, such as Certificate of Good Employer Charter; Good MPF
Employer; Happy Company; Industry Cares; 10 Years* Caring Company;
and Social Capital Builder Logo Award. The Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report (collectively the “ESG Report”), which
discusses in detail its initiatives on environmental and social aspects and
their performance, is set out in the ESG section of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company upholds high standards and meets relevant requirements
under applicable laws or ordinances when conducting its business. The

Company did not identify non-compliance or breach of relevant standards,
rules and regulations during the year.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon (“Mr. Cua”), aged 59, joined the Group in
1992 and has been appointed as the chief executive officer (the “Chief
Executive Officer”) and an executive Director of the Company since 10
July 2017. Mr. Cua has gathered extensive experiences in the electronics
and cable industry in the PRC since the 1980s. Mr. Cua was honoured with
the Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong. He is one of the founding
members of the China Overseas Chinese Entrepreneurs Association
("COCEA") and has been a member of COCEA. He has also been elected as
a council member of International Cablemakers Federation. He is currently
a member of Hong Kong-Shanghai Economic Development Association,
the director of Shanghai Chinese Overseas Friendship Association and
the executive committee member of Hong Kong Electronic Industries
Association and Hong Kong Electronics Industry Council. Mr. Cua obtained
a Master of Business Administration degree and was further awarded
honorary Doctorate of Laws (LL.D.) degree from The University of Western
Ontario, Canada.

Mr. Wong Chi Kuen (“Mr. Wong"), aged 56, joined the Group in
2010 and has been appointed as the chief financial officer (the “Chief
Financial Officer”) and an executive Director of the Company since 10
July 2017. Mr. Wong has over 23 years of experience in management
accounting and operation management. He first joined Linkz Industries
(the controlling shareholder of the Company) in 1994 and was transferred
to LTK International Limited, a subsidiary of Belden Inc., a company listed
on the Stock Exchange of New York (stock code: BDC) following the
disposal of Linkz's electronic cables business in 2007. Mr. Wong re-joined
Linkz Industries as financial controller in July 2010. Mr. Wong obtained a
Bachelor of Business Administration degree from The Open University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Wong is currently a fellow member of the Association of
International Accountants and a certified public accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He was also admitted as
International Accountant (FAIA) jointly by Association of International
Accountants and China Association of Chief Financial Officers.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lo Chung Wai Paul (“Mr. Paul Lo"), aged 72, joined the Group in
1992 and has been the chairman (the “Chairman”) and non-executive
Director of the Company since 10 July 2017. Mr. Paul Lo has over 43
years of experience in the electronics industry. He is the founder of Linkz
Industries (the controlling shareholder of the Company). Mr. Paul Lo is
currently the general councilor of the Seventh Council of Guangdong
Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment and the Vice President
of the Eighth Council of Huizhou Association of Enterprises with Foreign
Investment of China.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conTD)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ho Hin Shun (“Mr. Ho"), aged 56, has been appointed as the
independent non-executive Director since 24 January 2018. Mr. Ho has over
23 years of experience in sales and marketing on electronics components
and substantial management experience in multinational corporations.
Mr. Ho obtained a Bachelor of Science degree in Engineering from the
University of Hong Kong. He further obtained his Master of Business
Administration degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Luk Wai Shing (“Mr. Luk”), aged 52, has been appointed as the
independent non-executive Director since 24 January 2018. Mr. Luk has
over 26 years' experience of business development, marketing, customers
relationship and compliance in banking industry. Mr. Luk obtained a
Bachelor of Business Administration degree from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong and has been a certified financial planner accredited by the
Institute of Financial Planners of Hong Kong.

Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric ("Mr. Eric Chan"), aged 55, has been
appointed as the independent non-executive Director since 24 January
2018. Mr. Eric Chan has over 28 years’ experience in the senior
positions of the finance and accounting field. He obtained a Master of
Management Sciences degree from University of Hull. Mr. Eric Chan has
been a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chaung Kwai Wing (“Mr. Chaung”), aged 57, joined the Group in
2020 and is currently the Chief Operating Officer of the Group. He has been
engaging in the electronics and cable industry for over 34 years, taking
senior positions in sales and marketing and general management. He first
joined Linkz Industries in 1996 and was transferred to LTK International
Limited following the disposal of Linkz's electronic cables business in 2007.
He re-joined the Group in 2020. Mr Chaung holds a Master of Business
Administration degree and a Bachelor of Science degree from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Chan Ting Hei (“Mr. Chan"), aged 57, joined the Group in 1992 and
is currently the Assistant General Manager of Supply Chain Management
of the Group and a director of Huizhou TIME, Linkz Ind (Suzhou) and Linkz
Industries (Shanghai) Limited (“Linkz (Shanghai)”). Mr. Chan has over 31
years’ working experience in the cable industry. He obtained a Master of
Science degree in Management of Manufacture from Coventry Polytechnic
(now known as Coventry University), a Master of Business Administration
degree from the University of South Australia and a Master of Arts degree
in International Business Management from the City University of Hong
Kong.

Mr. Chu Yi Fu (“Mr. Chu"), aged 55, joined the Group in April 2018
and is currently the General Manager of Huizhou TIME and a director of
Huizhou Chuangxiang Technology Limited (“Huizhou Chuangxiang”)
and Shanghai TIME. Mr. Chu has over 19 years’ working experience in
the cable industry, taking senior positions in business development as well
factory management. He obtained an EMBA from Fudan University, PRC.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conTD)
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Mr. Zhan Yangwang (“Mr. Zhan"), aged 48, joined the Group in 2012
and is currently the Financial Controller of the Cable Assembly Business.
Mr. Zhan has over 25 years’ working experience in the accounting and
finance field. He obtained an Associate degree of Industrial Management
Engineering in Industrial Accounting from Nanchang University and a
Master of Business Administration degree from the Hong Kong Baptist
University.

Mr. Zhong Xilin (“Mr. Zhong"), aged 41, joined the Group in 2003
and is currently the Assistant General Manager of Sales of the Cable
Assembly Business. Mr. Zhong has over 21 years’ experience of sales and
marketing in the cable industry. He completed a professional training in
Plants Protection from Hengyang City Agricultural School.

Mr. Zhou Yinfa (“Mr. Zhou"), aged 56, joined the Group in 2005 and
is currently the Assistant General Manager of Manufacturing of Huizhou
TIME and Huizhou Chuangxiang. Mr. Zhou has over 32 years’ working
experience in the cable industry. He obtained a Bachelor of Engineering
degree from South China University of Technology and has been qualified
as an electrical and mechanical engineer.

Mr. Tan Dehua (“Mr. Tan"”), aged 58, joined the Group in 2002 and is
currently the Advisor of Operations Optimization Office of Huizhou TIME
and Huizhou Chuangxiang. Mr. Tan has over 28 years' working experience
in the manufacturing sector. He obtained a Bachelor of Engineering degree
from Central South University (formerly known as Central South University
of Technology). Mr. Tan has been qualified as a geotechnical engineer.

Mr. Li Yuezhong (“Mr. Li"), aged 51, joined the Group in 2003 and is
currently the Assistant General Manager of Sales of Huizhou TIME. Mr.
Li has over 28 years’ working experience in various cable companies.
He obtained an Associate degree in Secretarial Studies from Xiangtan
University and a National Marketing Manager Qualification Certificate
from the Marketing Professional Committee of China Business Manager
Association.

Mr. Liu Zuhong (“Mr. Liu"), aged 71, joined the Group in 2020 and is
currently the Assistant to Chairman of the Networking Cables Business.
Mr. Liu has over 30 years’ experience in the electronics and cable industry
in PRC, taking senior positions in business development, domestic sales
and factory management.

Mr. Li Put Tung (“Mr. Victor Li"), aged 42, joined the Group in 2002 and
is currently the General Sales Manager of the Networking Cables Business
and a director of Linkz Ind (Suzhou) and Linkz (Shanghai). Mr. Victor Li
has over 19 years’ working experience in the wires and cables industry
with the latest 15 years committed to business development and sales
and marketing. He holds a Master of Science degree in Communications,
Computer and Human Centred Systems (Multimedia Computer Systems)
and a Bachelor of Engineering degree in Electronic and Communication
Engineering from the University of Birmingham.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conTD)
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Mr. Liu Yaliang (“Mr. Liu Yaliang"), aged 46, joined the Group in 2000
and is currently the Chief Engineer of the Networking Cables Business. Mr.
Liu Yaliang has over 22 years’ experience of manufacturing engineering
and product development in the wires and cables industry, with his efforts
committed to R&D of networking cables in the latest 16 years. He obtained
a Bachelor of Engineering degree in Mechanical Electrical Engineering
from Nanjing University of Science & Technology. Mr. Liu Yaliang has also
been qualified as a Senior Engineer in Professor Level (1E &4k T f2EM) and
appointed as part-time tutor for master’s degree students in electrical
engineering of Harbin University of Science and Technology. He received a
number of technical awards from Shanghai local authorities and reputable
institutions of the industry.

Mr. Fu Kuanlin (“Mr. Fu"), aged 50, joined the Group in 2019 and is
currently the Director of Manufacturing — Specialty Cables of the Networking
Cables Business. Mr. Fu has over 27 years’ working experience in the wires
and cables industry. He holds a Master of Business Administration degree
from Xi‘an Jiaotong University and a Bachelor of Engineering degree in
Mechanical Manufacturing Technology and Equipment from Hunan
University.

Mr. Ling Zhen (“Mr. Ling”), aged 46, joined the Group in 1995 and
is currently the Assistant Financial Controller of the Networking Cables
Business. He is also the Supervisor of Linkz Ind (Suzhou), Linkz (Shanghai),
Hover (Kunshan) Electronic Material Co., Limited and Kunshan Degin
Machinery Limited. Mr. Ling has over 25 years’ working experience in the
finance and accounting field. He holds an Associate degree in International
Accounting from East China Normal University and an accountancy
certificate issued and approved by the Ministry of Personnel and Ministry
of Finance of the PRC.

Mr. Li Yuebin (“Mr. Li Yuebin”), aged 56, joined the Group in 2004 and
is currently the Assistant General Manager of Administration of Linkz Ind
(Suzhou). Mr. Li Yuebin has over 37 years of experience in finance, auditing
and accounting as well as factory management. Mr. Li Yuebin obtained a
Master of Business Administration degree from Macau University of Science
and Technology. He completed a professional training in Economics and
Management from Party School of Heilongjiang Provincial Committee of
the Communist Party of China.

Mr. Yao Honglin (“Mr. Yao"), aged 55, joined the Group in 1999 and
is currently the Factory Manager of Linkz Ind (Suzhou). Mr. Yao has over
33 years of experience in technology development, quality control and
production management. He obtained an Associate degree in Mechanical
Engineering — Mechanical Manufacturing Technology and Equipment
from Nantong University (formerly Known as Nantong Textile Engineering
College) and a Quality Professional certificate issued by the State General
Administration of the People’s Republic of China for Quality Supervision
and Inspection and Quarantine.

Mr. Qin Jianjun (“Mr. Qin"), aged 48, joined the Group in 2000 and is
currently the Factory Manager of Linkz (Shanghai). Mr. Qin has over 27
years of experience in the wires and cables industry, among which over
20 years in management positions. He obtained an Associate degree in
Economics and Management from Xi‘an Politics Institute of the People’s
Liberation Army.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ng Hoi Ying (“"Ms. Ng"), aged 34, has been appointed as the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) since 1 March
2019. Ms. Ng has over 12 years of experience in auditing, accounting and
financial reporting. Ms. Ng is currently a company secretarial manager
at Blooming (HK) Business Limited, a company primarily engaged in
corporate advisory and company secretarial services. Ms. Ng is also the
company secretary of seven companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Ms.
Ng obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours)
in Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Ms. Ng is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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DIRECTOR’S REPORT
EREHRS

The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company, and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in manufacture and sales of cable assembly and networking cables
products (the “Core Business”). Details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries
are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year is set out in the “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on 28 December
2018. Details of the Dividend Policy is disclosed as below.

The Company adopts a general dividend policy that aims to provide shareholders of
the Company out of the Group’s profit attributable to shareholders in any financial
year, subject to the criteria set out below.

Such declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to be determined at the
discretion of the Board and subject to all applicable requirements (including without
limitation restrictions on dividend declaration and payment) under the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the memorandum and articles
of association of the Company.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account, inter alia:—

e the Group actual and expected financial performance;
e shareholders’ interests;

e retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each of the
other members of the Group;

e the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and financial
covenants to which the Group is subject;

e possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

e any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the Group's
lenders;

e the Group's expected working capital requirements and future expansion plans;

e liquidity position and future commitments at the time of declaration of dividend;

e taxation considerations;

e statutory and regulatory restrictions;

e general business conditions and strategies;

e general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business and other
internal or external factors that may have an impact on the business or financial

performance and position of the Company; and

e other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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The Board may propose the payment of dividends, if any, with respect to the
Company'’s shares on a per share basis.

In addition to cash, dividends may be distributed in the form of shares subject to
and in accordance with the procedures set out in the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association.

Except for interim dividend, any dividends declared by the Company must be
approved by an ordinary resolution of shareholders at the general meeting and
must not exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The Board may from time
to time pay to the shareholders such interim dividends as appear to the directors to
be justified by the profits of the Company available for distribution.

The Company will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the right in
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the Dividend Policy
at any time, and the Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Company that dividends will be paid in any particular amount
and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.

Pursuant to the Code Provision E.1.5 under Appendix 14 Corporate Governance
Code and Corporate Governance Report, the Company should disclose the policy
on payment of dividend in the annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of this
annual report. The state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 31 March
2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of financial position and Note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively. The Directors do recommend the
payment of a final dividend of HK$1.5 (2020: HK 1.5 cents) per share, amounting to
a total of approximately HK$27.6 million (2020: HK$27.6 million).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBER

The forthcoming annual general meeting is scheduled to be held on Monday, 23
August 2021 (the “2021 AGM"). For determining the entitlement to attend and
vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 18 August 2021 to Monday, 23 August 2021, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In
order to attend and vote at the AGM, all share transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the share registrar of the
company in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, Level 54, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen'’s Road East, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Tuesday, 17 August 2021.

In order to qualify for the entitlement to the proposed final dividend, the register
of members of the Company will also be closed from Friday, 27 August 2021 to
Wednesday, 1 September 2021, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares in the Company will be registered. All transfer of shares, accompanied by
the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the branch share registrar of
the Company in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Thursday, 26 August 2021. If the resolution of the proposed final dividend is
passed at the 2021 AGM, the proposed final dividend will be payable to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on Wednesday,
1 September 2021. The proposed final dividend is expected to be paid on or before
Tuesday, 21 September 2021.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the five financial
years is set out on page 160 in this annual report. This summary does not form part
of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company's share capital during the year, together with
the reasons thereof, are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in consolidated statement of changes in equity and Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2021, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to owners
comprising share premium account and accumulated profits, amounted to
approximately HK$290.9 million.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme on 24 January 2018
(the “Scheme"”). The terms of the Scheme are in accordance with the provisions
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and other relevant rules and regulations. Further
details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction
of which the Company is incorporate, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

DONATION

Charitable donations made by the Group during FY2021 amounted to HK$86,600
(2020: HK$1,200).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During FY2021, a non-exempt continuing connected transaction has been renewed
and will continue to be carried out between the Company and Linkz Industries.

Linkz Industries, through Time Holdings, hold 1,175,070,000 shares (representing
63.85% of the Group’s enlarged total share capital) and remains as the controlling
shareholder. Mr. Paul Lo, considered himself and his shareholdings in Nickson
Holdings Limited (“Nickson Holdings”), hold the controlling stake in Linkz
Industries representing indirectly control 38.2% of the Group's enlarged total share
capital. Therefore, Linkz Industries is connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

Linkz Industries, with its subsidiaries conducted business including the manufacture
and sales of LED video display screens and leasing of LED video display screens.

The related party transactions of the Group as set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Property Sharing Agreement

On 24 March 2020, Linkz Cables Limited (a subsidiary of the Company after the
completion of the acquisition i.e. 30 June 2020) and Linkz Industries entered
into the agreement for a term commencing from the date of completion of the
acquisition (i.e. 30 June 2020) to 31 March 2023, pursuant to which Linkz Cables
Limited and its subsidiaries shares a portion of the Linkz Industries’ Hong Kong office
and continues to pay annual sharing costs to the Linkz Industries (the “Property
Sharing Agreement”).

On 31 March 2020, the Company renewed the agreement between the Company
and Linkz Industries for a term of three years from 1 April 2020 to 31 March
2023, pursuant to which the Group shares a portion of the Linkz Industries’ Hong
Kong office and continues to pay annual sharing costs to the Linkz Industries (the
“Existing Property Sharing Agreement”).

Pursuant to Rule 14A.81 of the Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated under
the Property Sharing Agreement are required to be aggregated with the transactions
under the existing property sharing arrangements between the Group and the Linkz
Industries contemplated under the Existing Property Sharing Agreements (which are
also continuing connected transactions for the Company).

The Group had been sharing a portion of the Hong Kong office of Linkz Industries
for use as the headquarters since 1994 and does not have any plan to relocate its
present headquarter shared with Linkz Industries.

The Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, consider that all
of the continuing connected transactions above and their respective annual caps are
fair and reasonable, and that such transactions have been and will be entered into
the ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group, on normal commercial
terms, are fair and reasonable, and in the interests of the Group and Shareholders
as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
an unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in this annual report in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Save disclosed above, details of all the fully exempted and non-exempted continuing
connected transactions set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements
that falls under the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected
transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS UNDER RULE 13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

On 30 June 2020, the Company entered into a four years term loan facility
agreement for an aggregate amount of HK$630.0 million with four leading banks
in Hong Kong for the exclusive purpose of acquisition of the networking cables
business. Pursuant to the terms of the facility agreement, it shall be an event of
default if (i) Mr. Paul Lo ceases to be the single largest beneficial shareholder of the
Company or beneficially own more than 51% of the issued share capital of Linkz
Industries; (ii) Mr. Paul Lo ceases to be the chairman of the board of directors of
the Company or have control over the management and business of the Group; or
(iii) Linkz Industries ceases to beneficially own more than 50% of the issued share
capital of the Company. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, the entire
outstanding amount of the facility shall be prepaid together with accrued interest.

As at 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this report, there is no breach of the
covenants.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the percentage of the Group’s aggregate
turnover attributable to the Group’s largest customer was approximately HK$807.1
million (26.8%), while the percentage of the Group's total turnover attributable
to the five largest customers in aggregate was approximately HK$2,214.1 million
(73.6%).

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the percentage of the Group’s purchase
amount attributable to the Group'’s largest supplier was approximately HK$399.0
million (16.4%) of the total direct costs for the period, while the percentage of the
Group's total purchase amount attributable to the five largest suppliers in aggregate
was approximately HK$905.1 million (37.3%) of the total direct costs.

None of the Directors of the Company, or any of their close associates or
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were as follow:

Executive Directors
Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen

Non-executive Director
Mr. Lo Chung Wai Paul (Chairman)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ho Hin Shun

Mr. Luk Wai Shing

Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric

In accordance with the memorandum and articles of association of the Company, at
each annual general meeting one third of the Directors for the time being shall retire
from office by rotation that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. Such retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting. All Directors appointed by
the Board to fill a causal vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of
Shareholders after their appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting
and all Directors appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting and shall then be
eligible for re-election.

Any Director who has not been subject to retirement by rotation in the three years
preceding the annual general meeting shall retire by rotation at such annual general
meeting.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the memorandum and articles of association of the Company, the
applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them may incur or
sustain in the execution of their duties in their offices.

Such provision was in force during FY2021 and remained force as of the date of this
annual report. The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ and officers’
liabilities insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover for the
Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not terminable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year ended 31
March 2021.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section “Director’s Report — Related Party Transaction and
Continuing Connected Transaction” above and in the sections headed “Relationship
with Controlling Shareholders” and “Continuing Connected Transactions” in the
Prospectus, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had entered into any
contract of significance with the Company’s controlling shareholders or their
subsidiaries, or any contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the Company’s controlling shareholders or
their subsidiaries, during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” below
and the Scheme disclosures in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements, at
no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age, or were any such Company’s holding company a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other
body corporate.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company (the “Controlling Shareholders”) or their respective close
associates has engaged in any business that competes or may compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group or has or may have any other
conflict of interests with the Group during the year ended 31 March 2021.

Non-Competition Undertakings

In order to avoid any possible future competition between the Group and the
Controlling Shareholders, namely (i) Mr. Paul Lo, (i) Nickson Holdings, (iii) Gold Peak,
(iv) GP Industries, (v) Linkz Industries, (vi) Time Holdings, (vii) Time Management (i.e.
consists of two senior management of the Group, namely Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon
and Mr. Chan Ting Hei), and (viii) Mr. Sy Yuk Tsan, (ix) Mr. Wong Wai Hung, (x) Mr.
Li Ping Kuen and (xi) Ms. Lo Ching Yee (each a “Covenantor” and collectively the
“Covenantors”), have entered into the deed of non-competition (the “Deed of
Non-competition”) with the Company (for itself and as trustee for its subsidiaries)
on 24 January 2018. Pursuant to the Deed of Non-competition, each of the
Covenantors has irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken to the Company (for
itself and as trustee for its subsidiaries) that, during the period that the Deed of Non-
competition remains effective, he/she/it shall not, and shall procure that his/her/its
associates (other than any member of the Group) not to develop, acquire, invest
in, participate in, carry on or be engaged, concerned or interested or otherwise be
involved, whether directly or indirectly, in the Core Business that is in competition
with or likely to be in competition with the existing business activity of any member
of the Group.
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Each of the Covenantors further undertakes that if any of he/she/it or his/her/
its associates other than any member of the Group is offered or becomes aware
of any business opportunity which may compete directly or indirectly with the
Core Business of the Group, he/she/it shall (and he/she/it shall procure his/her/its
associates to) notify the Group in writing and the Group shall have a right of first
refusal of take up such business opportunity. The Group shall, within six months
after receipt of the written notice (or such longer period if the Group is required
to complete any approval procedures as set out under the Listing Rules from time
to time), notify the Covenantor(s) whether the Group will exercise the right of first
refusal or not.

The Group shall only exercise the right of first refusal upon the approval of all
the independent non-executive Directors (who do not have any interest in such
opportunity) and approval by the Board/or Shareholders as required under relevant
laws and regulations and in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company in effect at the relevant time. The relevant Covenantor(s) and the other
conflicting Directors (if any) shall abstain from participating in and voting at and
shall not be counted as quorum at all meetings of the Board where there is a conflict
of interest or potential conflict of interest including but not limited to the relevant
meeting of the independent non-executive Directors for considering whether or not
to exercise the right of first refusal.

During the year, the Company had not received any information in writing from any
of the Controlling Shareholders in respect of any new business opportunity which
competed or might compete with the existing and future business of the Group
which were offered to or came to the knowledge of the Controlling Shareholders
or their associates (other than any member of the Group), and the Company has
received an annual written confirmation from each Controlling Shareholder of
the Company in respect of him/her/it or his/her/its associates in compliance with
the Deed of Non-competition. The independent non-executive Directors have
also reviewed and were satisfied that each of the Controlling Shareholders of the
Company had complied with the Deed of Non-competition.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five individuals with highest
emoluments are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements. The
emolument of the number of the highest paid individuals who are not the Directors
of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in Note 11(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

The emoluments of the senior management of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2021 falls within the following band:
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

A Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument policy
and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the
Group, having regard to the Group's operating results, individual performance and
comparable market practices.

The Remuneration Committee will meet at least once for each year to discuss
remuneration related matters (including the remuneration of Directors and senior
management) and review the remuneration policy of the Group. It has been decided
that Remuneration Committee would determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

Details of the Group’s retirement benefit plans are set out in Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for service contracts, no other contracts concerning the management and/or
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or subsisting during the year ended 31 March 2021.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests or short positions of each of the Directors and
the chief executive in the shares of the Company, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which will have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which he is taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the
SFO) or which will be required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded
in the register referred to therein or which will be required pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed companies (the “Model
Code") set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange are set out as follows:

(i) Long Positions in shares of the Company
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FisBEE gz fotEzs

EEHR 513, HEH R)EARE = Bt

Mr. Paul Lo (Note) Interest of a controlled corporation/others 1,175,070,000 63.85%

@A (EE) SEEERER Hit

Note: e

Mr. Paul Lo beneficially owns the entire issued share capital of Nickson Holdings. Nickson
Holdings and Mr. Paul Lo hold 20.14% and 39.68% of the issued ordinary share capital
of Linkz Industries, respectively, and Time Holdings is wholly-owned by Linkz Industries.
Accordingly, Mr. Paul Lo, is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the shares held by
Time Holdings for the purpose of the SFO.

(ii) Long Positions in shares of associated corporation of the Company
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(ii) RARQBEBEERAIFE

Number of Approximate
Name of associated shares held/ percentage of
corporation Name of Director Nature of interest interested interest
FiiEBia gz Aok
HEBCEE R EEHUE e IR E B Bkt
Linkz Industries Mr. Cua (Note) Others 12,838,618 0.70%
EEPAIES M5EAE (FE) Ei
Note: Mzt :

Mr. Cua is one of the senior management members of the Group, holding 1.09% of the
issued ordinary share capital of Linkz Industries. Mr. Cua is also holding 0.011% of the
issued share capital of Gold Peak.
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(i) Long Positions in the underlying shares of the share options granted
under the Share Option Scheme

(iii) RIBFBIIEET BIR HAVES AR ERIABRARR (R RYSF 2

Number of the
underlying
shares interested
and nature of

Approximate
percentage of
the total issued

interests shares (%)*
BEEERRIMERS LERTRM
BB E R HEBIRIEERY
Name of the Directors EEHA e B9 EE(%)*
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Cua s 10,488,000 0.570
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen vt Soeta s 9,528,000 0.518
Non-executive Director EBITES
Mr. Paul Lo RS 1,824,000 0.099
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIEHITES
Mr. Ho Hin Shun fAIEExRE 1,824,000 0.099
Mr. Luk Wai Shing BEE RSt 1,824,000 0.099
Mr. Chan Chung Shun, Eric BRBEEE 1,824,000 0.099

*  The percentage was calculated based on 1,840,432,000 shares in issue as at 31 March
2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors and chief
executives of the Company had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
which were required, pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS" AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2021, the following persons/entities (other than the Directors and
chief executives of the Company) had or were deemed to have an interest or a short
position in the Shares or the underlying Shares of the Company which would be
required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register of the Company
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly,
to be interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company or
any other member of the Group:
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Long positions in the shares RIRRRIFE
Number of Approximate
shares held/ percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature interested interest
Fi¥FmEER B
e 515, 1S IR &R Bt
Time Holdings Beneficial Owner 1,175,070,000 63.85%
BER#EBA
Linkz Industries (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporation 1,175,070,000 63.85%
EH T (FYEE1) SEEERES
Ms. Ho Hsiu Lan (Note 2) Interest of spouse 1,175,070,000 63.85%
ISRt (fyEE2) [y
Nickson Holdings (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 1,175,070,000 63.85%
AR (BYEE3) S LR RS
GP Industries (Note 4) Interest of controlled corporation 1,175,070,000 63.85%
GPT 2 (Ff4) SEEERES
Gold Peak (Note 5) Interest of controlled corporation 1,175,070,000 63.85%
< (fyEE5) SEEE RS
Datatech Investment Beneficial Owner 204,930,000 11.13%
BaREEA
Mr. Kwong Ping Man (Note 6) Interest of controlled corporation 204,930,000 11.13%
BBIR s Se A (56 ) S AE RS
Ms. Chan Kit Sum (Note 7) Interest of spouse 204,930,000 11.13%

BRIt (FaE7)

FfB s

Notes:

1)

2)

3)

5

6)

Time Holdings is wholly-owned by Linkz Industries. Therefore, Linkz Industries is deemed, or
taken to be, interested in all the shares held by Time Holdings for the purpose of the SFO.

Ms. Ho Hsiu Lan is the spouse of Mr. Paul Lo. Accordingly, Ms. Ho Hsiu Lan is deemed, or
taken to be, interested in all the shares in which Mr. Paul Lo is interested for the purpose
of the SFO.

Nickson Holdings holds 20.14% of the issued ordinary share capital of Linkz Industries, and
Time Holdings is wholly-owned by Linkz Industries. Therefore, Nickson Holdings is deemed
to, or taken to be, interested in all the Shares held by Time Holdings for the purpose of the
SFO.

GP Industries holds 38.13% of the issued ordinary share capital of Linkz Industries, and
Time Holdings is wholly-owned by Linkz Industries. Therefore, GP Industries is deemed, or
taken to be, interested in all the shares held by Time Holdings for the purpose of the SFO.

Gold Peak holds 85.47% issued share capital of GP Industries. GP Industries holds 38.13%
of the issued ordinary share capital of Linkz Industries, and Time Holdings is wholly-owned
by Linkz Industries. Therefore, Gold Peak is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the
shares held by Time Holdings for the purpose of the SFO.

Mr. Kwong Ping Man beneficially owns the entire issued share capital of Datatech
Investment Inc.. Therefore, Mr. Kwong Ping Man is deemed, or taken to be, interested in
all the shares held by Datatech Investment Inc. for the purpose of the SFO. Mr. Kwong Ping
Man is the sole director of Datatech Investment Inc..

Ms. Chan Kit Sum is the spouse of Mr. Kwong Ping Man. Accordingly, Ms. Chan Kit Sum
is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the shares in which Mr. Kwong Ping Man is
interested for the purpose of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the substantial or significant
shareholders or other persons, other than the Directors and chief executives of the
Company whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ Report — Directors’
and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” above, had or were deemed to have an interest or a short position
in the shares or the underlying shares of the Company which would be required
to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register of
the Company remained to be kept under Section 366 of the SFO, or who were
directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the
Company or any other members of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 41 to 51 of this annual report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no equity-linked agreement
entered into by the Company during the year ended 31 March 2021.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

To the best knowledge of the Directors and based on information available in the
public domain concerning the Company, at least 25% of the Company's issued
share capital were held by the public as at the date of this annual report.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors
annual written confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2021 were audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to reappoint Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Time Interconnect Technology Limited
Cua Tin Yin Simon

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 June 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXRERAWE

INTRODUCTION

The Board and the management of the Company are committed to the maintenance
of good corporate governance practices and procedures. The Company believes
that good corporate governance provides a framework that is essential for
effective management, a healthy corporate culture, successful business growth
and enhancing shareholders’ value. The corporate governance principles of the
Company emphasise a quality Board, sound internal controls, and transparency and
accountability to all shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company acknowledges the need and importance of corporate governance
as one of the key elements in creating shareholders’ value. The Company is also
committed to achieving high standard of corporate governance that can protect
and promote the interests of all Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and
accountability of the Company. For corporate governance purpose, the Company
has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") set out in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 March 2021, to the best knowledge
of the Board, the Company had complied with all the applicable code provisions
set out in the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by directors. Having made specific enquiry, all Directors have
fully complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code and there was
no event of non-compliance throughout the period.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION

The Board is responsible for leading and controlling the business operations of the
Group. It formulates strategic directions, oversees the operations and monitors
the financial performance of the Group. The management is delegated power
and authority given by the Board for the day-to-day management and operations
of the Group. The management is accountable to the Board for the Company’s
overall operation. Under the terms of reference, the duties of the Board in respect
of corporate governance are as follows:

1) To develop and review the policies and practices on corporate governance of
the Group and make recommendations;

2) To review and monitor the training and continuous professional development
of the Directors and the senior management;

3) To review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements;

4) To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to the Directors
and the employees of the Group; and

5) To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the
Company.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, one non-executive Director
and three independent non-executive Directors and the Board is accountable to
shareholders. The management and control of the business of the Company is
vested in its Board. It is the duty of the Board to create value to the shareholders
of the Company.

Executive Directors
Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen

Non-executive Director
Mr. Lo Chung Wai Paul

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ho Hin Shun

Mr. Luk Wai Shing

Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in “Biographical Details of the
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 25 to 29 of this annual report.

The proportion of which is higher than what is required by Rule 3.10A, 3.10 (1)
and (2) of the Listing Rules whereby independent non-executive Directors of a
listed issuer represent at least one-third of the Board. The three independent non-
executive Directors represent more than one-third of the Board and at least one of
whom has appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. With the various experience of both the executive Directors,
the non-executive Director and the independent non-executive Directors and the
nature of the Group’s business, the Board considered that the Directors have a
balance of skills and experience for the business of the Board.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
on 28 December 2018 which sets out the basis to achieve diversity on the Board.
Details of the Board Diversity Policy is disclosed as below.

1. Purpose
The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on
the Board.

2. Vision
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality of its performance.

3. Policy
When determining the composition of the Board, the Company will consider
board diversity in terms of, among other things, gender, age, experience,
cultural and educational background, expertise, skills and know-how. All Board
appointments will be based on merits, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

4. Measurable Objectives
Selection of candidates for Board membership will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, experience,
cultural and educational background, expertise, skills and know-how.

5. Monitoring and Reporting
The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”)
will disclose the composition of the Board annually in the corporate governance
report and monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy.
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6. Review of the Board Diversity Policy
The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate,
to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend
any such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

7. Disclosure of the Board Diversity Policy
A summary of the Board Diversity Policy together with the measurable objectives
set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and the progress made towards
achieving those objectives will be disclosed in the annual corporate governance
report.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) on 28
December 2018 which sets out the approach to guide the Nomination Committee
in relation to the selection, appointment and re-appointment of the Directors.
Details of the Nomination Policy is disclosed as below.

1 Purpose
1.1 the Nomination Policy aims to set out the approach to guide the Nomination
Committee in relation to the selection, appointment and re-appointment of
the Directors.

1.2 the Nomination Policy aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business.

2 Criteria
The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend candidate(s)
for directorships to the Board by giving due consideration to criteria including
but not limited to (collectively, the “Criteria”):

(@) diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender, age, experience,
cultural and educational background, expertise, skills and know-how;

(b) sufficient time to effectively carry out their duties; their services on other
listed and non-listed companies should be limited to reasonable numbers;

(c) qualifications, including accomplishment and experience in the relevant
industries the Company’s business is involved in;

(d) independence;
(e) reputation for integrity;

(f) potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring to the Board; and

(g) commitment to enhance and maximize shareholders’ value.

3 Re-Election of Director at General Meeting
3.1 The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend retiring
Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving due consideration to
the Criteria including but not limited to:

(@) the overall contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
director including his attendance of Board meetings and, where
applicable, general meetings, and the level of participation and
performance on the Board; and

(b) whether the retiring Director(s) continue(s) to satisfy the Criteria in
section 2.

3.2 The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election of
director at the general meeting.
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4 Nomination Process

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the appointment
of a Director in accordance with the following procedures and process:

(@) the Nomination Committee will, giving due consideration to the current
composition and size of the Board, develop a list of desirable skills,
perspectives and experience at the outset to focus the search effort;

(b) the Nomination Committee may consult any source it deems appropriate in
identifying or selecting suitable candidates, such as referrals from existing
Directors, advertising, recommendations from an independent agency firm
and proposals from shareholders of the Company with due consideration
given to the Criteria;

(c) the Nomination Committee may adopt any process it deems appropriate in
evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such as interviews, background
checks, presentations and third-party reference checks;

(d) upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the Nomination
Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if
thought fit, approve the recommendation to the Board for appointment;

(e) the Nomination Committee will thereafter make the recommendation
to the Board in relation to the proposed appointment and the proposed
remuneration package; and

(f) the Board will have the final authority on determining the selection of
nominees and all appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing
of the consent to act as Director of the relevant Director (or any other
similar filings requiring the relevant Director to acknowledge or accept the
appointment as Director, as the case may be) to be filed with the Companies
Registry of Hong Kong.

Responsibility
The Board will be ultimately responsible for the selection, appointment and re-
appointment of Directors.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will assess and report annually, in the corporate
governance report, on the composition of the Board, and launch a formal
process to monitor the implementation of the Nomination Policy as appropriate.

Review of the Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee will launch a formal process to review the Nomination
Policy periodically to ensure that it is transparent and fair, remains relevant
to the Company’s needs and reflects the current regulatory requirements and
good corporate governance practice. The Nomination Committee will discuss
any revisions that may be required and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.
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8 Disclosure of the Nomination Policy
8.1 A summary of the Nomination Policy including the nomination procedures
and the process and Criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to
select and recommend candidates for directorship during the year will be
disclosed in the annual corporate governance report.

8.2 In the circular to shareholders for proposing a candidate as an independent
non-executive director, it should also set out:

e the process used for identifying the candidate and why the Board
believes the candidate should be elected and the reason why it
considers the candidate to be independent;

e if the proposed independent non-executive director will be holding
their seventh (or more) listed company directorship, the reason the
board believes the candidate would still be able to devote sufficient
time to the Board;

e the perspectives, skills and experience that the candidate can bring to
the Board; and

e how the candidate can contribute to the diversity of the Board.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the Board
as they bring an impartial view on the Company’s strategies, performance and
control, as well as ensure that the interests of all shareholders are taken into
account. All independent non-executive Directors possess appropriate academic,
professional qualifications or related financial management experience. None of the
independent non-executive Directors held any other offices in the Company or any
of its subsidiaries or is interested in any shares of the Company. The Company has
received from each independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of
his independence, and the Company considers such Directors to be independent in
accordance with the criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director has renewed the service
contract with the Company on 27 November 2020 and signed letters of appointment
with each of the independent non-executive Directors. The service contracts with
the executive Directors and the letter of appointment with each of independent
non-executive Directors are for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from
13 February 2021. The service contracts and letters of appointment are subject to
termination in accordance with their respective terms. The service contracts may be
renewed in accordance with the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company and the applicable Listing Rules.

According to the Article 108 of the memorandum and articles of association of
the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office
by rotation at every annual general meeting of the Company, provided that every
Director shall retire from office by rotation and are subject to re-election at annual
general meeting at least once every three years. Article 112 of the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company provides that any Directors who are
appointed to fill casual vacancies shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting after their appointment, and are subject to re-election by
shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon and Mr. Wong Chi Kuen will retire from office at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 23 August
2021. Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon and Mr. Wong Chi Kuen, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, separate ordinary
resolutions will be put forward to the shareholders of the Company in relation to
the proposed re-election of Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon and Mr. Wong Chi Kuen as the
executive Directors.
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TERM OF OFFICE OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The initial term of office of each of the non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) is three years, subject to re-election.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

The role of chairman remains separate from that of the chief executive officer to
enhance their respective independence, accountability and responsibility. Mr. Paul
Lo was the Chairman and Mr. Cua was the Chief Executive Officer.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Group acknowledges the importance of adequate and ample continuing
professional development for the Directors for a sound and effective internal control
system and corporate governance. In this regard, the Group has always encouraged
the Directors to attend relevant training courses to receive the latest new and
knowledge regarding corporate governance.

The Company updates Directors on the latest developments and changes to the
Listing Rules and the applicable legal and regulatory requirements concerning good
governance practices. Reading materials on regulatory updates were also provided
to the Directors for updating their knowledge on the relevant issues. The Company
will, if necessary, provide timely and regular trainings to the Directors to ensure that
they keep abreast of the current requirements under the Listing rules. The Group
has also adopted a policy to reimburse the Directors for any relevant training costs
and expenses incurred concerning corporate governance and internal control.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely, the audit committee
of the Company (the “Audit Committee”), the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's affairs.
All Board committees have been established with defined written terms of reference,
which are posted on the website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and
the Company’s website at www.time-interconnect.com. All the Board committees
responsibly report to the Board on their decisions or recommendations made.

The practices, procedures and arrangements in conducting meetings of Board
committees follow in line with, so far as practicable, those of the Board meetings
set out above.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstance, at the Company’s expense.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set out
in the CG Code which included developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance, training and continuous professional
development of Directors, and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the code
provision in the CG Code and disclosures in this annual report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 24 January 2018. The chairman of the
Audit Committee is Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric, the independent non-executive
Director, and other members included Mr. Ho Hin Shun and Mr. Luk Wai Shing, the
independent non-executive Directors. The written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are posted on the website of the Stock Exchange and on the Company’s
website.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules in that at least
one of the members of the Audit Committee (which must comprise a minimum
of three members and must be chaired by an independent non-executive Director)
is an independent non-executive Director who possesses appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting related financial management expertise.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the financial information and
reporting process, internal control procedures and risk management system, audit
plan and relationship with external auditors and arrangements to enable employees
of the Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

During the year, the Audit Committee held two meetings to review and comment
on the Company’s 2020 annual results and 2020/2021 interim results as well as the
Company'’s internal control procedures and risk management system.

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is of the opinion
that the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2021 comply with applicable accounting standards, Listing Rules and that
adequate disclosures have been made.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 24 January 2018. The chairman
of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Ho Hin Shun, the independent non-executive
Director, and other members includes Mr. Luk Wai Shing and Mr. Chan Chung
Shun Eric, the independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Wong Chi Kuen, the
executive Director. The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are posted on the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee has been charged with the responsibility of making
recommendations to the Board on the appropriated policy and structures for all
aspects of Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration. The Remuneration
Committee considers factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors, employment conditions elsewhere
in the Group and desirability of performance-based remuneration. The Remuneration
Committee has reviewed the remuneration packages and emoluments of Directors
and senior management and considered that they are fair and reasonable during
the year ended 31 March 2021. No Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 24 January 2018. The chairman of
the Nomination Committee is Mr. Luk Wai Shing, the independent non-executive
Director, and other members included Mr. Ho Hin Shun and Mr. Chan Chung
Shun Eric, the independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Wong Chi Kuen, the
executive Director. The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
are posted on the website of the Stock Exchange and on the Company’s website.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review and assess the
composition of the Board and independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and makes recommendations to the Board on appointment of new
Directors of the Company. In recommending candidates for appointment to the
Board, the Nomination Committee considers candidates on merit against objective
criteria and with due regards to the benefits of diversity on the Board.

In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered from
a number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, industry experience, technical and professional skills and/
or qualifications, knowledge, length of services and time to be devoted as a director.
The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own business model
and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate decision is based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

BOARD AND GENERAL MEETINGS

The Board meet regularly for considering, reviewing and/or approving matters
relating to, among others, the financial and operating performance, as well as, the
overall strategies and policies of the Company. Additional meetings are held when
significant events or important issues are required to be discussed and resolved.

During the year, the Chairman held a meeting with the independent non-executive
Directors without the executive Director presence.

Details of all Directors’ attendance at the Board meeting and Board Committees’
meeting held during the year ended 31 March 2021 are as follows:
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Audit  Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee
Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting General Meeting
EZEEE ENEEEEE HNRESEE ReZEEEE BEXE
Number of Meetings Attended/Held
i/ BIABNREY
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon FIRAREE 114 - _ _ )
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen HSEEE 1414 - 444 17 2
Non-executive Director EHITES
Mr. Lo Chung Wai Paul BfhaisE 114 - - - 20
Independent non-executive Directors BUERITES
Mr. Ho Hin Shun WEEEE 5/14 2 414 7 22
Mr. Luk Wai Shing PERRLE 514 212 414 1" 212
Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric RBERE 414 20 3/4 1n M
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary assists the Board by ensuring the Board policy and
procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also responsible for advising
that Board on corporate governance matters.

The Company engages an external service provider, Ms. Ng Hoi Ying (“Ms. Ng") as
its Company Secretary. Ms. Ng possesses the necessary qualification and experience,
and is capable of performing the functions of the Company Secretary. Mr. Wong
Chi Kuen, executive Director of the Company is the primary contact person who
Ms. Ng contacts.

For FY2021, Ms. Ng undertook no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training to update her skill and knowledge. The biographical details of Ms. Ng
are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid or payable to the external auditor of the
Company, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, in respect of the audit and non-audit services
were as follows:
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Remuneration

paid/payable
Services rendered Fr R LAY BRTS 21t S
HK$'000
T
Audit services BIARTS
— Statutory audit services - EEE RIS 2,120
Non-audit services B RTE
— Review interim report - ERRARE 380
- Acting as reporting accountants in connection with an - EEARARMGIERBEBARKIESIEN
Extreme Very Substantial Acquisition of the Company FR¥REETAD 660
3,160

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

As one of the measures to safeguard Shareholders’ interest and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual directors, for Shareholders’ consideration and
voting. All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meeting will be voted by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting results will be posted on the website
of the Stock Exchange and the Company’s website after the relevant Shareholders’
meeting.

Extraordinary general meeting may be convened by the Board on requisition of
Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
or by such Shareholders who made the requisition (the “Requisitionists”) (as the
case may be) pursuant to Article 64 of the memorandum and articles of association
of the Company. Such requisition must state the object of business to be transacted
at the meeting and must be signed by the Requisitionists and deposited at the
registered office of the Company or the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong. Shareholders should follow the requirements and procedures as set out
in such article for convening an extraordinary general meeting. Shareholders may
put forward proposals with general meeting of the Company by sending the same
to the Company at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send written
enquiries to the Company. Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests in
respect of their rights to the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Directors acknowledge that they have overall responsibility for overseeing the
Company'’s internal control, financial control and risk management system and shall
monitor its effectiveness on an ongoing basis. A review of the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems has been conducted by the Board
at least annually.

Aimed at providing reasonable assurance against material errors, losses or fraud,
the Company has established a risk management procedures which comprised the
following steps:

— Identify risks: Identify major and significant risks that could affect the
achievement of goals of the Group;

— Risk assessment: Assess and evaluate the identified risk according to its likely
impact and the likelihood of occurrence;

— Risk mitigation: Develop effective control activities to mitigate the risks.

Risk identification and assessment is performed or updated annually, and the results
of risk assessment, evaluation and mitigation of each functions or operation are
documented in the Risk Registry to communicate to the Board and Management
for reviews.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are, however, designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

A review on the internal control systems of the Company, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions has been
carried out by an independent consultancy company with staff in possession of
relevant expertise to conduct an independent review.

The Audit Committee reviewed the internal control review report issued by the
independent consultancy company and the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems in respect of the year ended 31 March 2021 and considered
that they are effective and adequate. The Board assessed the effectiveness of
internal control systems by considering the internal control review report and
reviews performed by the Audit Committee and concurred the same.

Under Code Provision C.2.5, the Group should have an internal audit function.
The Company has no internal audit function because the Company has maintained
an internal control system and its implementation has been considered effective
by the Audit Committee and the Board. In addition, the Audit Committee has
communicated with external auditors of the Company to understand if there is any
material control deficiency. Nevertheless, the Company will review the need for one
on an annual basis.
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DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group has in place a policy on disclosure of inside information which sets
out the procedures and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information.

The policy provides guidelines to the Directors, officers and all relevant employees
of the Group to ensure proper safeguards exist to prevent the Company from
breaching the statutory disclosure requirements. It also includes appropriate internal
control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside information.

Key procedures in place include:

— define the requirements of periodic financial and operational reporting to the
Board and Company Secretary to enable them to assess inside information and
make timely disclosures, if necessary;

— controls the access to inside information by employees on a need-to-know
basis, and safeguarding the confidentiality of the inside information before it is
properly disclosed to public;

— procedures of communicating with the Group’s stakeholders, including
shareholders, investors, analysts, etc. in ways which are in compliance with the
Listing Rules.

The Group has also established and implemented procedures to handle enquiries
from external parties related to the market rumours and other Group's affairs.

To avoid uneven dissemination of inside information, the dissemination of inside
information of the Company shall be conducted by publishing the relevant
information on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted shareholders communication policy with objective of
ensuring that the Shareholders and potential investors are provided with ready,
equal and timely access to balanced and understandable information about the
Company.

The Company has established several channels to communicate with the
Shareholders as follows:

(i) Corporate communications such as annual reports, interim reports and circulars are
issued in printed form and are available on the website of the Stock Exchange at
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at www.time-interconnect.com;

(i) Periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange and published
on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company;

(iii) Corporate information is made available on the Company’s website;

(iv) Annual and extraordinary general meetings provide a forum for the
Shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the Directors and
senior management; and

(v) The Hong Kong share registrar of the Company serves the Shareholders in
respect of share registration, dividend payment and related matters.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and enhancing communication
with the existing Shareholders and potential investors. It welcomes suggestions
from investors, stakeholders and the public. Enquires to the Board or the Company
may be sent by post to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, there is no significant change in the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company.
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INTRODUCTION

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of business
practices in relation to environmental protection, social responsibility
and related governance. In order to uphold stakeholders’ confidence and
understanding of the Group’s efforts in achieving corporate sustainability,
the Group annually releases ESG Report in a transparent and open
manner for public review. All information in this ESG Report reflects the
performance of the Group in the Review Year.

Reporting Scope

During the Review Year, the Group completed the acquisition of the
networking cables business which is already incorporated into this ESG
Report. The ESG Report covers environmental, social and governance
performance (the “ESG performance”) of the headquarters in Hong
Kong and the production facilities in Huizhou, Shanghai and Kunshan City.
After establishing a comprehensive data collection system and deepening
environmental, social and governance ("ESG") work, the Group is able
to disclose various environmental and social Key Performance Indicators
("KPIs") for the Group during the Review Year.

Reporting Standards

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (“ESG Guide"”) of the Stock
Exchange set out in the Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules. The ESG Report
provides a simplified overview on the ESG performance of the Group.
The information in the ESG Report is derived from the Group’s official
documents and statistics, as well as the integration and summary of
monitoring, management and operational information provided by the
Group.

ESG Governance

The Group has established sustainability strategies and related policies
with aims to create sustainable values to its stakeholders, thereby to
large extent minimising the Group’s adverse impact on the environment
and strengthening the contribution to the community. In order to fully
implement the Group’s sustainability strategies, the Board has ultimate
responsibilities for ensuring the effectiveness of the Group’s ESG policies.
The Group has established dedicated teams to manage ESG issues within
each business division of the Group, keep monitoring and overseeing
the progress against corporate goals and targets for addressing climate
change, and identify opportunity for further acceleration so as to sustain
its long-term development. The dedicated teams have been assigned to
enforce and implement the relevant ESG tactics and policies cascading
through the Group. With the forward-looking guidance and well-designed
plans of action to address underlying ESG matters, the management and
responsible teams keep reviewing and enhancing the Group's sustainability
policies to satisfy the ever-changing needs of its stakeholders on a regular
basis. The Group is committed to achieving an excellent performance in
ESG management while also maintains competitive advantages in the
industry. Details of the Group’s management approaches in both the
environmental and social aspects are elaborated in different sections of
this ESG report.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

51&

FEERNNRBRERE HS2HTENERES
HHAEFSKENEEER - HINARFNEY
REBEEXEEAFERRAMESINED
KR NEBESFLUER AR # M
RIE ~ B RERWME)  UHSRER - &
BRI - B LERBETHAMEEIRRA
SENEIRFERERR

S E

REREFE » AEBETRKEERERER
WEMARRE - HBRERWER - BIF
g RELREREZTBRIMEEIN » LB
BIIMAEERKENRE - A& REGRE (TR
5 EREARR) NEY—E2ENE
BHREZRS  DUSOREBR ~ & L&A (TR
5 ERES)NIEER - ANEEEHNE
BEENRBEARESERE LA SRERERE
2 ("RARERIER ) -

gl

B A REARERKEL RN
—HCATRAVBESHT (RS B RE AR
550 (R - REREARS ) A - B
5 e REARE LB NY LA S
RUES) B REARD - B HERER
S PR A A BN E X ARG B
B 0 LRREAEERINEN  SEAEE
B -

RIS MHEREAZEE

AEBECHIEAFERRRELMEEBCR - §
ERFNEREAFEEE  KMERKEE
LTREBIAEBHRZERNANEE - 17
BT EFHER - A2 EEHETAZEN
AFERRRE SR FRAAKER
B MHEBLREABRREUMENRKEE - &
SEERUESEPE - BEAKRER XM
NHEERE  HEREREEH  FEESR
REERARAEBHREE(CBRRERNERE
w0 WHBBIFFESCGER BB MR RIPEE -
EEEKE R EIRR N E ALK E S IEHEE
R - 2 REARIELBUR - BBRIIEMEE
5| RABORETNTEN A EIRIEARRE 48
KEeEH  SHELFEEERTERRYME
HAKEAFERRICR © LUmERFNERN
BT R - AEEBAONERE - H& X
EREESTHNSEERE - RIRERFEXA
IR - FREF - HBREARENEE
’?E%ﬁ?ﬁ%@&%ﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁ@ﬂ@%ﬂﬁ



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (conT'D)

RIE - HEREARE )

Materiality Analysis

The Group conducts a materiality analysis to illustrate the topics of the
greatest interest to its stakeholders and its business every year. The Group
uses the outcomes of this analysis to identify material issues that enables
the Group to determine the strategies, goals and actions.

The Group integrated a series of material issues based on global standards
and initiatives, business conditions and media reports in which 18 issues
were selected as the material issues of the Review Year. These issues were
prioritised according to their influence on stakeholders and the business.

After the acquisition of the networking cables business, the business and
market of the Group have been expanded and diversified. The operation
and production processes of the networking cables business are quite
different from the cable assembly business which are more automatic and
machine-oriented. As a result, the 18 material issues are re-positioned
based on the current macro and micro environment in which aspects
related to products, intellectual property, supply chain and manufacturing
management are increasingly crucial to both stakeholders and the Group.

Figure 1: Materiality analysis outcomes
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Interests and concerns

s R RAE

Categories
sl

Economy 1.

Product safety and quality

EmZENEE

2. Business model and innovation
EBRERNAIHT

3. Intellectual property protection

zars HBERERE

Society 4.  Labour practices
e BTEMR
5. Occupational health and safety
BEERELZR
6.  Human rights
N
7. Supply chain sustainability
O O 8.  Human capital
O AHEA
9.  Data security
L6 Sy
10. Ethical business practices
EEET

EERBLAEE
HEBRLAEFAREE

13.  Circular economy
BB

14. Product stewardship
EREE

15.  Climate stewardship
RirEE

11.  Responsible sourcing and manufacturing

12.  Community development and corporate citizenship

16. Waste and hazardous materials in supply chain

HIESE R BEZEY) a1k
17.  Water and sewage management
FKESEKER
18. Energy management
REREHE

Stakeholder Engagement

The Stock Exchange has set forth four reporting principles for preparing
the ESG Report in the ESG Guide: materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency. As the Stock Exchange emphasises, stakeholder engagement
is important to identify material ESG issues. Through stakeholder
engagement, companies can understand wide-ranging views from the
stakeholder aspect, be aware of the impact of the Group’s business on
the material environmental and social issues in order to formulate effective
policies to sustain the Group’s development and growth.

Stakeholders refer to groups and individuals materially influenced or
affected by the Group's business. The Group's internal stakeholders include
employees, management and Directors; whereas external stakeholders
include customers, suppliers, investors, regulatory authorities and various
types of community groups. In the Previous Year, the Group communicated
with the key stakeholders through a variety of methods. While preparing
the ESG Report, the Group commissioned a professional consultancy firm
to conduct the materiality analysis in the form of management interview.
With expert advice, the Group identified the material ESG aspects for the
ESG Report and will be used to guide the formulation of the Group’s
sustainability roadmap.
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Figure 2: Stakeholders and engagement methods
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Financial performance
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Product quality and product safety
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On-time delivery
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Customer support
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Technical capability
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Production control

4 EZS

Supply chain management
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Inspection capability
RERRET]

Document and record control
P LIS Tk =it

Compliance and risk control
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Mutual growth

HEER

Financial position

FAEEIRR

Payment and related contractual terms
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Payment method

NEOaE:N

Explicit product specifications
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Order volume

FEE

Order seasonality
B ks

Order profitability
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Emails, direct dialogues, phone calls or
meetings as required in daily operations
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Customer visits or meetings
BEFEFINE®E

Customer service hotline

B RIS ER

On-site visits at the Group’s production
facilities

AEEA ERIMBEMIRET

On-site visits at customer offices and
factories

BPPAZE N T REMRET

Annual business review

FEXBFLE

Customer audits

BRERZ

Trade fairs and forums

TERE LR

Annual and interim reports
FENPHARE

“Purchase Order Portal” platform

"RIERIEPIF L FE

Emails, direct dialogues, phone calls or
meetings as required in daily operations
ARSEDIENEH - BEHEE -
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“Supplier Portal” platform
THtrERIFIE L AR

Supplier service hotline
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On-site visits at the Group'’s production
facilities
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On-site visits at supplier offices and
factories
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Annual supplier assessment
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Trade fairs and forums
TERBNWE
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Stakeholders Interests and concerns Engagement channels

2HRE

FaE M RRE

Compliance with applicable laws and
regulations

BTERERLOER

Respect for human rights

55 AR

Fair treatment and equal opportunities
NFEBR PSS

Work condition and welfare

MRS SN

Career growth and personal development
BEARIEARE

Occupational health and safety
BEERRZR

Work-life balance

T 4RSS

Remuneration and benefits

I ISEER]

Job satisfaction

TEmSE

Operation in compliance with applicable
laws and regulations
REBERERIERNEE

Return on investment and dividends
KEMHEKS

Business performance and financial results
EBRBENVBRE

Strategic plans and corporate sustainable
development

RIBREI R EEAIFERE

Operation in compliance with applicable
laws and regulations

HEBEMERRERNEE

e Business growth

EBRR

e Strategic plans and corporate sustainable

development

REGARE R R A ERR

e Strong security structure

SRR IR

e Stable ownership structure

FraEREIRE

¢ Timely information on financial

performance

MBERBNINFES

BE BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

Emails, direct dialogues, phone calls,
communication application, notice
board and meetings as required in daily
operations
HEEETHMEMNEE « Bl
EaE  ENEREN « ETRRAEE
Weekly e-Newsletter

SETTEN

Social events with employees

B S SHM FE)

Occupational health and safety training
BEREREE 25

Other in-house and external development
training

E AR R AMNER & i |

New employees orientation
HEEABEE

Performance appraisal

BRE T

Team building activities

B R E

Whistleblowing policy

BIRBUR

Town hall meetings

BTKRE

Human resources policies and practices
ANERBRKIEE

Staff handbook

ST+

Annual General Meetings

RERBFRS

Annual and interim reports
FENPHRRE

Announcements and circulars

NEFIBR

Investors enquiries channel via the Group's
website and investors relationship company
ZBAEE R RIREEBERATN
KREEBARE

Annual newsletters

FEE

Emails, direct dialogues, phone calls and
meetings as required in daily operations
HEEEPHEMEE « BRHE
e

Bank service hotline

SRATARFBELAR

On-site visits at the production facilities in
Huizhou, Shanghai and Kunshan City and/
or the headquarters in Hong Kong

B EBNEBIImAERBR
BRI B

Annual business reviews

FEFHRR

Annual and interim reports
FERPHRE

Due diligence interview and research
EBESRHE
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Interests and concerns

M RREE

Stakeholders

&

Community

i@

Operation in compliance with applicable
laws and regulations
REERFRLOEHRENEE
e Support to civil society
X EEE
e Environmental protection
RIGRE
e Local community activities involvement
2t RIEEII S
e Business ethics

[GE L

The business of the Group affects different stakeholders, and stakeholders
have different expectations on the Group. The Group will maintain
communication with stakeholders continuously, collect opinions from
stakeholders through different forms more extensively and make
substantive analysis more comprehensively. At the same time, the Group
will enhance the reporting principles of materiality, quantitative, balance
and consistency in order to determine contents of the ESG Report and
presentation of the information that are more in line with the expectations
of stakeholders.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Emissions

Emissions from vehicle usage and air travel

During the Group's operation, the usage of private cars, light goods
vehicle and forklift generate the emissions of nitrogen oxides (“NOx"),
sulphur oxides (“SOx"), and Particulate Matter (“PM"). Also, the use of
electricity and the business air travel by employees generate greenhouse
gas ("GHG"). The approximate amount of NO,, SO, and PM produced

Engagement channels

Emails, direct dialogues, phone calls and
meetings
BE - HEHE C SEEBELER

e Updated news and correspondences from
media
KB R BB R ST S mER

e Donation and sponsorship
BREER

e Participation in local community activities
and volunteering work
SHE MM BREENERETF

e ESG reports
BIR g NERRE

AEEMEZLERNRAFTNE » MENEHR
SEUERNAPE - AREMEFNETER
B\ WEBARPABEZMBEFNENE
o QUBEUEANTEAZEH - R 0 AEE
SnaEEn - B « TELR—HUERR
8 > LIBRFEFNERZNTNGERE « #
ZREAHRENARLEMNZS] »

IRIGIRGE

R

BEHE R MR E LRI
RASENZEBRESD @ ERALKE  KHE
BELXBEHEEERANY TAELY ) i
Sy (TREALY ) KRR (TR, )
M e S o ERENREERLTREAF TG
ELRERE (TRERME )  TRAT/RAE

from its operation in Hong Kong and the PRC are shown in the table BER&EBERTEBZSEEEMNEELY  HE
below: (b RFERIBRIE -

Figure 3: Emissions from vehicle usage

B3 : {E F B EmPTE £ RIHE

Types of air emissions ERBEER 2020
NO, emissions (tonnes) e b EER (H8) 0.0191
SO, emissions (tonnes) ma b HER (B8) 0.0005
PM emissions (tonnes) SERIHERY (WE) 0.0014

Compared to the Previous Year, the air emissions (NO,, SO, and PM) have
increased, mainly due to the total number of vehicles owned by the Group
increased through the acquisition of networking cables business in the
Review Year. In fact, the air emissions per vehicle have slightly decreased
in the Review Year.

In respect of reducing the NO,, SO, and PM emissions, the Group is
committed to reducing and ensuring the efficient usage of private cars by
implementing the following environmental friendly measures: (i) encourage
the use of public transport; (ii) utilise the vehicle usage by carpooling with
different staff; (iii) avoid peak hour traffic; and (iv) encourage the use of
bicycle.

During the Review Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the environmental laws and regulations in respect of
emissions in the course of operation and vehicle usage.

B EFEMEL - ZRERY (8D e
e RFERIY)) BRATEN > ERANAERER
CIERFEWBERSREBER - AFEERE
RMEBBRTIEN - BER L - RIERFEESWSEN
ZERBEBIEINTER -

D BED ~ ALY KRR PE M
5 AKBEEAORED REREREMBALRK
B B Y BINRAE | ()SEERAL
BT E (NRPFAREEHELISHEE (i)
%%E’:\?&?@%ﬂéﬁﬁﬁﬂqﬁ s RivVBEERBTT

REBEFE > AEEFELEBRED NG HER
JH  WERREMENEREBFRYNER
BRERRIERNIER °
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GHG Emissions

During the course of operation, there are GHG emissions principally
resulting from the combustion of fuels in stationary sources (i.e. electric
generators), combustion of fuels in mobile source (i.e. private cars, light
goods vehicle and forklift), electricity consumed in the production facilities
in the PRC and aircraft navigation.

Scope 1 — Direct emissions
Due to the usage of private cars, light goods vehicle, forklift and generators,
a certain amount of GHG is emitted.

The Group strictly controls the emissions of GHG through the establishment
of a comprehensive data collection system and green approach guideline.
This system and guideline facilitate the Group to monitor the monthly
usage of all vehicles and maintain the efficiency at a prominent level.

Scope 2 - “Energy indirect” emissions

Apart from the direct emissions of PM and fumes, the Group has also
incurred indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2), principally generated from
electricity used in the production facilities in the PRC.

Scope 3 — Other indirect emissions
Other indirect GHG emissions of the Group are principally generated from
aircraft navigation during employees’ business trip.

Figure 4: Summary of GHG emissions

JBERAEHEL -
NEEBREPNEREREHFNEERFFRESE
TR (BN E#) FME R E ~ BRes 2R (BIRL
RE -~ KAEHELYVE) RN RE « RE4E
ERIEAFEEMMZEIRIE ©

1 - BN
AR ERALRE « KAEE « XERBESHA
EEETREREBM -

AEEBBRUAFAEBIRRERGRRFE

85| - BREREREIN - ZRGLIES]

_J?EHJJZIS;@E@E*% B ARTERENERER
W HEFFE R KFHIREK -

ERE2 - TEER BT BN
(R Y Y RIRRE B SN - AEETEE

FEn=REHKRY (& B%Z ) EERNAE
EERMEFTERAE

BUhE3 — ARG
AEENEMEEREREHRERRNES

NEFHMEZIKEREE -

B4 RERBEHIE

2020

co,

equwalent equivalent

emission emission

‘ —&1khx i (e

Types of GHG REREEHEE EEHM BEBIK

Scope 1 — Direct emissions (tonnes) #HE1 - B (HE) 214 86

Scope 2 — “Energy indirect” emissions (tonnes) #EE2 — TREIR I  BER (HR) 33,264 4,206

Scope 3 — Other indirect emissions (tonnes) #[E3 — HAthEEHEs (W8) 56 71

Total 5 33,534 4,363
Compared to the Previous Year, the GHG emissions have increased i FEFEAEL @ SBEREEHKBREEERN - =

significantly, mainly attributed by the production processes of the acquired
networking cables business which require intensive use of machinery and
therefore more electricity is consumed.

Noise Pollution

The Group engaged licensed third party to perform regular inspection at the
noise level to check whether the Group has complied with Measurement
of Physical Agents in Workplace Part 8: Noise (GBZ/T 189.8-2007). Various
checking points have been set at different parts in the production facilities
in the PRC. No material non-compliance has been found.

Even though the production facilities in the PRC recorded no significant
impact on noise pollution to the surrounding community, the Group always
commits to maintaining communication with the community nearby about
the potential noise issue. The Group provides appropriate protective gears
(such as earplug and etc.) to its workers in order to protect their hearing.

BE BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

DERNATBERABREFNEERREFK
EEMEM > BUEEERS °

IEE 5
AEEZEFENFE = TYHREKEETE
Bl IeEAEEREET(LIESAT
MEREZREESED ¢ ﬂ?ﬁé» GBZ/T 189.8-
2007 )o AREER PEILE BRI AR 2B 6
2o WERRRAMERERER -

EﬂﬁqﬂIEFQ%@E?&%%KL&EL&%ﬁﬂ*
FaRTE  AEBU-EZNNE TR
ERERINTH ERER - AEEETAR
gaggﬁji?ﬂﬁﬁﬁ##ﬁ(fﬁ@ﬂﬁ%%) DUREZETA
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Hazardous Waste and Non-Hazardous Waste Produced
The Group's production processes involved the following hazardous waste
produced:

Figure 5: Hazardous waste

B - BEEEY

Hazardous waste

EEEBEEYD

PELREZEREYREZERY

%%@E’Ji%i@ﬁ;‘i&%?ﬁﬁ%iﬁ’ﬂﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ

Mineral oil contaminated waste rags (tonnes)
Organic solvents contaminated waste rags

and used containers for chemical materials (LR AES (HR)
(tonnes)
Wire-drawing lubricants (tonnes) RiAEET (M)
Waste batteries (tonnes) EE=EE M (E)

With the impact from the acquisition of the networking cables business,
the production of mineral oil contaminated waste rags, organic solvents
contaminated waste rags and used containers for chemical materials,
waste batteries in the Review Year have increased as compared to the
Previous Year.

The Group is dedicated to proper management of the hazardous waste.
Specific area is assigned for the temporary storage of hazardous waste
for safety purpose. Licensed third party is engaged for the collection of
hazardous waste for proper handling.

Apart from that, the Group has also produced non-hazardous waste
during the course of production as follows:

Figure 6: Non-hazardous waste

&6 : BMEEZEY

EVD iS5 R BE AL (R
BB S BRI REER

2020
0.6800
1.6886
0.0097

FEEWBREEERELTRNEE » NOEF

EEEREY RS RERME  BEBEISR
BEERHLECBEEMHRSE  BESHLSE
EESE DM o

AEBRONBEETEEERREY  HERR

2 BTSSR FEERER - A

g}gﬁE’J%Eﬁﬁfé%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁwuﬁﬁi@?ﬁ
B o

Bt s AEBREEBRERTEELERST
FEZY) - BT

2021 2020

Intensity per Intensity per

Quantity  total floor area Quantity total floor area

REEREmE REAREER

Non-hazardous waste BEEEY g e #s e
Industrial wastes TEEEY

Metal, iron, plastic, waste wires, etc. (tonnes) S8 84 EB  BREW) 1,916.67 (I EE] 81.34 0.0011

Waste woven bags and pallets (pieces) BERBRNFR () 16,761.00 0.1165 NARER' NARGER'

Cardboards (tonnes) e () 129.62 0.0009 32.56 0.0004

Used A3 and A4 papers (reams) EERNASRAME (D) 3,941 0.0274 2,118 0.0293

Used toner cartridges (pieces) EERNTHE (1) 835 0.0058 333 0.0046

Used paper towels (boxes/rolls) EERNED(8/%) 56,619 0.3936 37,534 05185

Note 1: The figures of 2020 are not available.

Compared to the Previous Year, both the total amount and intensity of
industrial wastes produced in the Review Year has increased significantly.
One of the main factors is that the acquired networking cables business
generates more metal scrap in the production processes.

In addition to reducing the hazardous waste, the Group also strives to
eliminate the non-hazardous waste, such as the usage of papers, printing
toners as well as paper towels. Compared to the Previous Year, the
intensity per total floor area of the above items remains relatively stable
which, the Group believes, is the contribution from the implementation of
the waste monitoring procedures.

MET - MRS _SFNEE -

B EFEML - PBRFEEEEN T XERYLR
ERBEHBRERLN > ETRRREZ—HATK

BB EBEEDI  AEE TR E
TEERY) - ke ~ EIRIEA RARMAYER -
B FEMAL - RIFQEEmMSEE LAIAR
MZERBERRE - ARERABEENE
EMEZRER
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Use of Resources

The Group adheres to the concept of energy conservation and emissions
reduction for green production. The major resources consumed by the
Group are principally attributed to electricity and water used in the PRC
production facilities. The Group commits to achieving low-carbon practices
and emissions reduction throughout its production and operations, and
striving to save the resources.

The Group records and analyses the monthly consumption rate of water
regularly. After identifying the causes of high rates of water consumption,
the Group will take remedial action to minimise water use. Figure 7 shows
the monthly water consumption:

Figure 7: Water consumption by month
E7: BA#KE

&R{EH

AEERFHEBIINEDS > BRECLEE -
AEBE I RRANERRTEREERIGATH
NBNK - KEERNADELEENKEEHER
B TRMESE - WHEER -

AEEERTHLDTEBHFEKE - REHE
FEREMRRR  AEBRRIEKITE - U
BDRK - B7ERERFEKE

Water consumption (cubic metres)
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2021 Water consumption
SR -FHKE

The total water consumption in cubic metres by region during the Review
Year is shown in the table below:

Figure 8: Water consumption by region
[E8 : RHEE P AIFEKE

NR HhABR +A +—A+=A —A

Feb  Mar
—A =

Dec Jan

2020 Water consumption
SERoBEEKE

REBEE - Zthes 2R KE (Z77K)
E0iNIE

Water consumption FEkE 2020
PRC I

Water consumption (cubic metres) FKkE (1K) 170,762
Intensity per total floor area (cubic metres) RBAEEmMETENZE (25 XK) 2.36

Compared to the Previous Year, the intensity of water consumption per
total floor area remains relatively stable. The Group will keep using the
current monitoring mechanism to ensure sustainable water consumption.

BE BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

B EFREMAL - RIEGBEMETERIFEKE
ZEMNERRE - AREMSBERAERTH
ESH  DUBERAZKRYATFFENE -
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To identify energy saving opportunities, the Group measures and records
the energy consumption level regularly. The total energy consumption by
type and region is shown in the table below:

F

ure 9: Direct and/or indirect ener

T SAER R B D ISR oA BN A

R EIRERM - AEEEET B NACEEER
%ﬁfégé$ AR R BB DRI RETROB AR

consumption by type and region

2021 2020

Intensity per Intensity per

Energy total floor Energy total floor

consumption CICEM consumption area

RIE RIE

MR EmE REEEAEE

Energy consumption BEIRHAE REFHEE FEMNEE Ao ko
PRC 8

Non-renewable fuel (kWh) AL (TRE) 810,383 HEN  NARER? NARER?

Renewable energy (kWh) AEARER (TRA) 3,637,646 25.29 - -

Purchase of energy (kWh) BERR (TRF) 41,082,714 285.58 5,027,006 69.44

Total st 45,530,743 316.50 5,027,006 69.44

Note 2: The figures of 2020 are not available.

Compared to the Previous Year, the total consumption from purchase of
energy has risen significantly and the intensity per total floor area has
increased from 69.44kWh to 285.58kWh, primary due to the newly
acquired networking cables business has automated production lines and
intensively uses machinery during production processes.

The Group determines to maximise energy conservation throughout its
production by promoting efficient use of energy and adopting green
technologies including the following measures:

A water recycling system (see Figure 10) is installed in Linkz Ind (Suzhou)
to cool down the heat water generated in the course of production
by nature air. Less electricity is consumed as compared to using the
traditional method, i.e. cooling tower, and large volume of water is
saved by reusing the cooling water in the production process.

Sky windows (see Figure 11) are installed in Linkz Ind (Suzhou) to save
electricity in lighting during day time.

High Volume Low Speed energy saving ceiling fans (see Figure 12)
are installed in Linkz Ind (Suzhou) to increase airflow and reduce
condensation as well as airborne pollutants.

Energy saving non-polluting water curtain is installed in Linkz Ind
(Suzhou) and Linkz (Shanghai) to increase the air humidity as well as
purify the dust and particles carried by the outside air.

Frequency conversion air compressors are installed to reduce electricity
consumption.

Renewable energy is purchased from a solar energy company with
solar photovoltaic system installed in Linkz Ind (Suzhou) (see Figure 13).

Upgrade machinery and equipment such as purchasing electrical
appliances with high energy efficiency label and using LED lighting in
order to accelerate energy efficiency.

BfsE2 -

WHETS T DENEE

B FFEAL  REBERRNEHESEE
EF - MR EREREEBTENRERHG.44
TR EFE285 58T RFF - EEHPIHBE
ML EREBEENMLEER  TREER
RS -

AEBRBHETUNAER TP EERIFEE
EREFEMEHIER - HiT -

o FEATHGEIMN) CLEXKBERELK(RE
10) IZERAMEEEBREREANE
7K o FEY{E AL TR (B ANE ) SHFER
DEH  MBBREREEBRERASLAIK
Bl SIEARERAK °

. $L1¥(§$JII)E$( KRB (RE11)
BHENRERE

o FEATE GG EREEBHERKRAEME
Hb%ﬁ(%lu) LU nze S 71 /JjZ/J\
ﬁ&ﬁhéﬁ,/ﬁ %

o M T FRN) LRERER(LE) ERi
ERERYEESS K ER - LUBIIZ RIRE KF
e SN R AR I R KL

o RREBBTRBHRBLIBEEE -

o HKRGEENTRAME  RERATEGM) X
ERGRENREAS  THHBESJHEERE
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HIEENE R N EALEDRA - LUESEER
IR ©

#F E# % 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (conTD)
RS s HEREAREE @)

Figure 10: Water recycling system Figure 11: Sky windows at Linkz Ind (Suzhou)
E10 : KIBIRFRH 11 EFRIE (EMN) XS

Figure 12: High Volume Low Speed ceiling fans Figure 13: Solar photovoltaic system
E12 : 1@EEARERR 13 : KRR Rk

The Group has also used various packaging materials for its operation. ~ AEENHNEERREDERASEBEME - 1
During the Review Year, the Group recorded the following packaging [EIEEERE > AEERTHEUTEBEMEEE ¢
materials usage:

ure 14: Packaging materials usage
14 BERMHAE

Packaging materials BLEEMF 2021 2020
Paper cartons (pieces) 45 (45) 3,067,507 938,444
Plastic bags (pieces) IBRILR (1) P LN EAWAERN 21,932,607

Cable reels (pieces) 4R () 1,395,855 193,378
Total et SOGEEREON 23,064,429

The Group is dedicated to minimise the usage of packaging materials. It AEERINBEREBEMIERE - 2%
is the Group'’s practice to implement production planning in a timely basis ~ ERIEFI 2B EREEE - WHARELE
to assess the approximate amount of packaging materials needed before ~ ZBIFHEFTBEEMRNBESE -

mass production.

- [E 2 R4 B IR/ & TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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The Environment and Natural Resources

To develop a green approach, minimise environmental impact and natural
resources consumption, the Group has adopted a heat recovery system to
recover the residual heat from the air compressor to heat up the water supply
in dormitory. Besides, the Group has also developed and implemented
a management software to move forward to paperless operation in the
production line. Video and phone conferences are encouraged to minimise
carbon footprint created by business-related travel.

As a socially responsible enterprise, protecting the environment has
become an integral part of the Group’s corporate culture and important
value. The Group constantly looks for ways to maximise benefits with
minimal resource consumption and environmental impact, and continue
to strive for sustainable development.

During the Review Year, the Linkz Ind (Suzhou) has achieved 1SO14064
accreditation on environmental control, being the first wire and cable
company in Asia to receive the Greenhouse Gas verification from UL.
This fully reflects the Group’s unremitting efforts in strengthening
environmental protection.

The Group has set up an environmental system management task force
as part of its effort to develop an environmental management system that
supports sustainable development, and has obtained the certification of
ISO14001 Environmental Management Systems.

In order to promote reduction of waste generation, the Group has
launched internal “DIY Upcycling Design Contest”.

Climate Change

Climate change is one of the most critical and complicated challenges
faced globally in the new century. Global warming leads to more
frequent extreme weather conditions including changes in precipitation
mode, droughts, floods and bushfires. Rise in sea level will make tens of
thousands of people in densely populated coastal areas and island countries
homeless. Faced with all sorts of natural disaster, individuals, corporations
and governments must take immediate actions to tackle climate change.

Over-emission of greenhouse gases is the main factor in causing global
climate change. To achieving a low carbon economy, the Group is
committed to reducing its greenhouse gas emissions through the
approaches of mitigation and adaptation. For example, the Group has
strived to mitigate the risks brought by climate change through the
adoption of various environmental policies and measures; and promoting
energy saving practices. The Group has also considered potential physical
risks of climate change to its daily operations such as storms, fires or
heatwaves and implemented the relevant protection measures to minimise
the risks.

Moving forward, the Group will continue to implement proactive measures
that minimise any adverse impacts on the environment including reducing
emissions in its operations, engaging suppliers to reduce emissions in
supply chain, strengthening the resilience of its business and advocating
for collective action.
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Employment

Human capital is the most valuable asset of an enterprise and also the
cornerstone for sustaining corporate development and enhancing
competitive advantages. It is the Group'’s initiative to attract, retain and
develop quality talents through various human resources strategies and
tactics, e.g. efficient recruitment and selection, fair and competitive
remuneration and benefits, effective performance management, systematic
staff development and training, holistic health and safety management,
etc. The Group always reviews its human resources policies and practices
in order to maintain its competition and attractiveness in the job market as
well as ensure sufficient human capital for the Group'’s sustainable growth.

Being a corporate citizen caring for the employees, the Group also takes
care of its employees’ children and assist in fostering young talents for the
community. The Group offers the Employee Children Scholarship Program
to employees’ children who are taking full-time bachelor degree at
reputable university. 16 staff of the Group were awarded this scholarship
in the Review Year.

The Group aims to refrain from any form of harassment and discrimination
with respect to age, gender, race, nationality, religion, marital status or
disability in the workplace. Hence, the ratio of male to female employees
show that gender inequality does not exist.

The Group always strictly observes the relevant legislations in the
PRC and Hong Kong regarding the equal employment opportunities,
child labour and forced labour. The Group abides by the employment
regulations, relevant policies and guidance of the jurisdictions where it
operates, including the “Employment Ordinance”, and the “Employees’
Compensation Ordinance” in Hong Kong; the “Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China” and the “Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China” in the PRC.

The Group has also developed rigorous and systematic measures for
recruitment and selection to prevent itself from illegally hiring child labour
and ensure that the employment is in compliance with relevant laws and
regulations. Furthermore, The Group has its human resources information
system to record employees’ information in order to review employment
practices systematically and regularly.

Huizhou TIME offers shuttle service that takes employees between the
public transit hubs and their workplaces. The shuttle service helps attracting
more new hires, and encourages friendship building with other colleagues
and creates a sense of belongings. Moreover, the Group organises regular
birthday parties and recreation activities.

The Group also strives to establish harmonious labour relationships, create
a happy working environment, promote a positive and healthy lifestyle,
and strengthen the sense of belongings. As such, the headquarters in Hong
Kong has participated the Good Employer Charter program of the Labour
Department, and has been awarded the certificate of “Good Employer
Charter” (See Figure 15). In the past years, the Group has been recognised
as “Happy Company” (See Figure 16) by the Hong Kong Productivity
Council and the Promoting Happiness Index Foundation. Moreover, the
Group has been granted the “Good MPF Employer” award (See Figure 17)
by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority.
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Figure 15: Certificate of Good Employer Charter
E15: THFEENE, BE

BRTIHEMAE

TIME Intisrcanmect Limited

DOV R N A SRS SR L RN
WA TR R T AR
g g ol i Ll gt it YO0

Wl 1R

P 4 et § s

T2 Bapmamumy i putbpetaret b e e s iy G Sl g
P b a1 M 14 5 R ] FeaT L

£

Figure 16: Certificate of Happy Company
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During the Review Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with the labour requirements set out in relevant laws,
regulations and standards.
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Figure 17: Certificate of Good MPF Employer
E17: "HEEFEE. BE

Time Interconnect Limited
ERImaEEE

I hnesiieed a5 4 WiTR

Good MPF Employer
TREERE.

drtl pewdsnad with B8 E
MEF Suppost dward T EEBRES

J.u. t. h.-'h?-' e T.O% .zf..:

—— e
e — 5

T Ty e e e ey Y
5Jlirf¥i§jl

REBFE > AEEVERREMERERNA
BAZ5 DEPIER RAERIRRTE -

#F E# % 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (conTD)

RS s HEREAREE @)

Figure 18: Employment
E18 : f&fE

Total number of employees and workforce structure as at 31 March 2021

RIEZ—F=RA=+—HBNEERABRERSHNEE

2021 2020
Number of Total Ratio of male Ratio of male
employees  numberof  to female to female
Age<30  Age30-50 Age>50  bygender employees  employees  employees
RERIBIN -5 F°FE
Gender 451 <308 30-505% > 50 EEAE ([EEEAY FxEELN BLESHH
PRC HE
Male St 440 718 46 1204 , ,
Female 1t 352 908 2 1.262 2,466 0.35:1 0.731
Hong Kong &E
Male Bt 1 15 16 32 ) ,
Female gy - 10 " 21 53 1521 175
Total #azt
Male St a1 733 62 1,236 . )
Female ft 35 918 13 1283 2519 0.96: 0741
793 1,651 75 2,519
Number of employees left in the Review Year
REEFEEREEREIAH
Employee Total 2021 2020
turnover ~ employee  Employee Employee
Age<30  Age30-50 Age>50 by gender turnover turnover rate  turnover rate
RIERIBIAE Eg C—B--& _"%°%
Gender 5] <308 30-507% >505 EBEREXAE HERXAY EERXE EERAX
PRC HE
Male Bt 652 366 17 1,035
Female ftt 456 459 30 95 1,980 80% 0%
Hong Kong &E
Male St 2 - 1 3
Female gy - 2 - 2 5 o 9%
Total 185t
Male Bt 654 366 18 1,038
Female 1ot 456 461 30 947 1,985 % 7%
1,110 827 48 1,985
Health and Safety BREZE
The headquarters in Hong Kong is equipped with fire-fighting facilities, &&EEEECEHB R (PIZNR A LS ~ EFE

e.g. fire extinguishers, smoke detectors and etc., and participated in the
fire drill organised by the Hong Kong Science Park regularly.

The Group strongly believes that ensuring a stable and safe production
environment is the most important social responsibility to its stakeholders
and also one of the major priorities in its corporate management. The
health and safety measures listed below are some examples already taken

in place within the Group:

e Sophisticated occupational health and safety management systems
have been established in the production facilities in the PRC;
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e Canopies and other protection devices have been installed to ensure
the safe operation of machinery and equipment in the production
facilities;

e Exhaust air treatment system (see Figure 19) has been installed in
Linkz Ind (Suzhou) to eliminate volatile organic compounds emissions
generated during production processes;

e Trainings on fire safety and fire drills are organised at both of the
headquarters in Hong Kong and the production facilities in the PRC.

Figure 19: Exhaust air treatment system

E19 | TREBREERLR

Also, the Group assigned relevant department to inspect daily operations
by the established risk assessment program which consists of a series of
steps such as risk identification, analysis, evaluation, treatment, monitoring
and reviewing and thus non-compliance will be identified and rectified
timely.

To deal with the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group has set up an
emergency response team at the headquarters in Hong Kong to arrange
more frequent and intensive cleaning and disinfection in the office
starting from the early 2020. Also, the Group has implemented several
measures including but not limited to request colleagues to wear masks in
workplace and offer sanitiser to staff for daily use in order to minimise the
risk of spreading the virus. In addition, the Group has frequently provided
health education material and tips to staff to enhance their awareness of
preventing COVID-19. During the outbreak of COVID-19, colleagues of the
headquarters in Hong Kong were arranged to take turns on working from
home and adopt flexible lunch hour until early 2021 when the confirmed
cases has declined steadily in Hong Kong.

For the production facilities in the PRC, several procedures and practices
have been implemented, such as requesting employees to wear masks
in workplace, dine in batches in the canteen, take body temperature
checking before entering the production facilities (see Figure 20), conduct
COVID-19 nucleic acid test when employees returned from other city.
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Figure 20: Body temperature taking before entering the production facilities

E20 : REAEERMERETRREH

The PRC Government advocated people staying locally in the Lunar New
Year to minimise the risk of pandemic reoccurrence in the country. In
response to the Government instructions, the production facilities in the
PRC strongly encouraged employees to stay in the factory by offering
incentive and organising various recreation activities, e.g. lucky draw,
leisure classes, ball games and etc., during the Lunar New Year. All activities
are conducted in small groups so as to maintain social distance and prevent
the spreading of virus. As a result, the measures have successfully attracted
majority of staff to stay in the factory in the last Lunar New Year.

During the Review Year, the Group has encouraged staff in Hong Kong
to participate webinars held by the Occupational Safety & Health Council
to enhance health awareness. The Group also organised a Workplace
Safety & Health Slogan Design Competition, encouraging staff members
to create catchy slogans, as to strengthen the promotion of awareness of
health and safety at work.

The Group makes every effort to create a healthy, safe, stable and
harmonised working environment effectively. Every case of injury (if any) is
required to be reported to the Human Resources Department immediately
and be assessed under internal guidelines. The Group is pleased to report
that the rate of accidents and injuries during the Review Year was extremely
low with zero fatal accident.

During the Review Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the health and safety laws and regulations.

Figure 21: Health and safety
E21: BERRE
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Development and Training

The Group recognises the importance of skilled and professionally trained
employees to its business growth and future success. Therefore, the Group
encourages employees to participate in personal development and job-
related training courses. During the Review Year, the Group formulated
quality management and environment management training programs to
update the staff with the latest standard of ISO9001, 1ISO14001 and etc, in
order to maintain the highest standard of professionalism by the employees.
Trainings organised in the Review Year include quality assurance training
in production processes, inspection assurance of materials received from
supplier, health and safety precautions in using production equipment and
machinery as well as customer relationship management.

In daily operations, the Group provides induction training for new employees
and experienced employees act as mentors to guide new recruits. The
Group believes such arrangement can facilitate communication and team
spirit, improve technical skills and managerial capability, encourage the
learning and further development of employees at all levels.

The Group also provides relevant training to develop and enhance the
employees in all management aspects, e.g. communication skills, team
building and motivation, meeting skills and etc., to train them as the
potential leaders and successors for the management team.

The Group will continue to intensify its efforts to promote and develop staff
training programs. It believes that by means of offering comprehensive
training opportunities, it could help to provide sufficient talent capital for
corporate development. The Group annually evaluates the training needs
to ensure that employees are provided with suitable and appropriate
training according to their job nature, position, required and potential
competences for further development.

Figure 22: Development and training
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Percentage of employees trained in the Review Year
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2021 2020

Percentage Overall Overall

of percentage percentage

Supervisors employees of of

Managers and general trained by employees  employees

or above? staff? Workers? gender? trained* trained*

miupE Sy —T-—F T_FHF

M=ZiES ZilES ZillfEE

FER—MR Firi& Firt At

Gender 1451 T k2 Eg? TA3 Hok EEERS BEFoL

Male St 2 7 41 50

Female it 1 4 45 50 85 /3
Note 3: Percentage of employees trained in the specified category = Number of employees in iEE3 : BHEBERNZIEEMEESL = REBEE -

the specified category who took part in training/Total number of employees who took
part in training during the Review Year x 100
Note 4: Overall percentage of employees trained = Total number of employees who took part
in training/Total number of employees during the year x 100
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Average training hours completed per employee in the Review Year

REBFESEES ST IR TR

2021 2020
Average Overall Overall
Supervisors training average average
Managers and general hours by training training
or above® staff > Workers® gender® hours® hours®
mitRIES —E-—F —®_=4
- TER T BEATH  RETY
Gender 4R sl s —MESS TAS BEES  IERleREES IEOIITES
Male =T e 10 20 25 23 24 207
Female peyic 11 16 25 24
Overall w®ae 10 18 25
Note 5: Overall average training hours in the specified category = Number of training hours of Mzt @ S EMERIRVEREE TS = NEEEE - %
the specified category/Total number of employees under the specified category during EARIMIEIE S IS AR ES A AR
the Review Year.
Note 6: Average training hours per employee = Total number of training hours/Total number ffizt6 : SREERFHEINFE = RZEE » @
of employees during the year. g BEEAH
Note 7: The Group has adopted a different calculation method during the Review Year. — [iEt7 : EA@EEQ’Z)# AEEFBAARFESE - Ay

Therefore, the figure of 2020 has been adjusted in order to be comparable.

Figure 23: Leadership Skill Training
@23 : FEFRIGE
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Supply Chain Management

Optical fibres, copper wires and connectors; copper and plastic are major
materials used by the production facilities in the cable assembly and
networking cables manufacturing respectively.

The Group implements supplier management in accordance with internal
guidance which governs the engagement of suppliers. Suppliers are chosen
subjecting to comprehensive screening and evaluation procedures, not only
based on the quality and price, but also field visits and investigations to
ensure suppliers’ capability in quality assurance, safety and environmental
responsibility. The investigation reviews all the measures related to
production capacity, technology level, quality assurance capabilities, supply
capacity, safety and environmental management qualifications, and social
responsibility. Only highly qualified suppliers complied with regulatory
requirements are eligible for the selection of supplier by the Group. The
Group also conducts regular assessment on suppliers’ overall capabilities,
assets position, nature of business, reputation in the industry, quality of
products, goods delivery and compliance with laws and regulations.

The Group has obtained Quality Management System Certification
(ISO9001) and Automotive Quality Management System (IATF16949) that
are formulated by the International Organisation for Standardisation (ISO)
and International Automotive Task Force (IATF) respectively. The Group
emphasises defect prevention and reduction of variation and waste in the
supply chain and strictly requires employees to comply with the quality
management policies to provide continual improvement.
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As customers are becoming more concerned about environmental issues
and the importance of using environmentally friendly materials. As a
corporate citizen, the Group will continue to communicate and stress the
importance of environmental issues to its suppliers. The Group aims at
strengthening the cooperation with suppliers, collaborating with them in
product trials and producing socially responsible products.

Each supplier and subcontractor would be reviewed after completion of
their contracts. In case of major non-performance of approved supplier
or subcontractor, the Group will review their suitability to remain on the
approved supplier list.

The number of critical suppliers of major direct materials by region during
the Review Year is as follows:

Figure 24: Number of critical suppliers
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Note 8: The figures in 2020 are not available.

Product Responsibility

The Group is committed to pursuing product and service of high quality by
implementing stringent and comprehensive quality control procedures. The
Group has formulated quality control manual throughout the production
processes from purchase of raw materials to product packaging. Raw
materials are inspected to ensure the quality and in a good condition
before proceeding to production to minimise possible disruptions during
the operation.

Huizhou TIME has obtained the I1SO13485 Quality Management System
— Medical Devices that consistently meets customer requirements and
regulatory requirements applicable to medical devices and related services.
Annual testing has been performed by the licensed third party to ensure
Huizhou TIME has complied with the relevant requirements.

There were no substantiated complaints received relating to the provision
and use of products and services that have a significant impact on the
Group's operations. The number of defective products produced by the
Group was minimal and complaints by customers in respect of defective
products were insignificant.

Protection of Intellectual Property Right And Consumer
Privacy

The Group recognises the importance of the protection over intellectual
property right and consumer privacy. Proper licences for software
and information are obtained by the Group before used in its business
operation.

Meanwhile, the Group handles all information provided by clients, business
partners and employees in accordance with non-disclosure agreement,
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and related laws and regulations to
ensure those information is under proper protection.
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Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to maintaining the integrity of its corporate
culture. Employees are not allowed to solicit or accept any advantages.
The Group sets out the relevant policies in the staff handbook and guides
the employees to abide by the code of conduct which provides a clear
definition on the provision and acceptance of interests, such as gifts and
souvenirs, and ways to deal with conflicts of interest.

Directors and employees are required to make a declaration to the
management through the reporting channels when actual or potential
conflicts of interest arise. Employees cannot receive any gifts from any
external parties (e.g. customers, suppliers, contractors, etc.) unless
prior approval is obtained from the management. A training program,
collaborated with the Hong Kong ICAC, to enhance vigilance of senior
management and frontline staff to the problem of corruption originally
planned in the Review Year has been postponed due to the outbreak of
COVID-19. The Group plans to organise the training once the COVID-19
is under control.

To show the unwavering commitment to anti-corruption, the Group has
adopted an “Integrity and Honesty Management System”. Suppliers are
required to sign an Undertaking of Integrity before entering contractual
relationship. The Group also regularly delivers the message to all its
suppliers to reiterate the integrity and honesty business philosophy and
secure the alignment with the Group for fair procurement.

The Group has whistle-blowing procedures in effect, encouraging
employees and all other stakeholders to report directly to the chairman of
the Audit Committee about any misconduct and dishonest behaviour, such
as bribery, fraud and other offences. Furthermore, it is specified in the staff
handbook that the Group is entitled to terminate the employment contract
with any employee who is bribed with money, gifts or commission, etc.,
and reserves the right to take further legal actions.

During the Review Year, the Group has complied with the relevant laws
and regulations regarding anti-corruption and money-laundering and has
no legal case regarding corrupted practices brought against the issuer or
its employees.

Community Investment

The Group is committed to creating sustainable prosperity that brings
long-term social and economic benefits to all stakeholders, particularly
to maintain the relationship with interest groups which are relevant to
business operation.

The Group has been actively promoting strategic partnerships among
business and social service partners, encouraging employees to participate
in in-house and external community activities and fostering corporate
social responsibility through caring for the community, employees and the
environment.

During the Review Year, the Group supported Junior Chamber International
Hong Kong, a leadership development organisation in Hong Kong, as its
one of the corporate sponsors. In addition, the Group has also participated
in various charity activities, including the “Skip Lunch Day 2021" of the
Community Chest and “World Sight Day 2020" of ORBIS Hong Kong (see
Figure 25), in order to create shared value for the community.
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Figure 25: “World Sight Day 2020”
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The Group has been granted the following awards from various parties as
the recognition of its efforts in fulfilling social responsibility:

e The 10 Years* Caring Company” logo by The Hong Kong Council of
Social Service (See Figure 26);

e The “Social Capital Builder Logo Award” by Community Investment &  ®
Inclusion Fund, Labour and Welfare Bureau (See Figure 27); and

e The “Industry Cares” Award presented by the Federation of Hong ®
Kong Industries (See Figure 28).

Figure 26: 10 Years* Caring
Company

E26 : 105 B RS

Figure 27: Social Capital Builder
Logo Award

E27 : it EEREHIFE

Figure 28: The Industry Cares
[E28 : THEBED
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UNITED NATIONS SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
GOALS

The Group has integrated its sustainability strategies into the initiative of
United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (“SDG") and identified 6
key SDGs that are highly relevant to its business operations. Substantial

BEBEFERRAE

AEBEEHE TR ETRAN RN SE TS E
SEEE(UFERREE) B0, B
EREEY SRR A B N6 E T E A

BRER, WRHRAEERE -

efforts are put to resolve the related issues.

[ECENT WO ANO
ECTINOME [ROWTH

00 AT
L0 'WELL BENG

euny MR
[DRCLIN DALY

SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT

GOALS

1 :'I PAATMERSHIPS

13 i‘i.':] 14 :‘:’ L] FOR THE GIALS

10 i
1=

-

o

Goal Potential impact The Group's status Future direction
Bz BlETE AEERR REKF5[E

e Provide and
maintain a safe
and healthy work
environment
RO — %
2EEMNITIFRERE

e Establish an
effective workplace
safety culture

In order to promote occupational health and Strengthen internal
safety, the Group has launched internal “Workplace promotion on high
Health & Safety slogan design competition” standards of workplace
REEBEEELARSE  AEERIERT "I/ health & safety
BATREEN L 2RRERTHE, N =R E TIEGATRE

, BRER2HINEHE
Due to the outbreak of COVID-19, instead of
organising health workshop at noon like the
Previous Year, the headquarters in Hong Kong has
encouraged employees to attend related webinars

GOOD HEALTH
AND WELL-BEING

Good Health and

Well-being A o \
= ERABNIAFS  in the office
REMREREL  mrav( RIfE201 9T E RGNS - TERTHESE
MAE2UEEE T E - MR EFE—&
. |F’;omcl)te healthy  SBITHRERERIIEH

ifestyles
EBE#ENESET  During the Review Year, in supporting Junior
¥ Chamber International local chapters to response

the negative social impact of pandemic, the Group
has sponsored the following programs:
REBEE - A FEESTEENSEHEE
HRNEMLERE  AEEEE YLITEREE -

e "Together We Care 2020" of JCI Kowloon
NEBEFEE - B0 » EE2020,

e "O! Love Sen Phone"” of JCl Island
BEBFEES  "BEALAR  EEEE,

e "Be Healthy, Act Healthy” of JCI Peninsula
EEEFEMD - TEBRALAL - SEE o 75

e “Love In Time" of JCI Lion Rock
MFLEERSE - "B « RAIAL

e “Circle Care 2020: Me Time" of JCI Bauhinia
%ﬁg%fﬁ%*% P TEOLEFRF2020 ¢ F e BN
H\ \/J

e “Family Harmony 2020: Fun to Cook, Safe to
Eat” of JCI East Kowloon o
RNESFES | M2020FEREMZ - BT

HFEARETHE,

e “Love of The Earth 2020" of JCI Shatin
WHBERE | A#MEI52020 "IN ERIZESR

e "Lovemoji” of JCI Queenswa
rEmTFEg 'BTREH

BE BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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The Group's status

REEARRT

Future direction

RERF[E

Goal Potential impact
Bi% BarE
Offer training
gllljﬁtlilATTYIUN programs and/or other

tuition fee subsidy

H to all employees and
encourage life-long
learning

A EEREERAEIR
R SREAMEERIE

lity Educati 1
%\u%%{% ucation AL W EKRESEE

The Group advocates the culture of lifelong
learning, and provides tuition fee subsidy for
employees and scholarship program for all
applicable employees’ children
AEEREREEENXL » UnESIRMAER
Ej]%iiiﬂﬁ&%ﬁﬁﬁé%@ﬁ%E’\J?rﬁ?%ﬁi\’ﬁ_%ﬁﬁ
2

During the Review Year, the Group has sponsored
the following programs:

REBFE - AEEE T LUTES -

e "Youth Can Code: SDG Asia Innotech
Challenge 2020 of JCI Dragon
[BEEEERE " 24/NRRNERETBHIA

e “29th Hong Kong Silver Tongue Contest” of
JCI North District
HtEEFHE  "F T NESESOELE

* “Children Play Rights 2020" of JCI Tsuen Wan
E2ESFHE  TREBEEERN2020

Encourage and support
employees to improve
their technical and
vocational skills and
professional knowledge
SR R E B iR T
SR 2R e LA

Offer career
DECENT WORK AND [
T oPportunities and

assist in the economic
development of local
communities

R RS - Wi
B BB RRE

i

Decent Work and

Economic Growth
B TIEMEIE
=

The Group has formulated an equality policy

to avoid discrimination based on gender, age,
disability, family, nationality and religion; and
prohibits all forced labour, such as child labour,
modern slavery, and human trafficking in order to
protect labour rights and promote safe and secure
working environments for all employees
AEECHIETEFEER @ LUBRERMR « 4F
B~ BE o FKE  BELRBRIRAE 0 DIREE
IEFTERGIZS T - flinET ~ HREREREA
0 DURES TRERLAMEEEREZ2NT
TRERIR

During the Review Year, the Group has sponsored
the following programs:

REEEFE - AEEETLUTES -

e “Care & Dare 2020: Period Love"” of JCI Hong
Kong Jayceettes

ERLSEES 72020 ARAE,

e “The 14th Young Leaders Series” of JCI
Harbour
BESFERE TR THETFEMRS,

e "Flipping Dream” of JCI Tai Ping Shan
AFIUSERE - "8 « 8
P18 R 5 218/

* “Corporate Clinic .C.E."” of JCI Apex
ZEEFEE  TEDMe I3,

Provide employment and
business opportunities

to a wide range of
stakeholders and indirect
build wealth in local
community
RERFMERERER
FXERE  WAEBHHE
MEREYE

#F E# % 2021 ANNUAL REPORT
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Goal Potential impact
Bi% BlExE

The Group's status

AL

Future direction

RERF5[E

Ensure the sustainable
use and management
of resources
BRERNAFEFR
EBEWER

RESPONSIBLE
CONSUMPTION
ANDPRODUCTION

12

O

Responsible
Consumption and
Production

BEEHENEE

The Group has already developed the Sustainability
Policy which supports green manufacturing and
applies innovative production technology
AEEDHIEARERRICR - UXFHEEE
KRR E i

In order to promote reduction of waste generation,
the Group has launched internal “DIY Upcycling
Design Contest”

RARERADELEBERY)  AEERANEERT &
TYEDIY , EMBCELLE

During the Review Year, a colleague from the
headquarters in Hong Kong was invited by JCI
Apex to conduct two webinars, for VNSAA St.
Hilary’s School, as to let participating students
understand how individuals can contribute to the
achievement of the UNSDG

REBFE @ BREFHIREG T BN —
R EREMBEEREM TSR S
FE2HENEL Y RE AN ARBEEBSE A FE
ZRAZMFHER

The Group has also sponsored the “Eat All, Can
You?" program of JCI City \
AEETED THHEERS  "RYAEISIET

|

Facilitate employee
participation in the
promotion of sustainable
development through
various means
ZBARIEE - HEEE
2 DESAFERR

Monitor and reduce
the CO, emissions and
waste water discharge
generated from the
use of resources and
product manufacturing
BEERBOEERER
REREEBEREL
HY bl K57k HR IR

CLIMATE
ACTION

13

<

Climate Action

RARITED

The Group has established an internal monitoring
program to closely monitor the emissions of
hazardous waste

REECHIENMEETE  BUEEAEREE
YHIBEI

During the Review Year, the Group’s wholly
owned subsidiary Linkz Ind (Suzhou) has achieved
ISO14064 Greenhouse Gas verification from UL.

RERBEE - AEE2EWBAT IR T EM)

EEABULINISO140648 =R 2B -

The headquarters in Hong Kong has arranged a

visit to Secure Information Disposal Services Limited

and Mil Mill.
EBEERISBENME RERRAT RN
1 o

Explore other means to
contribute more to the
environment and strive to
facilitate the building of
a healthy and sustainable
society in the future
FREMBELINGARHIR
R E R B (e (R B
KA g RAR B =

BE BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (conT'D)
RIE - HEREARE )

Goal Potential impact The Group's status Future direction
Bi% BarE AEER RRF5[E
Partner with non- The Group has established strategic partnership Strengthen cooperation
1 Fpggmﬁ;s&":g profit organisations to  with non-profit organisations to create shared with non-profit
contribute to the local  value for the betterment of community organisations and
community AEETHIEE R MBI B EER - B explore more community
BIFERHIESFRE StRAER=ER investment projects that
it EEH SR can help creating shared
During the Review Year, the Group has participated value
Partnerships for in/sponsored the following programs: INERREl P Zht e
the goals REEEE @ AEE2E BHTUTES:  {F UREESALER
(R BB FEENHEKREIRE
PEERIR o e “World Sight Day 2020" of the Orbis

BEEbHT - M REER2020,

e “SDG Share Love. Love Sharing — SDG
Enterprise Awards 2020" of JCI Victoria
MENDEFHE : 'DFEE « BHE— SDG
BSEREE2020,

e “2020 Hong Kong Professional Elite Ladies
Selection” of JCI City Lady
B EFEEE | TRBR R EE RS
2020

* "Long March” of JCI Ocean
EFEFERE  UNEERRIE,

e “Skip Lunch Day 2021" of the Community
Chest
N - TARITE s ®E2021

e “Earth Hour 2021" of WWF Hong Kong
HEREAERSEBELE © HIIR—/\F2021,

#F E# % 2021 ANNUAL REPORT -
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Environmental Performance Indicators IRIEEWISIE
Aspect A1: Emissions Stock Exchange
EEA1 - BE4 ESG Guide KPI
BEZATIRIR
g LERTESI
Performance indicator BWIEE 2021 2020 FAREYIERE
Emissions HER
NO, emissions (tonnes) et R (E) 0.0355 0.0191 A1.1
SO, emissions (tonnes) ma tEER (8) 0.0012 0.0005 Al1.1
PM emissions (tonnes) R HERT (WE) 0.0028 0.0014 A1
GHG emissions REREIR
Scope 1 — Direct emissions (tonnes) EE1 — H R () 214 86 A1.2
Scope 2 —"“Energy indirect” emissions (tonnes)  &5E2 —" AR #E
Fems (m8) 33,264 4,206 Al.2
Scope 3 - Other indirect emissions (tonnes) EE3 — H AR
(Wg) 56 71 Al1.2
Hazardous waste BEEBEY
Mineral oil contaminated waste rags, organic YRS REZERLE B
solvents contaminated waste rags, used AT S R EEZERR
containers for chemical materials, wire- EFAE A
drawing lubricants and waste batteries R4 8 K EE =255t
(tonnes) (Wg) 2.378 A13
Non-hazardous waste |EEEZY)
Industrial wastes TEEEY
Metal, iron, plastic, waste wires, etc (tonnes) &8 - i « BB
N BEAREE (E) 1,916.67 81.34 Al.4
Waste woven bags and pallets (pieces) BEfmE s 1R (1) 16,761.00 RN/ %Nl Al.4
Cardboards (tonnes) AR FE (8) 129.62 32.56 Al.4
Used A3 and A4 papers (reams) EAFAMAZKRALL () 3,941 2,118 Al4
Used toner cartridges (pieces) EEANRE (4) 835 333 Al.4
Used paper towels (boxes/rolls) EERNEN (8 %) 56,619 37,534 Al.4
Aspect A2: Use of resources Stock Exchange
BEA2 : ERER ESG Guide KPI
AR PRI
AR YNE=DEi=l=]
Performance indicator BWIEIE 2021 2020 EARENUEE
Energy consumption BERHFE
Non-renewable fuel (kWh) AABEARE (TR 810,383 V%SGl A2.1
Renewable energy (kWh) ABAERR (TRAE) 3,637,646 - A2.1
Purchase of energy (kWh) BEEER (TER) 41,082,714 5,027,006 A2.1
Water 7
Water consumption (cubic metres) FEXKE (I K) 333,516 170,762 A2.2
Packaging materials B
Packaging materials (pieces) BEMN () E[OELRTDE 23,064,429 A2.5

- BE BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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Social Performance Indicators

Aspect B1: Employment

[EmEB1 : B
Performance indicator BEE
Number of employees as at MR=A=1+—H®
31 March EEAH
Gender =]l
Male S
Female i
Age T
<30 <30
30-50 30-50
> 50 > 50
Region &
PRC e
Hong Kong &HE
Employee turnover BB MK
Gender gl
Male Bt
Female it
Age FH
<30 <30
30-50 30-50
> 50 > 50

I ERBIER

Stock Exchange
ESG Guide KPI
BASZATIRIR ~
g LERTES
2020  BESERUEIR
B1.1
871
1,176
B1.1
803
1,187
57
B1.1
2,014
33
B1.2
770
844
B1.2
1,035
551
28
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Aspect B2: Health and safety
[EMHEB2 : ZRMZZE

Stock Exchange

Performance indicator BERIEE

Number of work injuries TEHF

Rate of work injury (per thousand IER(ETRES)
employees)

Aspect B3: Development and training

[EEB3  BERKIZ

Performance indicator BEE

Percentage of employees trained
Gender
Male
Female
Employee category
Workers
Supervisors and general staff
Managers or above

ZillfRE B 5Lt
{Ez]l
S
pogis
BEHR
A

T
FER—REE
R

Average training hours completed per
employee
Gender
Male
Female
Employee category
Workers
Supervisors and general staff
Managers or above

B% &8 ST ZAIRIFE
EFE

1R
St
ik

EERER
A
TER—REE
BRI

BE BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

ESG Guide KPI
BARRFTIRIR ~
g LERTES
2020  BERREIERE
5 B2.1
2.4 B2.1
Stock Exchange
ESG Guide KPI
EAZXPTIRIE ~
g KERTES
2020  BERERUEIR
B3.1
45
55
B3.1
89
9
2
B3.2
22
18
B3.2
20
17
13




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB RS

Deloitte.

TO THE MEMBERS OF TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Time Interconnect
Technology Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the "Group”) set out on pages 85 to 159, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

=&

HEFRZERABME
(RS EEME LB RAF)

1t

8

Az A (LUT 78 T35 ) BEA 7852 159
EMESMNEAERAT (UTEBEEAT,) REN
BAR (UTHEEEE ) NGRS B®RE - 1L
BHREBER_ZB_—F=A=1+—HNKEUH
MRKEBEZ A IEFENRARD REMREIK
#E  FERBEDRNGERENER » LKA
BUBHERNT - BRIERTHEME -

A

¢

PR AECAYBRRERETEETNA
G (TEBESAAE ) BEMH (BN BREEA)
((EBYBREEA ) EEMPEHRRTY 5%
AR T —F ==+ ANRAM BRI L
EZHLEFENGEYBRELGERESAE I
DEREE (QEHEF) HIREER IR

BREVER

BFERBE S AASEMA (FBEFTEA)
("CEBEERD ) ETER - BMEZFEAT
AENEECEARS RBEVRE A M B®mE
AENTE MR EE—TRL - RESFHS
A EEM (FXEGTTAERSTRD (LIS ER <7
B, ®MBUR BEE LEETTRPHE
EREREE - BB E - BAFMESNETR
FREARMEB M REMNETERREER -

RAREETRIH

BEREBAFRERERMNEEAE - BRHEAH
HEMBERENBTRAERNER - BEERE
ERMEFERGAYBRRIE AT REETE
BH - B AEHELEEREHEBNER -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

R EETBIH

FARESEE®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMBESH N TR E S BRETRIE

Valuation of right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment at revaluation model

RERGERGEREAEZSERYE  BERZE

We identified the valuation of right-of-use assets and property,
plant and equipment at revaluation model as a key audit matter
due to the inherent level of subjective judgements and complex
estimates required in determining the revalued values.

The Group's leasehold land (included under right-of-use assets)
and buildings (included under property, plant and equipment)
located in the People’s Republic of China (the “Land and
Buildings”) are accounted for using revaluation model with
effect from 30 June 2020. As at 31 March 2021, the carrying
amount of the Group’s Land and Buildings at revaluation
model are HK$358,051,000 and HK$224,019,000 respectively,
which represented 14% and 9% of the Group’s total assets,
respectively. The revaluation surplus of HK$257,855,000 arising
from right-of-use assets and HK$65,080,000 arising from
property, plant and equipment, respectively, have been credited
to other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March
2021.

As further disclosed in notes 4, 15 and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements, in estimating the fair value of these Land
and Buildings, the Group engaged an independent qualified
valuer (the “Valuer”), to carry out the valuation. The management
of the Group provided information to the Valuer and the Valuer
established and determined the appropriate technique and inputs
to the valuation model. The significant unobservable input of the
approach is the price per square metre of comparable properties.
Changes in the comparable properties adopted may result in a
significant increase or decrease in fair value.

BN EETE B AE RS MEBNEBFE LB MG - B8
REMENEEEREEERDE  BERKREESD AEESRE
FIH o

EEEUNPEARENRNBE LM GIAERREE) LIE
FEIAWE ~ BEREE) (THHRESF ) HERAEEERA
R B3 ZSFAA=THRBAER N_ZF_—F=F=++
—H " BXEZREMARAGENTHREFHNERAEBES N
358,051,000587552224,019,0008 7 * OBt SEEEEAE
1914%K9% - REFRAEEERYZE - RERZIBENEGRER
A RBI7257,855,0007% 7T 5 65,080,000 7T * Bt ABE_ZT
—F=ZA=+—HIFENEMBEIA -

AR B M BIARMEES ~ 15 RI16E—FIEE - NEFTRELT
WEBETCATER - BEXRECRBAERBUGERM(THE
) ETEE - EEEERERMGEMEMAER - MEERD
Y REEBRRNEERRORMEBARE - BANERRH
B ABBER A ELEYENES T ITIKER - FIRBNTEL
BMFRBEN IR B E AT ERE LA T -

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

Our procedures in relation to the management’s valuation of the Land
and Buildings at revaluation model included:

Evaluating the competence, capability, and objectivity of the
Valuer;

Obtaining an understanding from the Valuer about the valuation
methodology, significant unobservable inputs and critical
judgement on key inputs and data used in the valuations;

Assessing reasonableness of key inputs used by the Valuers
and management of the Group by comparing with relevant
market information with similar properties and assessing the
appropriateness of specific assumption of the properties by
reference to character, location and other individual factors which
affect the valuation of properties; and

Evaluating the reasonableness of adjusting factors on the
locations and conditions of the properties made by the Valuer
by comparing them with historical adjusting factors applied,
comparability and other market factors for similar properties.

B EEBREMERNE D MR T AEETHNEFBE

FHEEEMMER  ENIRFERRE

FGER Y BEETTE - ER NI BEEBARKR LAERRA
NEZHABIR N ERRIERHIE

SHEmERME SREEREMRANEIZBARBRNGEN -
TER RN BTISERET LR 2 E R EYEMAE
R AENEMENERTEYENSERREEME - X

A EMAYZEME LR A FEHNEABRRRNSEN - 55
M SRR CYETERNELABRAR st R HEAM
TIBREETHR -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

Hith B #

EARESHEHHMENAE - AN BETIE
REFANER - BEABREGEMHERE LB
RS

BAHGEGYBRENERLNREHEMER -
MR HEZSEMMERNBREMATANERER

BaBRMERAYBEREANET @ BMNNEEEH
BEMEY  FUBED  TEHEMENEE LN
BREIBMEBHAEDFA T ENBERFEER
EEREUFHEEERERRANBER - EHR B
EATHLIIE > IRBFIBHEMENFHEEARHE
mE - WMBEREZFE - TEHH  HMHR
BEAHRE

EERAEEMGEMBRIARENSE

SEAAEFALTRETEGTEASEM (BB
HBIREER) LFE (NRERE) HIREERERE
EMPENEEHBERE » WHERREGEUHE
HERMNERANFERRRESERM BB B RS
RELFBENNEZEH AR -

EHEFHRAMBEEREE  BEFa 8T B5EF
BRREMRED  LEBERBER TRERESERER
BER  ULERAFERERSTTER - [RFE
FERK EXEEBEIFLRE  HHEHEME
BRRERTTE -

REEAEEREE

EEENMBHREBERE

BB S MBRRARNER

BMNER  RHGAMBERRERESAZAE
PR R TR X8R R M B 2 19 B8 R SR BB S B2 4R
#F o WRREMBENEBNEGRRERDERR
HEBREMERNRBEEM®RE ° RIS - 2
NERENARELMAR - AT AERAARENE
AABEEMEMALAERETMET - 52
RERBRENRE - BRERBRRE (BEBETE
AI) TR ST - AR EREREAF SRR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (conTD)
BWIAKEEESRES |

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue
as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report
is Tsang Chi Wai.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 June 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FeRakEt2EaR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

BHE_Z_—HF=A=1+—HLFE

2021 2020
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
(g2 FET T
(restated)
(&5
Revenue Yz 6 3,008,019 2,780,150
Cost of goods sold EHERAR (2,427,802)  (2,280,536)
Gross profit EF 580,217 499,614
Other income HAA 7 13,955 15,066
Other gains and losses E s X E51E 8 (10,970) 5,740
Loss on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  ¥)2 i M RIEEHEE 15 (5,755) -
Distribution and selling expenses PH R ERX (51,678) (50,224)
Administrative expenses TBFEX (122,607) (123,634)
Professional fees and costs relating to acquisition of BREVWBESNEEER MR
business (4,168) (19,079)
Research and development expenses MRS (88,358) (68,386)
Finance costs R & R 9 (42,525) (70,245)
Profit before taxation R 10 268,111 188,852
Taxation WMIE 12 (41,480) (34,368)
Profit for the year FRRF 226,631 154,484
Other comprehensive income (expense) Efh2mEUER ()
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: ANFEH D EEEmHIES -
Gain on revaluation of right-of-use assets and FREEERYZE - BKRENREE
property, plant and equipment EXRlres 322,935 -
Deferred tax arising from revaluation of right-of- FREEENRDZE  BEEERE
use assets and property, plant and equipment BEMEARELRIE (77,980) -
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit HAEBEEN HEE R BV ER -
or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translating TEHNEBERIME R IRESR
foreign operations =5 94,636 (65,522)
Other comprehensive income (expense) for the FRHMP2E W ()
year 339,591 (65,522)
Total comprehensive income for the year FREERHAREE 566,222 88,962
Profit for the year attributable to: THALEAEFERREF
Owners of the Company KANFEBA 226,361 154,080
Non-controlling interest FEERG R 270 404
226,631 154,484
Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year THALTEGEFEAZEYE (FAX)
attributable to: #aEg
Owners of the Company VN/NEIEZZEDN 562,148 89,172
Non-controlling interest Elzadi g 4,074 (210)
566,222 88,962
Earnings per share BREEF 13
- Basic (HK cents) - A GBI 12.30 8.37
- Diluted (HK cents) - B8 (B 12.30 8.30

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

HEE -

AR & 1R 4 S EL At A T Yt o 3 R B A Y A B R —

#F E# % 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBI R

AT 31 MARCH 2021 R_ZBE_—HF=A=+—H

31.3.2021 31.3.2020 1.4.2019
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Byt TFET Tt FiBIT
(restated) (restated)
(#&53%1)) (#eE%1))
Non-current assets IERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME ~ BENERAE 15 733,666 640,862 686,093
Right-of-use assets fEREEE 16 400,171 134,716 143,290
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, FUEMZE ~ BB K&
plant and equipment BEN%S 6,726 1,179 69,695
Financial assets at fair value through profit BAFEFTAEBRNEHA
or loss BE 17 6,035 5,760 5,633
Rental deposits HEZ® 700 920 867
1,147,298 783,437 905,578
Current assets MENEE
Inventories =y 18 474,894 401,171 427,941
Trade and other receivables B 5 LEMEWERIE 19 808,755 576,512 853,997
Amount due from ultimate holding FEM AT A TR
company 25 - 1,024,630 535,364
Contract assets BREE 20 2,860 20,917 1,644
Taxation recoverable CIEEAE 1,516 320 1,026
Pledged bank deposits EARFIRITENR 21 7,091 13,511 26,505
Bank balances and cash RITHEBREIRS 21 156,550 366,933 390,678
1,451,666 2,403,994 2,237,155
Current liabilities mENEE
Trade and other payables H 5 REfMENTRIE 22 571,869 553,604 542,947
Contract liabilities araE 23 5,093 714 363
Lease liabilities HE&R 24 7,785 6,653 4,654
Amount due to ultimate holding company FEAT BRAERG A R FRIE 25 - 217,947 272,673
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary [N —ERANBATRIE - - 22
Taxation payable FETBIIE 9,605 12,508 5,907
Unsecured bank borrowings — amount due SEARIRIRITIE R - 58
within one year PA— 4RI 26 606,583 1,179,289 1,093,460
1,200,935 1,970,715 1,920,026
Net current assets REEEFE 250,731 433,279 317,129
Total assets less current liabilities HEERREER 1,398,029 1,216,716 1,222,707
Non-current liabilities JERBEE
Unsecured bank borrowing — amount due MIRIRIRITEIR - %8
after one year R—FEEIH 26 405,625 - 75,000
Lease liabilities HE&R 24 36,471 40,402 41,393
Deferred tax liabilities EERIESE 27 91,532 10,419 9,272
533,628 50,821 125,665
Net assets BEFE 864,401 1,165,895 1,097,042
Capital and reserves BRI
Share capital [EZN 28 18,404 28,790 28,790
Reserves A 834,070 1,129,252 1,060,189
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AR #HE AFE(L#ELS 852,474 1,158,042 1,088,979
Non-controlling interest JEIE = 11,927 7,853 8,063
Total equity EiERS 864,401 1,165,895 1,097,042

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction  _E#llAR S BAFEHR 3R FE EABE T OB 51— R RE -
with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 159 were approved and  Z85F 1590BMARE M REACEESTEN_S_—
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2021 and are signed on XA -+ /\ B ENERETE » WHTIALRK

its behalf by: REEE
Cua Tin Yin Simon Wong Chi Kuen
R S
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEE HITEE

- E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEREER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #HZE_F"_—F=A=+—HIFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
KRR
PRC Property  Share Non-
Share Share statutory  Special  Capital revaluation  options Translation Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium  reserves reserves  reserve  reserve  feserve  reserve profits  Total interest  equity
HE g B {3104
A ROEE ARG BARE GARE  BRARRE e ERERE R 5t g g
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tt TEr TEr  TEr TAEr TEr TER TEn Tér TEr  TEr TEx
(Note@) ~ (Noteb) ~ (Notec)
(Mka)  (Waib) (k)
At31 March 2020 (audited and ~ RZZZSF=F=+-H
originally stated) (?1 BRI 18400 271,921 13,460 (104,180) 9,107 - 10,066  (16,610) 401241 603,405 - 603,405
Merger accounting restatement & 4F&3t REEF (1)
(note 1) 10,390 - 2241 112000 28832 - - 8,754 3713420 554,637 7853 562,490
At 1 April 2020 (restated) RIE"FEMA-A
(@E51) 2879 27921 34701 7820 37,939 - 10,066 (7,856) 774,661 1,158,042 7,853 1,165,895
Profit for the year R - - - - - - - - 6361 226361 270 226,631
Gain on revaluation of right-of- ~ FREZERYE \ BER
use assets and property, plant B
and equipment - - - - - 319073 - - - 319073 3862 322,935
Deferred tax arising from FREZEINE BER
revaluation of right-of-use BT
assets and property, plant and
equipment - - - - - (101) - - - (101) (966)  (77,980)
Exchange differencesarisingon ~ SAEBERRERHEN
tranlating foreign operations  ERER - - - - - - - %378 - 953728 908 94,636
Total comprehensive income for R EMEEE
the year - - - - - 242,05 - B3I 226361 562,148 4,074 566,222
Transfer 8% - - 915 - - - - - (915) - - -
Dividends declared (note 14) EE?E?HQE\(WE?M) - - - - - - - - (552000 (55,200 - (55.200)
Effect of Linkz Cable %ﬂ%@iiﬁ(
Reorganisation, as definedin ~~ HfzE1) Hg/ & (WEZ)
note 1 (note 32) (2,000) - - - - - - - (156,898)  (158,898) - (158,89%8)
Acquisition of entities under WESHREHER
common control (note 1) (Fiz1) (8,390) - - (650,366) - - - - - (658,756) - (658,756)
Recognition of equitysettled  REREEDRAAERN
share-based payment HECER - - - - - - 49 - - 49 - 49
Exercise of share options friegkE 4 216 - - - - (69) - - 151 - 151
Share options forfeited and EREX BT R
transferred to accumulated
profits - - - - - - (340) - 340 - - -
At31 March 2021 ROET-BZATH-R 1840 22131 35616 (62545 3799 20205 1464 85812 788309 844 11907 864401
At31 March 2019 (audited and -~ RZF—-AE=F=+-F
originally stated) (BEHRES) 18400 271,921 2872 (104,180) 9,107 - 3807 8,236 338915 549,078 - 549,078
Merger accounting restatement  AHFEHTEREEF (M)
(note 1) 10,390 - 20241 112,000 - - - 43816 347454 539,901 8,063 54794
At 1 April 2019 (restated) RIS-NENA-A
(&=31) 8790 M W13 780 9107 - 3807 5705 686369 1088979 8063 1097042
Profit for the year ERgT - - - - - - - - 154080 154080 404 154,484
Bichange differencesarsingon ~ SANFBERBEEHEN
translating foreign operations  ERER - - - - - - - (64908 - (64,908) (614)  (65522)
Total comprehensive (expense) A2 (F) KEER
income for the year - - - - - - - (64,908) 154080 89,172 (2100 88962
Waiver of curentaccount by~ RABRATRENAR
ultimate holding company EE - - - - 88 - - - - 88 - 88
Transfer i - - 10588 - - - - - (10,588) - - -
Dividends declared (note 14) BERRE (Hi4) - - - - - - - - (55,200)  (55,200) - (55,200)
Recognition of equitysettled  RERGEMRHAZRN
share-based payment NEED - - - - - - 6,259 - - 6,259 - 6,259
At31 March 2000 (restated) R F_FFZA=T-H
(E51) 28790 271,921 34,701 7820 37939 - 10,066 (7,856) 774,661 1,158,042 7,853 1,165,895
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (conTD)
REEREIR @

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

BEE_—F-HA=t—HLEFE

Notes:

(a)

The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") statutory reserves are non-distributable and the
transfer to these reserves are determined according to the relevant laws in the PRC and by
the board of directors of the PRC subsidiaries in accordance with the articles of association
of these subsidiaries. They can be used to make up for previous years' losses or convert into
additional capital of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company.

The special reserves represent (i) the difference between the net asset value of Time
Interconnect Limited (“Time Interconnect HK") at the date of which it was acquired by Time
Interconnect Investment Limited and the share capital of Time Interconnect HK pursuant
to the group reorganisation in 2017, (ii) the difference between the net asset value of
Hover Manufacturing Company Limited (“Hover Manufacturing”) and the nominal share
capital of Hover Manufacturing pursuant to the Linkz Cables Reorganisation, as defined
in note 1, completed on 30 June 2020, and (iii) the difference between the consideration
of HK$658,756,000 paid for acquisition of interest in Linkz Cables Limited and the share
capital of Linkz Cables Limited of HK$8,390,000 as at 30 June 2020. The acquisition is
accounted for by using merger accounting in accordance with Hong Kong Accounting
Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting for Common Control Combinations” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The amounts represent (i) deemed capital contribution arising from waiver of current
accounts by ultimate holding company and a fellow subsidiary, (i) deemed capital
contribution arising from the cash reimbursed for partial listing expenses by the ultimate
holding company upon public offer and placing.

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction
with the accompanying notes.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

fa -

(a)

(b)

()

REARKME ("HEL) EEFFHATBEDIR -
HEREZSHBIRAR RN EAAR AR L E DB
BARERGREZEWNBATNEBERAREE -

PENEE B BANEE LEENEIR SR ARAT
PEREARNENESR -

HRlEER(VRE-_S—tFEEEH ERITX
BRAB(TEZR TS R Time Interconnect

Investment Limited & B HARE & P ELAPER T (58
FIEARNZER ; (NRMREBRAR (TRNRE)) NE
EFEARENR S TZFAA=THATRNELNEE
BH(BRENE ) WEMBEZRRAMNZERE 5 (i)
BUEEASEBER AR ERMEE658,756,000
BITAEAEEERARNNISZ EE/\H +BEH
758,390,000/5 TV ZESE - WIEBHIRBEBYHIAE
BEHNEEGTIESI Bo5 T HRAEH A HNEHEE
I LIEHETHARE -

ZESREONREREZRATAR-—HARZANBADR SR
MERIREEENRFERHE - (IRECZERARRA
MR ENTERFEHNEY EHRXNRESMEEEN
BEERHE -

AR B e BB B BB IR B — P B:E -



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FRRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

BHE_Z_—HF=A=1+—HLFE

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
(restated)
(=E%)
Cash flows from operating activities REFHEEMNRDRE
Profit before taxation FRELAD&SF 268,111 188,852
Adjustments for: TR IR
Gain on change in fair value of financial assets at RATHET ABRNESREEN
fair value through profit or loss NFEZE (258) (198)
Interest income AEHA (627) (1,113)
Interest expense FEFX 42,525 70,245
Loss on revaluation of property, plant and M ~ BEREEBEGEE
equipment 5,755 -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W2 ~ BB REEEITE 57,713 55,876
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 14,203 9,837
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEVE  MEMEENESE
equipment 2,038 59
Write off of inventories FEMH 4,646 2,356
Equity-settled share-based payments RS EE LIS HERTIE 4,987 6,259
Operating cash flows before movements in working EEESHHINKCERSRE
capital 399,093 332,173
Increase in inventories FEEM (44,613) (1,135)
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables and 8.5 N HAIEKGRIEL LESRS
rental deposits (8hn) E (197,027) 251,887
Decrease (increase) in contract assets AREERD (50) 18,057 (19,273)
Increase in trade and other payables B2 REMENFIEEM 9,986 37,902
Increase in contract liabilities ARE/EEM 4,257 385
Cash generated from operations KEEANIRS 189,753 601,939
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ENEBENER (26,360) (10,212)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax B ZEPTETR (17,211) (11,921)
Withholding tax in the PRC paid EfTRETER (1,603) (3,599)
Net cash generated from operating activities RETBEFANRESFE 144,579 576,207
Cash flows from investing activities RERSEENRERE
Advance to ultimate holding company BN TR AT (97,802)  (1,006,640)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment EEMXE -« BELRIE (40,112) (47,833)
Placement of pledged bank deposits BREBRIRITER (25,742) (33,146)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and HEME ~ BEIREENZRS
equipment (6,643) (2,446)
Repayment from ultimate holding company RN TIER 57,492 554,724
Release of pledged bank deposits EREBIIBITER 33,028 44,763
Interest received from bank deposits EWERTTEFE 587 1,076
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and KEHEDXE - BENRIENFTR
equipment E7NE 278 390
Net cash used in investing activities WEEB TN SFE (78,914) (489,112)

#F E# % 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (conT'D)

= SEE= =
FERERER @)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

EF

FZA=+t—HLEFE

2021 2020
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
(g2 FERT T
(restated)
(&==%)
Cash flows from financing activities RMERESEEMNRSTE
Bank borrowings raised BEEEBITER 1,937,651 3,311,386
Repayment of bank borrowings BRIRIT X (1,339,236)  (3,284,026)
Acquisition of business under common control WSS TRl 25 75 1 (780,993) -
Dividends paid B A (55,200) (55,200)
Interest paid ENFE (42,525) (70,245)
Payment of lease liabilities YNHEESE (7,339) (6,375)
Net cash inflow arising from the transfer of the HERINEENBBELENRES
Excluded Assets and Liabilities, as defined in MNP (EERWEE32)
note 32 32 467 -
Advance from ultimate holding company KRB REZER AT N RIE 6,848 258
Proceeds from exercise of share options TR RERTEEE 151 -
Repayment to ultimate holding company R T REERATNRIE (5,975) (80)
Repayment to a fellow subsidiary EERT—HARARBARNIE - (22)
Net cash used in financing activities R ERE TR IR S F 5 (286,151) (104,304)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEMFRD (220,486) (17,209)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year FHNRSNIBEEEY 360,242 390,662
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes FERESBNRE 16,727 (13,211)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year, FRBENMIRESFEY » 1BIRI1T
represented by bank balances and cash SR NI 156,483 360,242
Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents: R NIRESEEWERDOIT
Bank balances and cash IRITARRR RS 156,550 366,933
Bank overdrafts RITEX (67) (6,691)
156,483 360,242

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with

the accompanying notes.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& R T ERaR bl 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

1.

BE_Z_—HF=A=1+—HLFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

1.1 General information

Time Interconnect Technology Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and the principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate Information”
section of the annual report.

The immediate holding company of the Company is Time Interconnect
Holdings Limited (“Time Holdings”) which was incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (“BVI”). The ultimate holding company is Linkz Industries
Limited (“Linkz Industries”), which was incorporated in Hong Kong. Its
ultimate controlling shareholder is Mr. Lo Chung Wai Paul (“Mr. Paul Lo"),
who is also the non-executive director of the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 36.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$") while the functional currency of the Company is United
States dollars (“US$"”). The reason for selecting HK$ as the Company’s
presentation currency is that the directors of the Company consider that it
is more relevant to the users of the consolidated financial statements as the
Company listed its shares on the Stock Exchange.

1.2 Merger accounting for business combination involving entities

under common control

Extreme and connected transaction in relation to the acquisition of
the entire issued share capital and the shareholders' loan of Linkz
Cables Limited (the “Acquisition”)

On 24 March 2020, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (“Sale and Purchase Agreement”) with Linkz Industries, the
ultimate holding company of the Company, pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to acquire, and Linkz Industries has conditionally
agreed to sell entire issued share capital of Linkz Cables Limited (the “Target
Company”, together with its subsidiaries upon completion of a group
reorganisation (the “Linkz Cables Reorganisation”, as detailed in note
32), collectively referred to as the “Target Group”), and the shareholder’s
loan owed by the Target Group to Linkz Industries at completion date.
The consideration of the Acquisition is 95% of the completion net asset
value, being defined as the sum of (i) consolidated net asset value of the
Target Group at the date of completion; (i) the fair value gain of land and
buildings of the Target Group, being the difference between the book value
and the fair value of the land and buildings at the date of completion; and
(iii) the monetary value of all obligations and liabilities incurred or owing
by the Target Group to Linkz Industries at the date of completion (the
“Shareholders’ Loan”). The Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange has
resolved that the Acquisition constitutes an extreme transaction under Rule
14.06C of the Listing Rules and the reverse takeover rules do not apply.
Linkz Industries, which is ultimately and beneficially owned by Mr. Paul Lo
as to 59.82% of its effective interest, is a controlling shareholder of the
Company interested in 63.86% of the Company through Time Holdings. As
such, Linkz Industries is a connected person of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Therefore, the Acquisition constituted an extreme
and connected transaction under the Listing Rules. The principal activities
of the Target Group are manufacturing and sales of networking cables
products. Details of the Acquisition are set out in the Company'’s circular
dated 30 March 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
i B MR EmRMEE (o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

1.

E_F_—F=A=t—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

1.2 Merger accounting for business combination involving entities

under common control (continued)

Extreme and connected transaction in relation to the acquisition of
the entire issued share capital and the shareholders’ loan of Linkz
Cables Limited (the “Acquisition”) (continued)

The Linkz Cables Reorganisation and the Acquisition were completed on
30 June 2020 (“Completion Date”). The consideration was amounted
to HK$780,993,000 including payment for the equity interests
of HK$658,756,000 and settlement of the Shareholders’ Loan of
HK$122,237,000. The consideration was satisfied by the Company through
the payment in cash.

Upon completion of the Acquisition, the difference between the
consideration of HK$658,756,000 paid for acquisition of equity interests
and the share capital of the Target Company HK$8,390,000 amounting to
HK$650,366,000 was recognised in the special reserve.

The Acquisition was considered as a business combination under common
control as the Company and its subsidiaries and the Target Group are both
ultimately controlled by Linkz Industries. The acquisition of the Target
Group was accounted for using merger accounting in accordance with
Hong Kong Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting for Common
Control Combinations” (“AG 5”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). The Group and the Target Group
are regarded as continuing entities.

Under merger accounting, based on the guidance set out in AG 5, the
financial information incorporate the financial statement items of the
combining businesses in which the common control combination occurs as
if they had been combined from the date when the combining businesses
first came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining businesses are consolidated using the
existing book values from the controlling party’s perspective. No amount is
recognised in respect of goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net
fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over cost at the time of common control combination, to the extent of the
continuation of the controlling party’s interest. The adjustments to eliminate
share/registered capital of the combining businesses against the related
investment costs have been made to special reserve in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the prior years have been restated to include
the results of the Target Group as if these acquisitions had been completed
since the date the respective business first came under the common control
of the Company. The consolidated statement of financial position as at 1
April 2019 and 31 March 2020 have been restated to adjust the carrying
amounts of the assets and liabilities of the Target Group which had been in
existence as at 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 as if those businesses were
combined from the date when they first came under the common control
of the Company (see below for the financial impacts).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTp)

=5 M HmRMEE (o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BE_E_—F=B=+—HIFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

1.2 Merger accounting for business combination involving entities
under common control (continued)
Extreme and connected transaction in relation to the acquisition of
the entire issued share capital and the shareholders’ loan of Linkz
Cables Limited (the “Acquisition”) (continued)
(i) Effect on the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2020:

The Group (before

1. &R @
1.2 BRSHAEHERENERSHNEHEET

&)

BENBEREBERAGLEERTRE

RIBEEFMZWinREERS (TNEEE,)

)

() HEE_FS " FF=-F=+—HIEFE
MfFaER N EMR IR RRATE

business combination  Business combination

under common of entities under
control) common control Adjustments Consolidated
AEE (LR SR ER
PHEBANZA) MEBAN E A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET THT FET
(audited and (note) (restated)
originally stated)
(BEBRRES) (F¥EE) (RE5)
Revenue 12y 1,438,776 1,361,661 (20,287) 2,780,150
Cost of goods sold EHEREA (1,133,628) (1,167,195) 20,287 (2,280,536)
Gross profit E i 305,148 194,466 - 499,614
Other income EftA 11,787 3,279 = 15,066
Other gains and losses Hits KEE (6,280) 12,020 - 5,740
Distribution and selling expenses 44 RAERT (21,095) (29,129) - (50,224)
Administrative expenses THREX (65,641) (57,993) - (123,634)
Professional fees and costs relating BEEWIBEKNEE
to acquisition of business BERRHA (19,079) - - (19,079)
Research and development MERx
expenses (43,931) (24,455) - (68,386)
Finance costs MERA (5,015) (65,230) - (70,245)
Profit before taxation 3Ty 155,894 32,958 - 188,852
Taxation RIE (27,780) (6,588) - (34,368)
Profit for the year FREF 128,114 26,370 - 154,484
Other comprehensive expense H Mm%
Item that may be reclassified HETHEHHEE
subsequently to profit or loss: EBRER
Exchange differences arisingon  SESNEREXIRER
translating foreign operations EANERERE (24,846) (40,676) - (65,522)
Total comprehensive income FAZEME (%)
(expense) for the year e 103,268 (14,306) - 88,962
Profit for the year attributable to: T3 ALEMSERE:
Owners of the Company ANAEEA 128,114 25,966 - 154,080
Non-controlling interest FEERER - 404 - 404
128,114 26,370 - 154,484
Total comprehensive income TIATEEFERZE
(expense) for the year Wi (FA%) 8%
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ANAEEA 103,268 (14,096) - 89,172
Non-controlling interest FEIERg R - (210) - (210)
103,268 (14,306) - 88,962

Note:  The adjustments represent the elimination of intercompany sales
amounted to HK$20,287,000 between the Group and the Target
Group.

Bt :  AEEAKENEEEECEEHEA
T RE$E E£%820,287,000/87T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
i B MR EmRMEE (o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

1.

BE_ZR_—HF=A=t—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

1.2 Merger accounting for business combination involving entities
under common control (continued)
Extreme and connected transaction in relation to the acquisition of
the entire issued share capital and the shareholders’ loan of Linkz

1. —m&EH@

1.2 /15&1,\“? rHIBRRIEBSHNSHEE
E®)
BRNBEREGERA AIZEEBITRA
RBEEMZI0iHREERS (TWEEE,)

Cables Limited (the “Acquisition”) (continued) ()
(i) Effect on the consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 April (i) N _=5— ﬂﬁ@ﬁ — B ER A B SR
2019: /Rﬁﬂ']?\/a :
The Group (before
business combination Business combination
under common of entities under
control) common control Adjustments Consolidated
2834 g5
siip pEn )
Elird) HES Y AR )
s 00 HKS 000 HKS 1000 HK$ 000
TR TEn THL TER
(audited and (note) (restated)
originally stated) )
(RERRES) (Rzt) (f=51)
Non-current assets FRaEE
Property, plant and equipment VERN TG 175,152 510,941 - 686,093
Right-of-use assets RRELE 130,016 13,274 - 143,290
Deposits paid for acquisition of HREDNE - BERRE
property, plant and equipment Eff%e 2315 67,380 - 69,695
Financial assets at fair value BATE\ER
through profit or loss ("FVTPL") (Ffﬁ L\\JF BT\
SRE - 5,633 - 5,633
Rental deposits %ﬁaﬂﬁé 747 120 - 867
308,230 597,348 - 905,578
Current assets HYEE
Inventories R 186,623 241,318 - 427,941
Trade and other receivables 25 R MENEE 197,755 656,481 (239 853,997
Amount due from ultimate holding Fiuﬁlmﬁi}fﬂﬁ’w
company - 535,364 - 535,364
Contract assets ANEE 1,644 - - 1,644
Taxation recoverable ﬂuy@wg 583 443 - 1,026
Pledged bank deposits EHERRIER 16,260 10,245 - 26,505
Bank balances and cash FTERRAe 223,808 166,870 - 390,678
626,673 1,610,721 (239) 2,237,155
Current liabilities FEEE
Trade and other payables B R MENTE 286,084 257,102 (239 542,947
Contract liabilities BHEE 80 283 - 363
Lease liabilities HEER 4,081 573 - 4,654
Amount due to ultimate holding }’Eﬁ SRERNTNE
company - 272,673 - 272,673
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary - Fﬁﬂ? WBAREE - 2 - 2
Taxation payable [ 5,284 623 - 5,907
Unsecured bank borrowings ﬁﬂﬁﬁfﬁmﬁ i
- amount due within one year —HER— A 49233 1,044,227 - 1,093,460
344,762 1,575,503 (239) 1,920,026
Net current assets nEEEFE 281,911 35218 - 317,129
Total assets less current liabilities EEEFRHERE 590,141 632,566 - 1,222,707
Non-current liabilities Frags
Unsecured bank borrowings /\‘\}Wfiﬁfﬁm
~ amount due after one year TN — 458 - 75,000 - 75,000
Lease liabilities Xﬁf’ﬁjéﬁ 40,246 1,147 - 41,393
Deferred tax liabilities ERERBEEE 817 8,455 - 9272
41,063 84,602 - 125,665
Net assets BESE 549,078 547 964 E 1,097,042
Capital and reserves EAR il
Share capital A 18,400 10,390 - 28,790
Reserves L 530,678 529,51 - 1,060,189
Equity attributable to owners RARGE NEGER
of the Company 549,078 539,901 - 1,088,979
Non-controlling interest kiR - 8,063 - 8,063
Total equity ik 519,078 517964 - 1,097,002

Note:  The adjustments represent the elimination of trade and other receivables
and trade and other payables of the Group owed by the Target Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTp)

=5 M HmRMEE (o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

1. GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

1.2 Merger accounting for business combination involving entities

BE_ZR_—HF=A=1+—HLFE

under common control (continued)

Extreme and connected transaction in relation to the acquisition of
the entire issued share capital and the shareholders’ loan of Linkz

1. &R @
1.2 BRSHAEHERENERSHNEHEET

&)
BENBEREBERAGLEERTRE
RIBEEFMZWinREERS (TNEEE,)

Cables Limited (the “Acquisition”) (continued) (&)
(iii) Effect on the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 (i) HN B _FBF=A=1+—HWEHESY
March 2020: HIRRNEE
The Group (before
business combination  Business combination
under common of entities under
_control) common cogErol Adjustments Consolidated
AEE(SLARE  DEASHER \
Bz MEBAH R e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
5T BT THET BT
(audited and (note) (restated)
originally stated) \ B
(RBEZRERT]) (F¥5E) (&E51)
Non-current assets FRIEE
Property, plant and equipment ¥  BENERE 155,069 485,793 - 640,862
Right-of-use assets EHEEEE 120,590 14,126 - 134,716
Deposits paid for acquisition TR « BER
of property, plant and REEAES
equipment 840 339 - 1,179
Financial assets at FVTPL RATET NBHN
SREE - 5,760 - 5,760
Rental deposits HERe 805 115 - 920
277,304 506,133 - 783,437
Current assets MENEE
Inventories 7E 200,990 200,181 - 401,171
Trade and other receivables B 5 N EMEYGIE 247,449 332,338 (3,275) 576,512
Amount due from ultimate il e S NG
holding company TIE - 1,024,630 - 1,024,630
Contract assets BNEE 20,917 - - 20,917
Taxation recoverable AR EFIE 265 55 - 320
Pledged bank deposits EHRARITER 13,273 238 - 13,511
Bank balances and cash BITHEMRIRS 281,558 85,375 - 366,933
764,452 1,642,817 (3,275) 2,403,994
Current liabilities o)=L}
Trade and other payables B o5 NEMENTIE 341,908 214,971 (3,275) 553,604
Contract liabilities AHER 425 289 - 714
Lease liabilities HEaRE 5,089 1,564 - 6,653
Amount due to ultimate holding  FE{J&&I2I/AR)
company g - 217,947 - 217,947
Taxation payable ENTRIE 11,170 1,338 - 12,508
Unsecured bank borrowings BRI T -
- amount due within one year TIBR—EREIE 40,000 1,139,289 - 1,179,289
398,592 1,575,398 (3,275) 1,970,715
Net current assets HEEEFE 365,860 67,419 - 433,279
Total assets less current EEERREEE
liabilities 643,164 573,552 - 1,216,716
Non-current liabilities E[3)) =1
Lease liabilities HESE 38,907 1,495 - 40,402
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE 852 9,567 - 10,419
39,759 11,062 - 50,821
Net assets BEFE 603,405 562,490 - 1,165,895
Capital and reserves BAR AR
Share capital N 18,400 10,390 - 28,790
Reserves s 585,005 544,247 - 1,129,252
Equity attributable to owners of  AATIZEE AFE(LHEEE
the Company 603,405 554,637 - 1,158,042
Non-controlling interest Pl - 7,853 - 7,853
Total equity iy 603,405 562,490 - 1,165,895
Note:  The adjustments represent the elimination of trade and other receivables Mzt FARIEEREREGEIAERNESI X

and trade and other payables of the Group owed by the Target Group.

HAEURRIR R E 5 R AL RET R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
i B MR EmRMEE (o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &HZ_FS_—F=A=+—HIFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

1.2 Merger accounting for business combination involving entities
under common control (continued)
Extreme and connected transaction in relation to the acquisition of
the entire issued share capital and the shareholders’ loan of Linkz
Cables Limited (the “Acquisition”) (continued)
(iv) The effect of the restatement on the Group's equity on 1 April 2019 is
summarised as follows:

1. —&EH®

1.2 BREAFEHERNERSHOSHE
Ea@)
FHNEELEEFTIRA B 2EERTTHRA
RIBREZZ@inREHERS (TEBERE.,)
(#)
(iv) HAEER _S—AFHA— AR
ET &R ZZD"F

Business combination

of entities under

1.4.2019 common control Adjustments 1.4.2019
SR ER
MEBA oS
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T
(audited and (note) (restated)
originally stated)
(RERREFT) GES (=351)
Share capital iz 18,400 10,390 - 28,790
Share premium EE 271,921 - - 271,921
PRC statutory reserves MBI E 5 2,872 - 21,241 24,113
Special reserves KR (104,180) - 112,000 7,820
Capital reserve N 9,107 - - 9,107
Share options reserve BRRERE 3,807 - - 3,807
Translation reserve [EHEE 8,236 48,816 - 57,052
Accumulated profits ZEtiadl 338,915 347,454 - 686,369
General reserve — A - 12,482 (12,482) -
Enterprise expansion reserve ERTHE - 8,759 (8,759) -
Capital revaluation reserve BREGHE - 112,000 (112,000) -
Total 5t 549,078 539,901 - 1,088,979
Non-controlling interest JEERR R - 8,063 - 8,063
Total equity aRER 549,078 547,964 - 1,097,042

Note:  The adjustments represent the reclassification of reserves to conform
with the presentation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

(v) The effect of the restatement on the Group's equity on 31 March 2020
is summarised as follows:

st - FEREEMOARBUTEAEER
AUBRERNES -

v) BAEER _F_FF=A=+—H01
RSB F BT

Business combination

of entities under

31.3.2020 common control Adjustments 31.3.2020
ZtREHER
MEBAED T

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T T T T

(audited and (note) (restated)

originally stated)

(BERLET) GES (RE31)

Share capital [AZN 18,400 10,390 - 28,790
Share premium BT RE 271,921 - - 271,921
PRC statutory reserves MBI E B 13,460 - PAWZA 34,701
Special reserves BRIRE (104,180) - 112,000 7,820
Capital reserve BARGEE 9,107 28,832 - 37,939
Share options reserve BRERE 10,066 - - 10,066
Translation reserve [E e (16,610) 8,754 - (7,856)
Accumulated profits ZETaAl 401,241 373,420 - 774,661
General reserve — Rl - 12,482 (12,482) -
Enterprise expansion reserve PEERER - 8,759 (8,759) -
Capital revaluation reserve BAREGEE - 112,000 (112,000) -
Total &t 603,405 554,637 - 1,158,042
Non-controlling interest FEERE R - 7,853 - 7,853
Total equity aER 603,405 562,490 - 1,165,895

Note:  The adjustments represent the reclassification of reserves to conform
with the presentation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BE_E_—F=B=+—HIFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION (continued) 1.

1.2 Merger accounting for business combination involving entities
under common control (continued)
Extreme and connected transaction in relation to the acquisition of
the entire issued share capital and the shareholders’ loan of Linkz
Cables Limited (the “Acquisition”) (continued)
(vi) The effect of the restatement on the Group's basic and diluted earnings
per share for the year ended 31 March 2020 is as follows:

—EF 2
1.2 BRSHAEHERENERSHNEHEET

&)

BENBEREBERAGLEERTRE

RIBEEFMZWinREERS (TNEEE,)

)

(i) HAEBRHE_S"FHF=-—F=+—H
HFENSREAREERINET R

2
HK cents
eyl
Basic earnings per share FRELREF
As audited and originally stated REZ LIRS 6.96
Adjustments arising from business combination under common A= H RIS S T EL A
control 1.41
Restated &&= 8.37
Diluted earnings per share GREEER T
As audited and originally stated REZ LR 6.90
Adjustments arising from business combination under common A= HREIEFIES S T EL A
control 1.40
Restated &&= 8.30

(vii) The effect of the restatement on the Group’s cash flow for the year
ended 31 March 2020 is summarised as follows:

(Vi) WAEERE_E_SF=-A=+—H
I FEHNRERENET IR EMA T

HK$'000

T

Increase in net cash from operating activities ESEE A YIRS EEE N 428,934
Increase in net cash used in investing activities B ETREFTFERIR & B ERE N (480,202)
Increase in net cash used in financing activities RO ESEENATFEAVIR & FEEIE N (30,092)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents at the end of year FRRENIBESSBYLM 78,684
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &HZ_FS_—F=A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIALREPORTING 2. FEREEHERE LR (TS EMIEREEL,)

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the “Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards” and the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily effective
for the annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2020 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8  Definition of Material
Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39

and HKFRS 7

Definition of a Business
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Except as described below, the application of the “Amendments to References
to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards” and the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the Group's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

2.1 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
“Definition of Material”
The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 for the
first time in the current year. The amendments provide a new definition
of material that states “information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements, which provide financial information about
a specific reporting entity.” The amendments also clarify that materiality
depends on the nature or magnitude of information, either individually
or in combination with other information, in the context of the financial
statements taken as a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no impact on
the consolidated financial statements.

2.2 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3 “Definition of a
Business”
The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year.
The amendments clarify that while businesses usually have outputs, outputs
are not required for an integrated set of activities and assets to qualify as
a business. To be considered a business, an acquired set of activities and
assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

The amendments remove the assessment of whether market participants
are capable of replacing any missing inputs or processes and continuing
to produce outputs. The amendments also introduce additional guidance
that helps to determine whether a substantive process has been acquired.

In addition, the amendments introduce an optional concentration test that
permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business. Under the optional concentration test, the acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business if substantially all of the fair
value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar assets. The gross assets under assessment exclude
cash and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from
the effects of deferred tax liabilities. The election on whether to apply the
optional concentration test is available on transaction-by-transaction basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTp)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &ZET —F=A=1+—HLEFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current

year (continued)

2.2 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3 “Definition of a
Business” (continued)
The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group but may impact future periods should the Group make any
acquisition.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs

that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments®

Reference to the Conceptual Framework*

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 22

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,

HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions'

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond
30 June 20213

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

2. EREEMBHREEN(TEEMBHREEL)

BT ()
AEEHEFENNEERIBRELEIEETA @)

2.2 [ERE B BIREERE3
FEIHZE )
ZEEBITHARBENGRE U BHRELER
Z  BAEEAERNFEBEELWE
BRI o

SRISETR TEARY

EMRMEBRENBIFET RIEETE B BRE
#8|
AREFEWERFRA LT EEME HARERNF
I RRMBRT BB B SR
BRNEREEAE TR REaARERET
ERUBRSEAEIRETA
BENBREEREIE *}%W@
AE30%  BEYBREEAZ
% BN BRE EU%MF&%%
FHREEHEIGRETA
BEUBREENR0RRERSTE REZAERENTRAE

i v i
MEERRE - F KR

EIEISEHES PR ANEENERTE
BREBREEAE 68T A FEANVERFERN
%ﬁéﬁ?)’aﬁ
ERUBREEAR6RETA “RI-ERRAZTRE
BENVERFERN
BeEH
ERGTRAFIRETA REENERRBAER

WREBRZEESTH
(CR2F5) 0BT

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Definition of Accounting Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use*

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract*

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 —
20204
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Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the Directors
anticipate that the application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
“Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2"

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 “Interest
Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2" relate to the modification of financial assets,
financial liabilities and lease liabilities, specific hedge accounting requirements
and disclosure requirements applying HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments:
Disclosures” to accompany the amendments regarding modifications and
hedge accounting.

e Modification of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease
liabilities. A practical expedient is introduced for modifications required
by the reform (modifications required as a direct consequence of the
interest rate benchmark reform and made on an economically equivalent
basis). These modifications are accounted for by updating the effective
interest rate. All other modifications are accounted for using the current
HKFRSs requirements. A similar practical expedient is proposed for lessee
accounting applying HKFRS 16;

e Hedge accounting requirements. Under the amendments, hedge
accounting is not discontinued solely because of the interest rate benchmark
reform. Hedging relationships (and related documentation) are required
to be amended to reflect modifications to the hedged item, hedging
instrument and hedged risk. Amended hedging relationships should meet
all qualifying criteria to apply hedge accounting, including effectiveness
requirements; and

e Disclosures. The amendments require disclosures in order to allow users
to understand the nature and extent of risks arising from the interest rate
benchmark reform to which the Group is exposed to and how the entity
manages those risks as well as the entity’s progress in transitioning from
interbank offered rates to alternative benchmark rates, and how the entity
is managing this transition.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has several Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR") bank loans which may be subject to interest rate benchmark
reform. The Group expects no significant gains or losses should the interest rate
benchmark for these loans change resulting from the reform on application of
the amendments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
in B M EmRMEE ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BE_E_—F=B=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current” and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the assessment
of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date for
classification of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

e specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should
be based on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by management intentions or
expectations to settle the liability within 12 months; and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance with covenants, the right
exists if the conditions are met at the end of the reporting period, even
if the lender does not test compliance until a later date.

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification as current or
non-current only if the entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence of the
Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the corresponding wordings with no change
in conclusion.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31 March 2021, the application
of the amendments will not result in reclassification of the Group's liabilities.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of
Accounting Policies”

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting
policies” with “material accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with other information
included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may be
material because of the nature of the related transactions, other events or
conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting
policy information relating to material transactions, other events or conditions
is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy
information, such information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements” (the “Practice
Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step
materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement to help entities.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group but may affect the
disclosures of the Group’s significant accounting policies.
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 “Definition of Accounting Estimates”

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy
may require items in financial statements to be measured in a way that involves
measurement uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require such
items to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be observed directly
and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity develops an accounting
estimate to achieve the objective set out by the accounting policy. Developing
accounting estimates involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on
the latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in HKAS 8 is
retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact
on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 “Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract”

The amendments specify that, when an entity assesses whether a contract is
onerous in accordance with HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets”, the unavoidable costs under the contract should reflect
the least net cost of exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the cost
of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it.
Costs of fulfilling the contract include incremental costs and an allocation of
other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (for example, an allocation
of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used
in fulfilling the contract).

The amendments are applicable to contracts for which the Group has not yet
fulfilled all its obligations as at the date of initial application. The application
of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRSs “Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 — 2020”
The annual improvements make amendments to the following standards.
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”)

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing whether modification
of terms of original financial liability constitutes substantial modification under
the “10 per cent” test, a borrower includes only fees paid or received between
the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or the lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16 removes
from the example the illustration of reimbursement relating to leasehold
improvements by the lessor in order to remove any potential confusion.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact
on the financial position and performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
in B M EmRMEE ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BE_E_—F=B=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3. REMBRIEREERIESEBR

3.1 REMBERREREL

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs and the principles of merger accounting under AG 5 issued
by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary users. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments and leasehold
land and buildings, which are measured at fair values and revalued amounts,
at the end of the reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given
in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if the market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in the consolidated financial statements is determined on such basis, except
for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
“Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or
value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset
in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z_F_—F=A=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3. MEUBRREREERIESEHBR @)
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3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (continued)
Basis of preparation (continued)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

E-RBARBAARBERNITERSY
DBEHhHREEN S EEERED G2
WE CREHRE);

e level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets .
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;
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e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within .
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and
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e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. .
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3.2 Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements
of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries).
Control is achieved when the Company:
e has power over the investee; o HWREHERREN
BRHERE S S RERAIE DR
[RRREUER AT AT O3 1A 5 B

® s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with o
the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. o HEENITHEHENUZEE[DR -
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and HWESENRSRER LY =T8RSt
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circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.
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Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of MEEE  WEBARZVERRSIELH
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group's 2 DBESTHRETEEAEBRNESTK
accounting policies. R e

FrEEBASEEREARBZRZNER
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All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between the members the Group are eliminated in

full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership interests
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
in B M EmRMEE ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BE_E_—F=B=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Merger accounting for business combination involving businesses
under common control
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements
items of the combining businesses in which the common control
combination occurs as if they had been combined from the date when the
combining businesses first came under the control of the controlling party.
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The net assets of the combining businesses are consolidated using the
existing book values from the controlling party’s perspective. No amount
is recognised in respect of goodwill or bargain purchase gain at the time of
common control combination.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive SRR MEMREKRREESEIED
income includes the results of each of the combining businesses from the BEEEIHPEXBEAHEBERTHRE
earliest date presented or since the date when the combining businesses el BB (DI B M 2E ) IOZE4E -

first came under the common control, where this is a shorter period.

FEMBRRNEBRSRRIENERC KA
—REPDHR EBERZHRF 2 < B (L
BREMEAE) EAFAKRET

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial statements are
presented as if the businesses had been combined at the beginning of the
previous reporting period or when they first came under common control,
whichever is shorter.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:
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e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits .
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

AEENBENEENRA—IBEE ' M
ZIREENAEBBEQAR RS 24
2

e the Group’'s performance creates or enhances an asset that the .
customer controls as the Group performs; or

AEENBNIREESAERTER
RENEE  BAEEHEZSETRE
KWEB AR THIMEGRIRRER] -

e the Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternative .
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

TR R BEFMEFEE R 22
IR HERD

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in exchange ARNEERAEERRNEPRINASEEE
for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a customer that ENE RRBBERENRER (MR R
is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with M) - HIRBEE B BIREELIE R
HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional ERE - R - EUGIEIEAREEWEAE
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before RYEGAF R - Bl SREREAENRERNEA
payment of that consideration is due. BB AS -

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or ERaEEREEREREFPBEREEL
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or REZHNSE) MAEAZTFEZEES R
an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. RIS EE -

BHER-GNZaNEERENEBERFEA
HEEANRKET -

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are
accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &HZ_FS_—F=A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3. MEUBRREREERIESEHBR @)

3.2 FEFEBR )

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) FEEF SR E (&)
A point in time revenue recognition Woas R BRI

The revenue of the Group is recognised at a point in time except for revenue
from certain sales, which are recognised over time. Under the transfer-of-
control approach in HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
("HKFRS 15”), revenue from certain sales of goods to the Group's
customers in connection with the production of cable assembly products
are recognised when the goods are physically passed to the customers,
which is the point in time when the customer has the ability to direct the
use of the goods and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of
the goods upon customer acceptance.

Over time revenue recognition

For certain sales of goods of the Group’s customers in connection with
the production of cable assembly products, revenue is recognised overtime
when the performance does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date based on contract terms.

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is
measured based on input method, which is to recognise revenue on the
basis of the Group's effects or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that
performance obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes. Property, plant and equipment (other than buildings which are
accounted for using revaluation model since 30 June 2020) are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses,
if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the
extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest
in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated
statement of financial position. When the consideration cannot be allocated
reliably between non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,
plant and equipment.

Upon completion of the Acquisition as set out in note 1, the Group changed
its policy to account for buildings from cost model to revaluation model
with effect from 30 June 2020.

Buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purpose, are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at fair value at the date of the revaluation less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying
amount does not differ materially from that which would be determined
using fair values at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
in B M EmRMEE ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BE_E_—F=B=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3. REMBRREUELERFTESEBR @)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Any revaluation increase arising from revaluation of property, plant and
equipment is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in property revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a
revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognise in profit or loss,
in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the

3.2 FEFETBUR ()

HE - BERZE )

BEEYME BRERRBEEE ZTAMERZ
B HREMEEBAFRER - WRYES
EFEERE - EREARNERPERNE
—EEMNEGHRER - BT - 1EiE
FEABR o ELUERIIRRAVEIE AR © g
ME - BENRREEENEREFEERDNIE

decrease previously charged. A decrease in net carrying amount arising on
revaluation of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss
to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, on the property revaluation
reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent
sale or retirement of a revalued asset, the attributable revaluation surplus is
transferred to accumulated profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method or reducing balance method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components. Non-lease components are separated from lease
component and are accounted for by applying other applicable standards.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of
staff quarters and office premises that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less
any lease incentives received; and

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
i B MR EmRMEE (o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &HZ_FS_—F=A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 3. S 48HBRRENELBRIESIEHE»)
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 TEEEBR @)
Leases (continued) S =)
The Group as a lessee (continued) KEBIERATN ()
Right-of-use assets (continued) FRBEE®)

Except for leasehold land which is measured under revaluation model since
30 June 2020 as described below, right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Upon completion of the Acquisition as set out in note 1, the Group changed
its policy to account for leasehold land included under right-of-use assets
from cost model to revaluation model with effect from 30 June 2020.

Any revaluation increase arising from revaluation of right-of-use asset is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in property
revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation
decrease of the same asset previously recognise in profit or loss, in which
case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease
previously charged. A decrease in net carrying amount arising on revaluation
of right-of-use asset is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it
exceeds the balance, if any, on the property revaluation reserve relating to
a previous revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent sale or retirement
of a revalued asset, the attributable revaluation surplus is transferred to
accumulated profits.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-
of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures
the lease liability at the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever the lease term has
changed.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to
use one or more underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate
with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
in B M EmRMEE ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BE_E_—F=B=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3. MEMBRREREERIESEHBR @)

3.2 FEFEBR ()

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued) HE @)
The Group as a lessee (continued) REFELAFN (#)
Lease modifications (continued) HEBT )

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the
Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease incentives receivable,
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the
modified contract contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that
the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.
Such grants are presented under “other income”.

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period
in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities
(or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and
only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

e the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale;

e the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
e the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

e how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic
benefits;

e the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

e the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the
intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is
the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible
asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets
are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as intangible assets that are
acquired separately.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is calculated using the first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which
are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost
of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income and
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to
collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE_CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
R e MR HmRMEE G
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z_F_—F=A=1+—HIFE

3. MEUBRREREERIESEHBR @)

3.2 FEFEBR )

=5
BEDZEAETEEFERETHNRES
SR o BRASTDIRASEE N ERTE » AR
FEREFENGTEERMBATIRA
KB ERTRRIRA

E#HTH
HERERKATESNERXMETNT » 8
TREENSHBETLUER -

TREELSREERDEATENE @
MERIBEAMIERELEN B 15T EBZRK
BEP e ELCE ZBUGRIRRI -
WESBRTEREELSREAMBERES
R BRI IATERBR N ZIA SR E EN
SRS ENATFEPTASHR GNER)

ERMNEEDNFECREENSRE R
85 A LUK AR B HA A R SR R A BB 2
BEMTE - BEMETINADAERR RS
BEENS R A G F I E A BIE
BIEME T AR RR WA RN R (BIE
BREBENEANTRREBINDHMENRD
WER ~ XRANEMSESITE) £R
EDFERIFIZE o

THEE
SHEENDANERKE
A TIRENSREELRIZEEBAS

= -

REBRRUEIANRESNEBMNEBER
FENSHEE K

. ANERNEEARELASRE - T
SERERAD R R B EADHOR BA
SER

FrEHEtERMEENERZAFEFARS

HE o

(i) EESHRA R BHA
HEZBHAARFTENSRHEENFE
WABREBRMNTEER - FESWAE
BEABHRA XN EENBKREE
R HREEERENSREER
S EHREEERENSREEM
5 ABBMAB T —HEHRELER
& B B A RS R S B RO 8 AT
R - HMEFEHENEHITENEER
RAEMNE  EMSEREETBREE
BE - M EWARBEEZEEY EE
SRERNRENRDEEREMER
MEREMEENBRMERR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
in B M EmRMEE ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BE_E_—F=B=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3. REMBRIEREERIESEBR @)

3.2 FEFEBR ()

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued) EHMTHE )
Financial assets (continued) BREE (1)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other gains
and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9
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The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss
(“ECL") model on financial assets which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, amount due from ultimate
holding company, pledged bank deposits and bank balances) and other
items (contract assets and financial guarantee contracts) which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

REFRKIE SRUGRIE « RE—HEREHR
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The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables, trade
receivable from a fellow subsidiary and contract assets. The ECL on these
assets is assessed individually.
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For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to
12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk () EEREAEEM

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since REEEERRBMRERBLIREE R
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring RIgINEF » AEBLESHM T ERRE
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk HEEHRZONEREZES/m T AENY
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of AR B BRI BN AR o (FLLFEE
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers g REESZESETEEELIFN
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and EEREUHER @ BEBEKREEA
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking TEEARANE R AL DB AT E S AV TR
information that is available without undue cost or effort. &R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

3. BASIS

E_F_—F=A=t—HILFE

OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

@

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk,
e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing impairment. In
assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit
risk since initial recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the Group
considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default
on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
in B M EmRMEE ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

BE_ZR_—HF=A=1+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

(iv

=

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower,;
(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or

other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over one year past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default
and loss given default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the
ECL is the present value of the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group
expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective interest
rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply a discount rate that
reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and
the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent
that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting the discount rate
instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
i B MR EmRMEE (o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &HZ_FS_—F=A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3. MEUBHRREREERIESEHBR @)

3.2 FEFEBR )

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued) EHMTITE )
Financial assets (continued) BREE (1)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
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Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.
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The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for
all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables, trade receivable from a fellow subsidiary

and contract assets where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in
the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amount due to
ultimate holding company and unsecured bank borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make
specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair
values and are subsequently measured at the higher of:

(i) the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with
HKFRS 9; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset
to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset at amortised cost, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
in B M EmRMEE ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BE_E_—F=B=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3. MEMBRREREERIESEHBR @)

3.2 FEFEBR ()

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including
the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under that standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another
standard, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase under that standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &HZ_FS_—F=A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 3. S4B RRENELERTIESIEHE ®)
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 FEFEBR )

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing
similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at
the date of grant. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of
equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in note 29.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at
the date of grant without taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve). At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number
of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to
the share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will
be transferred to accumulated profits.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
in B M EmRMEE ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BE_E_—F=B=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3. MEMBRREREERIESEHBR @)

3.2 FEFEBR ()

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to government-managed retirement benefits schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages
and salaries) after deducting any amount already paid.

BKTEFIRLAR

BT EEAVRNBAN TS Ko s it AE S5
SIMIRIINEEERERE M EEZEZ

R R RS o

EHIES iEF

RHESENNEERMRE A X
NRANARITRSRER - TEERREER
MEER R © FRIES —IREBYHRELE
RIERR AT EEEIMAEERE » A

TERI °

ERELZNNEASERER - HEEES

HofEA (Blan TE M) BRAE -

Taxation nE
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and PR ASIEEHENBIEIELERIE 42
deferred tax. o
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The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit before taxation because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

BEBRRRBEGEMBEREPEENEEN
SR EREERAN T EERTEN A ERE
ZENERERMED - BEREEEER
SR BRI S R R o WA RE

JERBOGEF TSR EEZE RN E =
B - BI—RSLFTE AR B i 2R R
RIERIEEE - AN ZFR B HERUGE

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary MRS e EErERGTHEHMEE E
difference arises from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities BB EDR  ASEENBEHRNTE
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting R

profit.

BEBRREREIZNNBARZKRERBEZ
JERBE S ERMED - EEAEE T 2H
iR O MR AR RSN
SFRERIARSS - EZFREB B AN
HREBREL CRELERABEENURKE

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that RAEEB R IS RENER MG - B
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits WETEHN AT R R B2 180 75 T LU
of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the R

foreseeable future.

BEERIAEENRAENSREPRETE
B - WiEE A E A AR R SR E RS
MEKEIZIEE EN2ERSEME D A LE

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

BEBRREELBELREBRACEHR
HEE LEEBMTE (KFE) HER - R
BREEEAERSREENBRBERNG

i E -

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which
the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities,
the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the
lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements
to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments for the principal
portion of lease liabilities results in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by
the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY AND CRITICAL

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving estimations
(see below), that the directors have made in the process of applying the Group'’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred tax in respect of temporary differences attributable to the
undistributed profits of subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC")

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no deferred tax has been
provided for the undistributed profits in the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
HK$427,957,000 (2020: HK$270,758,000) as the Group is in a position to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
in B M EmRMEE ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BE_E_—F=B=+—HIFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY AND CRITICAL 4. AR EZFEREREBESTHIE &)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumption concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, is described below.

Valuation of right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment at
revaluation model

The Group's leasehold land included under right-of-use assets and buildings
included under property, plant and equipment (the “Land and Buildings”) are
accounted for using revaluation model at the end of the reporting period.

The management of the Group works closely with the independent firm of
qualified professional property valuer to establish and determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and key inputs for fair value measurements. Where there is
a material change in the fair value of the assets, the causes of the fluctuations
will be reported to the management of the Group. Information about the
valuation techniques and key inputs used in determining the fair value of the
Group's Land and Buildings is disclosed in notes 15 and 16, respectively.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

The management of the Group estimates the amount of lifetime ECL of trade
receivables based on individual assessment, after considering the financial
background and the historical settlement records, including the past due dates
and default rates of each trade receivable. Estimated loss rates are based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are
adjusted for forward-looking information. At every reporting date, the default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about
the ECL and the Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note 38.

Asat31March 2021, the carryingamount of trade receivablesis HK$745,151,000
(2020: HK$501,672,000). Details of trade receivables are set out in note 19. No
loss allowance was recognised for both years.

Assessment of the net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable values. The
management of the Group is required to exercise judgement in estimating the
net realisable value with reference to the ageing analysis of inventories and
recent or subsequent usages or sales of inventories. Where the expectation on
net realisable value is lower than the cost for certain items, a write down of
inventories may arise.

The carrying amount of inventories is HK$474,894,000 (2020: HK$401,171,000)
as at 31 March 2021. During the year ended 31 March 2021, obsolete
inventories of HK$4,646,000 (2020: HK$2,356,000) are written off.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The management of the Group determines the estimated useful lives and
related depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment as disclosed
in note 15. These estimates are based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.

The management of the Group will increase the depreciation charge where
useful lives are expected to be shorter than estimated, or it will write-off or
write-down obsolete assets that have been abandoned or sold. Change in these
estimations may have a material impact on the results of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
i B MR EmRMEE (o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &HZ_FS_—F=A=+—HIFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. HEpEFR

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” (“HKFRS 8") requires operating segments to be
identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that
are regularly reviewed by Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM") in order
to allocate resources to segments and to assess their performance. Specifically,
the Group's reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are organised into two main
operating divisions — (i) cable assembly and (ii) networking cables.

The accounting policies the Group used for segment reporting under HKFRS
8 are the same as those used in its HKFRS consolidated financial statements.
Information reported to the Group’s chief executive officer, being the CODM, for
the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods delivered.

The basis of measurement of segment results has been changed due to the
completion of the Acquisition by presenting the segment results of cable
assembly and networking cables. The corresponding segment revenue and
results for the year ended 31 March 2020 and segment assets and liabilities as
at 31 March 2020 have been restated.

Principal activities of the Group’s reportable segments are as follows:

Cable assembly — manufacturing and trading of cable assembly

products
Networking cables -  manufacturing and trading of networking cables
products

These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its operating segment
information.

Segment results represent the profit earned or loss incurred by each segment
without allocation of results attributable to professional fees and costs relating
to acquisition of business, finance costs, unallocated income and unallocated
expenses. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
in B M EmRMEE ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BE_E_—F=B=+—HIFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. DEPEH @)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by operating and DU R AN EN R KA 2 FREI DY
reportable segments for the year: Wik REERE DT
(a) Segment revenue and results (a) PEPUIERR A&
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BEE—fF-HA=—+—HIFE
Total
Cable Networking reportable
assembly cables segments Eliminations Total
2
EiRMEH HFRER ERERET Hips 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FExT FET FET FET
Segment revenue oERUES
External sales SNERSHE 1,655,508 1,352,511 3,008,019 - 3,008,019
Inter-segment sales DEEHEE 122 22,220 22,342 (22,342) -
1,655,630 1,374,731 3,030,361 (22,342) 3,008,019
Segment results DEREELE 253,818 71,650 325,468 - 325,468
Professional fees and costs 5 B BB ZEFSHY
relating to acquisition of ~ H2% A KA
business (4,168)
Finance costs Eii=ipmN (42,525)
Unallocated income RAEA 628
Unallocated expenses ROBCE (11,292)
Profit before taxation FREL A& A 268,111
For the year ended 31 March 2020 (restated) BE T _FF=A="1—HIFE
(#&EZ)
Total
Cable Networking reportable
assembly cables segments Eliminations Total
A2
BRAN s EBAR D EAEET (S Hast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHET FHTT FHT
Segment revenue HEBULER
External sales HMNERSH & 1,438,630 1,341,520 2,780,150 - 2,780,150
Inter-segment sales DEEHEE 146 20,141 20,287 (20,287) -
1,438,776 1,361,661 2,800,437 (20,287) 2,780,150
Segment results DEREELE 190,173 97,858 288,031 - 288,031
Professional fees and costs 5 B BB ZEFSHY
relating to acquisition of ~ EEEER R EA
business (19,079)
Finance costs Eii=ipwN (70,245)
Unallocated income KA 1,110
Unallocated expenses ROBCE (10,965)
Profit before taxation FREL A& A 188,852
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &HZ_FS_—F=A=+—HIFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. A& @)

(b) HHEER S
REEHT 2 HRAEHBRA WA HEE

(b) Segment assets and liabilities
An analysis of the Group’'s segment assets and segment liabilities by

reportable and operating segments is as follows: EAEaEsmamT -
Cable Networking
At 31 March 2021 assembly cables Consolidated
A S —HF=A=+—H ERAEM HBIEER e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FET
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AI2HAMEE 985,734 1,610,509 2,596,243
Unallocated assets KABEE 2,721
Consolidated total assets IREBEE 2,598,964
Liabilities =1
Reportable segment liabilities AERIEEBE 415,036 306,374 721,410
Unallocated liabilities NN == 1,013,153
Consolidated total liabilities AR EeEs 1,734,563
Cable Networking
At 31 March 2020 (restated) assembly cables  Consolidated
AT _FE=A=+—H (K=E7)) B BrEERR e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T FHET
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AE2HAHMEE 1,032,941 2,145,675 3,178,616
Unallocated assets KABEE 8,815
Consolidated total assets HAREE 3,187,431
Liabilities =1
Reportable segment liabilities AEwRAHEE 385,721 447,171 832,892
Unallocated liabilities NN = 1,188,644
Consolidated total liabilities FEAaERES 2,021,536

REEDBRFAIEDBEIEER

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating
resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to operating segments other than certain other o [RETHMEWFIE - RITHEKRKIES
receivables, bank balances and cash and other unallocated assets; and DIREMARDEEES - TEEEHRD
[ G S

e all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than certain o BRETIRITMER - HMENRERIEM
bank borrowings, other payables and other unallocated liabilities. RAEBEN  FIEEEHIRELRE

o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
in B M EmRMEE ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BE_E_—F=B=+—HIFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. HEEH =)
(c) Other information () Efth&Es
For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE T —F=H=—HILFE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment STADERMNEEERX DA EETENS
assets. ] -

Cable Networking

assembly cables Consolidated
EIRAEMY HRER =&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT AT FET
Capital additions EARIEM 38,886 8,714 47,600
Depreciation of property, plant and W RENEREITE
equipment 24,567 33,146 57,713
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 8,916 5,287 14,203
Loss on disposal and written off of property, & K&MEEHIZE « MENEHEH
plant and equipment gt 1,991 47 2,038
Write off of inventories FEihs 4,646 - 4,646
For the year ended 31 March 2020 (restated) HE—F_FHE=HA=—1—HIIFE
(#&&E%)
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment STADERMNEEIEX DA EETENS
assets. FERD
Cable Networking
assembly cables  Consolidated
BaRAN HBAEEBRR e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT FHIT
Capital additions BEAREM 13,132 41,299 54,431
Depreciation of property, plant and WE ~ BENERIEITE
equipment 22,430 33,446 55,876
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEITE 8,486 1,351 9,837
Loss on disposal and written off of property, H&KilisEZE  ME MEEN
plant and equipment gt} 26 33 59
Write off of inventories BFEME 2,356 - 2,356
Information about the Group's revenue from external customers presented HRAEEZRBRESWIBMAEZ7IZRE S
based on the geographical location of the customers is as follows: HEEHNREERT ¢
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
(restated)
(&&E7)
PRC [==]E7] 1,582,132 1,347,544
The United States of America ESET 752,591 700,977
Netherlands AT 184,299 139,275
Singapore H N 176,095 171,507
Hong Kong BB 117,691 157,340
United Kingdom ZEREY 36,557 68,619
Others Hi 158,654 194,888

3,008,019 2,780,150
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding financial assets at
FVTPL and rental deposits) is presented based on the geographical location of

2R —HFZA=+—HILFE

5. #EPEF @)

BEASENEREEE (FEERATFEFA
BRNSREEREERS) WERHZEENM

the assets: BUEZ7 :

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T
(restated)
(#==%1)
PRC ==]E7] 1,128,657 766,826
Hong Kong B 11,906 9,931
1,140,563 776,757

Information about major customers BRXrEZEFNER

Revenues from customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of
the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

RABFEZ WS ERMEAEBE B 10% 2
OISR

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FiBT

(restated)

(&=E5))

Customer A ZEA 478,094 485,105
Customer B =FEB 807,135 677,183
Customer C BEC 476,338 456,472
Customer D 25D N/A RNER* 350,146

*  The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the
Group.

6. REVENUE

Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received and receivable by the
Group in respect of the manufacturing and sales of cable assembly products
and networking cables products, during the years ended 31 March 2021 and
2020.

The revenue of the Group derives from manufacturing and sales of cable
assembly products and networking cables products. The Group’s revenue is
fixed price and short-term contracts. The normal credit term is 30 to 120 days
upon delivery.

The revenue of the Group is recognised at a point in time except for revenue
from certain sales, which are recognised over time. Under the transfer-of-control
approach in HKFRS 15, revenue from certain sales of goods to the Group's
customers in connection with the production of cable assembly products and
networking cables products are recognised when the goods are physically
passed to the customers, which is the point in time when the goods have
been delivered or shipped to the customers’ specific location (delivery) and the
customer has the ability to direct the use of the goods and obtain substantially all
of the remaining benefits of the goods upon customer acceptance. For certain
sales of cable assembly, revenue is recognised over time when the performance
does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

All sales contracts are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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6. REVENUE (continued) 6. W&
Revenue from its major products FEERFEHNR
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from its major products: AEBBEETEERMERENATAT -
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
(restated)
(REF)
Cable assembly TR
— Optical fibres - 970,582 827,792
— Copper -8R 684,927 610,838
Networking cables HrRER
— Cat 6/6A cables - Cat 6/6AE#R 1,001,233 934,610
- Cat 5/5e cables — Cat 5/5e B 47 226,309 220,986
— Cat 7/7A cables - Cat 7/7AS4 44,683 100,127
- Others — Hh 80,285 85,797
3,008,019 2,780,150
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
(restated)
(RZ&E5)
Over time Eisd 807,135 677,183
Point in time MRE—RFREEL 2,200,884 2,102,967
3,008,019 2,780,150
7. OTHER INCOME 7. EHfA
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
(restated)
(&E31)
Government grants (note) BT HEBD (FET) 11,585 12,060
Interest income ISV N 627 1,113
Others Hith 1,743 1,893
13,955 15,066
Note:  During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognised government grants st : MEBEZZ"—HF=B=1+—HILHFE  F&

of HK$1,674,000 (2020: nil) relating to Employment Support Scheme provided
by the Hong Kong Government. The remaining government grants for both years
are related to export and other incentive payments received by the Group from
relevant government departments. There are no unfulfilled conditions attached to

these grants.

E R E BB ATR S BR T BINBUT
801,674,000 (ZE -4+ #) - ME
FEMRTBUTH BN SRS B AR BB BT R FT
WE R O R H A AR B R IE R BE - 2B
B ARIETER M -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BE_ZFE_—F=B=1+—HIEFE

8.

10.

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

8. Hftliz R &R

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THTT
(restated)
(#&E31)
Net foreign exchange loss (gain) SMERSE (st ) 7FEE 9,190 (5,601)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEWZE - RENMRENEER 2,038 59
Gain on change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL BATESTABRNESREENATE
FESR (258) (198)
10,970 (5,740
FINANCE COSTS 9. REMA
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
(restated)
(&&E3)
Interest on unsecured bank borrowings IEIRIRITEA S 39,803 67,377
Interest on lease liabilities HEEENE 2,722 2,868
42,525 70,245
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 10. BRFREIRF
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
(restated)
(#&eE371)
Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging: FREL AR FILHNBR T ES
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M~ BEAEEITE 57,713 55,876
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEETE 14,203 9,837
Less: capitalised in inventories B BEEARE (58,293) (54,690)
Less: included in research and development expenses B BERHEASR (3,615) (2,225)
10,008 8,798
Directors’ emoluments (note 11) EEHE (FIEE11) 14,569 12,228
Other staff costs HMWE T A 336,929 286,754
Retirement benefits schemes contributions for other staff HWE THVRRERIGT B 33,348 37,126
Equity-settled share-based payment for other staff EfhE T i ansa B LD R R
N 4,009 4,316
Total staff costs BT A28 388,855 340,424
Less: capitalised in inventories B BEEAL (261,899) (226,641)
Less: included in research and development expenses B BERMERESR (43,140) (31,432)
83,816 82,351
Auditor’s remuneration 2 2,680 2,311
Cost of inventories recognised as expense (note) RN EERA (M) 2,427,802 2,280,536
Expense relating to short-term leases BREEHEENFE S 3,627 3,823
Note:  Write off of inventories amounting to HK$4,646,000 (2020: HK$2,356,000) was et : BEZSZ—HF=A=+—HLFE"
recognised as an expense during the year ended 31 March 2021. HMi5H 77 594,646,000 7T (ZF Z R4

2,356,000 7T ) FERRARFISL ©

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BE_E_—F=B=+—HIFE
11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to directors of the Company are as follows:

1. B  TRAMRESHE

(a) EEM=
ENSENAARESZHMEERIINT

Performance Equity- Retirement
related settled benefits
Salaries and incentive share-based schemes
Fees allowances payment  payments  contributions Total
RERREE
E3E] P BAKTEF
g HEREE  AERE  EREE HE [0 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET T THT THET T
For the year ended BEE_ &
31 March 2021 =A=t—HLEFE
Executive directors: HTEF
Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon (note) TRRGELE (EE) - 3,120 3,382 376 144 7,022
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen BSELE - 2,470 3,191 342 114 6,117
Non-executive director: FEHFTEE -
Mr. Paul Lo EMERE 390 - - 65 - 455
Independent non-executive directors: B IFHTEE -
Mr. Ho Hin Shun fEEEE 260 - - 65 - 325
Mr. Luk Wai Shing BB ITE 260 - - 65 - 325
Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric BRBELE 260 - - 65 - 325
1,170 5,590 6,573 978 258 14,569
For the year ended HE_S_FF
31 March 2020 =A=t—HtEE
Executive directors: HTEF
Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon (note) TRRGEAE (aE) - 3,120 2,238 746 144 6,248
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen BEOREEE - 2,470 1,119 677 114 4,380
Non-executive director: FEHFTEE -
Mr. Paul Lo EMERE 360 - - 130 - 490
Independent non-executive directors: B IFHTEE -
Mr. Ho Hin Shun EEEE 240 - - 130 - 370
Mr. Luk Wai Shing BB ITE 240 - - 130 - 370
Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric BRBELE 240 - - 130 - 370
1,080 5,590 3,357 1,943 258 12,228
Note:  Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon is the chief executive officer of the Company and his MIEE @ FIRARELERAARMNITHARS » LT

emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as
the chief executive officer.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in
connection with the management of affairs of the Group. The emoluments
of non-executive director and independent non-executive directors shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

The performance related incentive payment is determined with reference to
the operating results and individual performance.

WEEM S BEEEETBRRSIRMRE
KB -

LFHFFATESHES D AEERARES
BREZRBEFHFI - EXAIRIFATESR
BISERTESNHMARSEEAARE
EHRFEME

REMEERE2ELEXENEARRME

&
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BZE"F_

—F=ZRA=1T—HLEFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, 2 (2020:
2) were directors and the chief executive officer of the Company whose
emoluments are included in the disclosures above. The emoluments of the

remaining 3 (2020: 3) individuals were as follows:

1. B  TBHEARREEME

(b) EEM=
AEELEBREFMALSH > MR (T
BE I MB) RAARNEFRITBEH (HE
BN FAURER) c KR =R (TF T
T 1 =8) ALHBEmT

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET THT

(restated)

(#&&E31)

Salaries and other benefits e LEAMER 4,777 4,870
Performance related incentive payment FIERARS 1,472 1,345
Equity-settled share-based payments RIS LR D R BT AIER 470 722
Retirement benefits schemes contributions IRREAFTBIHER 110 108
6,829 7,045

The performance related incentive payment is determined with reference to

the operating results and individual performance.

The number of the five highest paid employees who are not the directors
nor the chief executive officer of the Company whose emoluments fell

within the following bands are as follows:

KREMEERE2ELLEXELEAREME
E .

FARAESHITRAREN OB EDHHE
& » HMlENF TII8En ¢

Number of individuals

AE
2021 2020
(restated)
(#E5)
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 C22,000,0005 7T 1 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 522,500,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 5% 3,000,000/ 7T 1 1
3 3

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the Company and

AREBEWEAAQADERLAEBITR

:vu:ﬁ

the chief executive officer of the Group or the five highest paid individuals
(including directors, chief executives and employees) as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None

HLELEREHAT(BREES  RETERA
ERNEE) XN EMBMESFERINARERD
TEMAAREE A EZR SN BEBAE - FRRE

of the directors of the Company nor the chief executive officer of the Group FE - BEAQAREENAREETHAESK
waived any emoluments during both years. ZEAAEEN -
12. TAXATION 12. 1RI8
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHT
(restated)
(#==%)
Hong Kong Profits Tax BBREH
Current tax BNEARLIE 21,953 21,098
Underprovision in respect of prior years RIBEFEERBRR 1 228
21,954 21,326
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") R ZERTER (TR )
Current tax BDERRIR 17,798 10,254
Overprovision in respect of prior years BB - (1,950)
Withholding tax in the PRC FREITEFNR 1,603 3,599
19,401 11,903
Deferred tax (note 27) IEFERLIE (FEE27) 125 1,139
41,480 34,368
() Hong Kong Profits Tax (i) HEFER

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable

profit for both years.

B916.5%5T& o

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
in B M EmRMEE ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &ZET —F=A=1+—HLEFE

12. TAXATION (continued)
(ii) PRCEIT

12. MIE )
(i) PEEEFER

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, certain entities of
the Group operating in the PRC were awarded the Advanced-Technology
Enterprise Certificate and are eligible for tax concessionary rate of 15% for
the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Certain entities operating in the PRC that have taxable income of not more
than RMB 3 million are qualified as small and micro enterprises for the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. For the first RMB1 million taxable income,
25% of its first RMB1 million taxable income would be taxed at a reduced
rate of 20%. With effect from 1 January 2021, these entities were entitled
to a further reduced EIT rate of 10% on 25% of its first RMB1 million
taxable income. For the portion over first RMB1 million and up to RMB3
million, only 50% of the taxable income would be taxed at a reduced EIT
rate of 20%.

The withholding tax mainly represented taxation recognised in respect of
dividend income from PRC subsidiaries and is recognised at tax rates of
10% (2020: 5%) in accordance with the Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law of the PRC.

According to relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Tax
Bureau of the PRC that was effective from 2008 onwards, enterprises
engaging in research and development activities are entitled to claim an
additional 75% of their research and development expense so incurred
as tax deductible expenses when determining their assessable profits for
the period up to 31 December 2020. With effect from 1 January 2021,
these entities are entitled to claim an additional 100% of their research and
development expenses (“Super Deduction”). The Group has made its best
estimate for the Super Deduction to be claimed for the Group’s entities
in ascertaining their assessable profits for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation as follows:

RBREDEEPTERIE (TREMETEL) &
CEMBRIEERMAR - PRENBARNE
EIn25% - RBFEEEEEIOER - AFE
@ﬁA‘:F‘. ENETERERSNEIibhE
BE O UINEEC T —FRZFTFF=
A=T—HLEFERGERZRIS%NEE

RPEHZEEERBRATEBAREIA
BETNETERBRBE_S_—FK_°F
_RE-ZA=t-HLEFEFENREE
NER - HNEEARKITETHERK
WA - EEZARBIEBETERTIAN
25% 12 20% BRI AR LR R - B T
—F—-A—H& ZEERERIHEZA
R 1 BBTERBWAN25%E—FEE
10%EEAMBRHEE - HREZEARE T
B EE3FETLUTAERD - E50%8
FER UL AN IR 20% YR #R (R ZEFTS B A K
i o

TRNB E R IR 2R B PRI B ARSI
NFERRIBIR - WARERBMEMEHIEE
T ANZ10% (TR "4 5% ) NHLEE

e

REPEHERHBREAMNE —FF/\FIE
ERREBERIOENR - EFHBFBNE
FNEEEE_F_FF+_A=t—HE
AP - BRESEHELNRRAX
HIERINT5 % FIEA BRI - B - _—4
—HA—HE > ZFEEERANEZRENH
FIsZHI100%(BERIEAN ) - AEECTHASE
E E RS A ERABEREAE R EAET - L
BEBRE_S_—F=A=+—HLEFEN
FERTLEA]

FEBIRAERFRDRAE RN T

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

TFHET FiEIT

(restated)

(RE5)

Profit before taxation BRA BT A 268,111 188,852
Tax charge of Hong Kong Profits Tax at 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) £16.5% R =T E B BFER L H

BT 6. 44,238 31,161

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes R E AR IR R I & 4,404 5,456

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes FELE B EERRBANR BT E (469) (137)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBRIRES BN EZE 523 -

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not recognised B A RER BB IS E (84) 61)

Effect of income tax on concessionary rates for PRC subsidiaries FT75%: ¥ P BB A BB B KA L (3,862) (1,421)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries in jurisdictions other %x%lfjﬁhj/ﬂ%@ﬁ’]ﬁﬁﬁ@jzz_ﬂ

than Hong Kong SRR FG s 28 1,178 1,190

Under(over)provision in respect of prior years E’\‘Lﬁfﬁfﬁé{ﬁﬂ'ﬂ (BEERE) 1 (1,722)

Super Deduction for research and development expenses A3 B 2 A B RE A (5,925) (4,345)

Effect of withholding tax on dividend income from PRC TENRL 2R B PR B A TR SWA

subsidiaries s & 1,603 3,599

Others Hih (127) 648

Taxation for the year EEFRIE 41,480 34,368
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BE_ZFE_—F=B=1+—HIEFE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

13. BIREF

FNTIFBENEEBRERLEERATIZ T
HEAE -

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
(restated)
(&EF)
Earnings for the purposes of calculating basic and diluted BALGESRERN SR TINERF
earnings per share (profit for the year attributable to owners — (RAR G AEGERZA])
of the Company) 226,361 154,080
Number of shares
B2
2021 2020
'000 '000
Fhs T
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose LT E G IS EL A R B 38 B hn e
of calculating basic earnings per share RO E R 1,840,057 1,840,000
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: BIEE ST AR E
— Share options - R - 17,419
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose B LGt E S EE R 00L BN
of calculating diluted earnings per share RO E R 1,840,057 1,857,419
The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March FAEHES_—HF-A=t+t—HULFESKE

2021 did not assume the exercise of the Company’s share options because the

SBE AR RRRTEANTBE - FHBRE

adjusted exercise price of the share options (after the adjustment of the fair MRKREITHE (ARREEEREATER) S
value of the unvested share options) was higher than the average market prices REE S _—HF=RA=1+—HIEFENEAAT
of shares of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2021. A HE -
14. DIVIDENDS 14. BE
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Dividends recognised as distribution during the year: RENERAD JKE’JH&Q :
2020 final dividend — HK1.5 cents (2020: 2019 final dividend —F _ZFREKE — B AG
— HK2 cents) per ordinary share 1.574L (= iﬁ :?\;—ﬂ
FRBKS —’iﬂﬁjstiﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ) 27,600 36,800
2021 interim dividend — HK1.5 cents (2020: 2020 interim ":—EEEPH;@HQE' B AG
dividend — HK1 cent) per ordinary share 158 (ZRTRE  ZRTF
FEARERRE S —’iﬂﬁjt B 1AL ) 27,600 18,400
55,200 55,200

On 28 June 2021, a final dividend of HK 1.5 cents per ordinary share in
respect of the year ended 31 March 2021, totalling HK$27,606,000 has been
proposed by the board of directors of the Company. The final dividend is subject
to approval by the shareholders of the Company in the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

RIFE"—HFXAZ+N\H AAREEEESR
BEE_S =B =1+—HIFERERHY
& SR B 1.5l » #8%E 427,606,000/
It o R SEFAARRENERKREBEKR
e -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BE_E_—F=B=+—HIFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ¥ ~ BB R 1E

Furniture,
Leasehold Plant and Toolsand fixtures and Motor
Buildings improvements  machinery moulds  equipment vehicles Total
il RE
BF HEMEkE BERE® IARER Rt RE tH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FiEn FiEn TiEn TiEn FEn FER
COST OR VALUATION BAS fh(E
At 31 March 2019 (audited and RIZ—NE=A=1—H
originally stated) (BEHERES]) 75,698 83,068 43633 14,877 31,968 3,769 253,013
Merger accounting restatement AHesREEY (f:1)
(note 1) 151,385 31,922 681,893 21,034 30,736 1177 924,147
At 1 April 2019 (restated) RZZ-AEmA-A
(#E50) 227,083 114,990 725,526 35911 62,704 10,946 1,177,160
Currency realignment R (13,458) (7,281) (45,573) (2423) (4,200) (577) (73512)
Additions RE - 1,883 38,401 4,545 1,376 514 52,719
Disposals/written off e/ - - (495) - (434) - (929)
At 31 March 2020 (restated) R_Z_FE=R=1—H
(%7 213,625 109,592 717,859 38,033 65,446 10,883 1,155,438
Currency realignment BHAE 18,259 9377 58,551 3317 5,987 7123 96,214
Additions RE - 3,316 21,842 2,828 13,214 125 41,325
Disposalshwritten off HE /e - - (3,651) - (897) (498) (5,046)
Loss on revaluation to profitor loss T ABRAEMHEE (5,755) - - - - - (5,755)
Reclassification on revaluation to STAE(BRENELR
revaluation reserve v (2110) - - - - - (2110)
At 31 March 2021 R_E_—F=A=1—H 224,019 122,285 794,601 44,178 83,750 11,233 1,280,066
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ Ri147E
At 31 March 2019 (audited and RZZ-NE=A=1-H
originally stated) (BERRES) 445 38,714 14,027 8,108 15,046 1521 77,861
Merger accounting restatement B ES (f3)
(note 1) 55,513 15,356 299,082 13,121 25,119 5,015 413,206
At 1 Apri 2019 (restated) REF-NEFMA-H
(%75 55,958 54,070 313,109 21,229 40,165 6,536 491,067
Currency realignment BHuRR (3,552) (3,735) (20,065) (1,425) (2,699) (411) (31,887)
Provided for the year FERE 4,640 14,617 28,028 2,488 5,081 1,022 55,876
Disposals/written off HE /HsE - - (127) - (353) - (480)
At 31 March 2020 (restated) RIB_SE=R=1—H
(#&E75)) 57,046 64,952 320,945 22,292 42,194 1147 514,576
Currency realignment s 4,648 6,053 27,050 1975 3,765 540 44,031
Provided for the year R 5,496 15,105 27,5 2459 6,172 960 57,713
Disposalswritten off HE s - - (1,485) - (796) (449) (2,730)
Eliminated on revaluation RERGIEL (67,190) - - - - - (67,190)
At 31 March 2021 RZE_—%=A=+-H - 86,110 374,031 26,726 51,335 8,198 546,400
CARRYING VALUES REPRESENTING  EREIfEED
At 31 March 2021 RZZ_—F=A=1-H
- Cost N - 36,175 420,570 17,452 32,415 3,035 509,647
- Valuation L 224,019 - - - - - 224,019
224,019 36,175 420,570 17,452 32,415 3,035 733,666
At 31 March 2020 (restated) R_E_FF=A=1+—H
(&=51)
- Cost B 156,579 44,640 39,914 15,741 23,252 3,736 640,862
At 1 April 2019 (restated) RZF-NENA-A
(&=51)
- Cost —BA 171,125 60,920 412,417 14,682 22,539 4,410 686,093
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment, using straight-line method or reducing balance method over the
following useful lives:

Straight-line method:

Buildings Over the shorter of the remaining term
of the related land lease or estimated
useful lives

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of the lease or
10 years

Tools and moulds 5-10 years

Furniture, fixtures and 5—10 years

equipment

Motor vehicles 5 years

Reducing balance method:

Plant and machinery 10 - 15 years

Fair value measurement of the Land and Buildings

The Group has accounted for the Land and Buildings using the cost model in
previous years. In order to more accurately reflect the value of the Land and
Buildings held by the Group and provide more relevant information to the
users of the financial statements of the Group, the directors of the Company
have approved changes in the accounting policies of the Group for the Land
and Buildings from cost model to revaluation model with effect from 30 June
2020. The Group has adopted the change in accounting policy of the Land and
Buildings prospectively.

Upon the change to revaluation model on 30 June 2020, these Land and Buildings
were revalued with gain on revaluation of approximately HK$231,518,000
arising from right-of-use assets and approximately HK$64,037,000 arising
from property, plant and equipment, respectively, net of the corresponding
deferred tax liability of approximately HK$69,687,000, have been credited to
property revaluation reserve through other comprehensive income. A loss on
revaluation on a building of approximately HK$5,282,000 from property, plant
and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s Land and Buildings were revalued on 31 March 2021 by RHL
Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified valuer not related to the Group.
The resulting revaluation surplus of approximately HK$26,337,000 arising from
right-of-use assets and approximately HK$1,043,000 arising from property,
plant and equipment, respectively, net of the corresponding total deferred tax
liability of approximately HK$8,293,000, have been credited to the property
revaluation reserve for the year ended 31 March 2021. A further loss on
revaluation on a building of approximately HK$473,000 from property, plant
and equipment is recognised in profit or loss. The valuations by the independent
qualified valuer are arrived by direct comparison approach assuming sale of the
Land and Buildings in their existing states with their highest and best use and by
making reference to comparable sales transactions as available in the relevant
market. The direct comparison approach is based on market observable recent
transactions of similar properties in similar locations.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &HZ_FS_—F=A=+—HIFE

15. ¥% - BB RRE @)

B ~ KRR EBIR B RB LT A A EHL
BRI BUEM S LR AFHRITE ¢

Bk
BT MHE Tt E R TS
fHETRIME A AER (Ml
HEMERE FARAZL 104
(LIS ERE)
THEEER 5104
B~ REREME SEI0E
JRE 54
MR -
R B tas 108154
THRIEFZATEEE

REERBEFERARARINE T RETFA
iR o RREE R R RASER AN LI IETH
EBE  UAREEYBRENEHEREESSE
BER  ARNFAEFEHERAEE LI MNET
NS BERARAERERREGRER - BZF
“REXRA=THELERN - AEEEBBFRAL
i LTSS BURRVES)

BE_S_ZFAA=+HEXRAEHBERE
ZEITHMRBFEEGE  AEREEEL
E¥  RENRBEENE[KZEDBL
231,518,000 T K #964,037,0003# 7T+ H1kRAE
FERFER 1E & {5#769,687,000/8 T » ©HEBHE
REEBAGT ADESERHE - BVE  BE
LR EEENEFEMEIELS5,282,000/TH
ERPER -

AEEMM T REFRERNES N HEENS
NABRMEEMKANTITEREESRATE L
FT—FZPF=+—HEMRH - - BEAEEEL
ENE BMERIXBEENEGHBHRIALN
26,337,000 7T K 491,043,0005 7T » HIBRAEME
JEFE R A & (B A4E%E498,293,000# 7T/ » BEFA
BE S F-HF=t+—HIFENDESERS
il - AME  BMERRBE—SELNET
BEHEIBA473,0008 TN IEEAER - BiuS
BIREERNFTS A E T8 B B E L aAmiE
3 ERREZRLRETUERS RRIERBRA
BhRHE  USEHEETSLIENALEEEE
RPER - EELIBEDENEUE « B0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
in B M EmRMEE ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BE_E_—F=B=+—HIFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Fair value measurement of the Land and Buildings (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021, a total revaluation surplus of approximately
HK$257,855,000 arising from right-of-use assets and approximately
HK$65,080,000 arising from property, plant and equipment, respectively, and
corresponding deferred tax liability of approximately HK$77,980,000 were
recognised.

If the Land and Buildings of the Group had not been revalued, they would
have been included in these consolidated financial statements at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and their carrying amounts would have
been approximately HK$163,666,000 as property, plant and equipment and
approximately HK$93,253,000 as right-of-use assets as at 31 March 2021. No
comparative amounts at 31 March 2020 have been disclosed since the Group
changed to revaluation model for these assets since 30 June 2020.

The following table gives information about how the fair values of these Land
and Buildings are determined (in particular, the valuation technique and inputs
used), as well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements
are categorised (Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements is observable.

15. Y% - BWER R @)

THRIEFZAFEETE @)
BEEZTFZA=+—HILEE  BER
REFRABREELEYE BEAREESE
MEGEMRETED BIX 257,855,000 7T & 4
65,080,000 7T ' URKEEELEREEEDN
77,980,000 7T °

MAEE T MIBFIEE L EERERRA
BEFINETAZEREVBREAR - MERZ
ST —F=A=+—HINEYE  BELREU
RERAEEENREERD B %%9163,666,000
T M #793,253,0008 7T - ARNAEES _F_
SEANA=THERZSEEERZEHELN
HIEFEEN S _SF-A=+—HnkRS
%‘E °

TRIIAEEZ S L EFRNAFENE
B CEEAT BRI A ERMmMMARE) - LN
ERNAFEFTEMABRNIEREEMEEN
FEFERMBNATERR (F—RELE=H) -

Fair value  Valuation techniques and key Significant unobservable
Description Fair value at hierarchy  inputs inputs Sensitivity
it RUTHEBNATE ATEERR HESMREZBAZE ERNTRSEAZRIE BRE
31.3.2021 31.3.2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Buildings in the PRC 224,019 N/A  Level 3 Direct comparison method  Price per square metre, using A significant increase in
based on market observable market direct comparable the price per square meter
transactions of similar properties and taking into used would result in a
properties adjusted timing of account location and other  significant increase in the fair
reference transactions and  individual factors such as roadvalue measurement of the
property-specific adjustments frontage, size of property buildings, and vice versa.
including nature, location and etc., which is ranged from
conditions of the property. ~ RMB1,474 to RMB2,088
(2020: N/A) per square meter.
AR AR IE T 224,019 NER #=#H% BEERE  DERELY SFHKER  DRETHSE MERSTHIKERKEL
(NS HUERRS  $2 BEEALBYELLEEL FHEREFATESER
ERGNNEETRE - It EUREREIERE - WERN BLEA  R2TA -
ERYERTERE - B8FY SFHMENRE 87K
HEME ~ LB - NFEARKEA74TEARYE
2,0887C (ZFFE R
BA) -
Leasehold land in the PRC 358,051 N/A  Level 3 Direct comparison method  Price per square metre, using A significant increase in
based on market observable market direct comparable  the price per square meter
transactions of similar properties and taking into used would result in a
properties adjusted timing of account location and other  significant increase in the
reference transactions and  individual factors such as road fair value measurement of
property-specific adjustments frontage, size of property the leasehold land and vice
including nature, location and etc., which is ranged from versa.
conditions of the property.  RMB1,618 to RMB2,463
(2020: N/A) per square meter.
T BIHITE & £ it 358,051 NER B=H& BEEBE  DERELY SFIHKER  DERETHSE MERSTIKERKIEL

ENHSEABERS 32
EX SRR TRE 2
R EAE - BEY
EMNEE ~ LB RAR

BHEA BN LT B AL
BLIRREER  MERN
FHMERIRE - §F5K
NFEAREE618TEAR
2,46370 (ZF"FF 1R
R -

PEBEZR_—F=A=1T—HLFELREA
HEHE=MR -

THE SRS T A FHERT
ERBLEF 2K -

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year ended 31 March
2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)

i B MR EmRMEE (o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

2R —HFZA=+—HILFE

16. EHEEE

Leasehold Leasehold
land properties Total
S+ HEME HaEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tt T
(note a)
(Mista)
As at 31 March 2021 N_ZE_—F=H=+—H
Carrying amounts IRMEE
— Cost - K - 42,120 42,120
— Valuation - HE 358,051 - 358,051
358,051 42,120 400,171
As at 31 March 2020 (restated) RIFIBF=A=1—H K=E5)
Carrying amounts IREE
— Cost - BRR 88,356 46,360 134,716
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE_S_—HF-A=1+—HIFE
Gain on revaluation for the year (note a) FESEHMS (FsEa) 257,855 - 257,855
Depreciation for the year FETE 5,533 8,670 14,203
For the year ended 31 March 2020 (restated) BiE " FF=HF=1+—HIFE
(#E5)
Depreciation for the year FETE 2,429 7,408 9,837
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(restated)
(FE5)
Expense relating to short-term leases (note b) BRREHEEMNRR (W5tb) 3,627 3,823
Total cash outflow for leases HERSREAE 13,688 13,066
Additions to right-of-use assets FREEERE 845 4,152

Notes:

(@) The leasehold land held by the Group was accounted for as revaluation model with
effect from 30 June 2020. Please refer to note 15 for details.

(b) The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office and staff quarters, of
which the Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of office
and staff quarters. As at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020, the portfolio of short-
term leases in which practical expedient was applied is similar to the portfolio of short-
term leases to which the short-term leases expense disclosed above.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognised additions of right-
of-use assets amounting to HK$845,000 (2020: HK$4,152,000) and additions
of lease liabilities amounting to HK$845,000 (2020: HK$4,147,000).

For both years, the Group leases leasehold properties for its manufacturing
operations. Lease contracts for leasehold properties are entered into for fixed
term of 1to 15 years (2020: 1 to 15 years) respectively, but may have termination
options as described below. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

M5t

(@) AEEAMFENEELBIARIEEHERN - B
TECRFARAZTHREN - HBEFE2HME
15°

(b) AEEEHRBAZERETERIEHEE - M
YAZRE T EEHERMAEHEERER
e NB_—HF=A=1—HARZTFH=
A=+—H  CERWUTEEDENEHEERAS
SIS RSN LUK BEEIESASEM -

REE_ZS_—HF=RA=+—HLEFE - x%=H

EREREEERES45,0008TT (C B _F4F ¢

4,152,000 70) RS & ERES45,00087T(Z
T B4E 1 4,147,000587T) °

REZMEFE  AEEAEEESEHRESEY
% - EEHEMENEESNA BRI E15F
(CFTRF R155) WEEFY - BRTTE
TR IR - B0 RE B EERER 0 RS
BREANFRIGRS Y - A LA R AT
HEMNRER > AEBEAANES » DINE
ERRERITAHER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
in B M EmRMEE ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

16.

17.

18.

BE_ S —F-A=T—HLEFE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The Group has a termination option in a lease for a production plant in the PRC.
This is used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets
used in the Group’s operations. The termination option held is exercisable only
by the Group and not by the lessor. No extension options are included in any of
the lease agreements entered by the Group.

The Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain not to exercise a termination
option, upon the occurrence of either a significant event or a significant change
in circumstances that is within the control of the lessee. During the years ended
31 March 2021 and 2020, there is no such triggering event.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where its manufacturing
facilities are primarily located and office buildings. The Group is the registered
owner of these property interests, including the underlying leasehold land. Lump
sum payments were made upfront to acquire these property interests. The land
and building components of these owned properties are presented separately
since the payments made can be allocated reliably. The land component of
the Group is classified as right-of-use assets and the building component is
classified as property, plant and equipment.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

Upon the completion of the Acquisition as set out in note 1, a financial asset of
life insurance policy was acquired. A wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into a policy with an insurance company to insure a director of the
Group (the “Policy”). Under the Policy, the beneficiary and policy holder is a
subsidiary of the Group and the total insured sum is US$2,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$15,500,000). At the inception of the policy, the Group paid an upfront
payment of US$610,000 (equivalent to HK$4,742,000) and a single premium
charge of US$37,000 (equivalent to HK$283,000). The Group will receive cash
back based on the account value of the Policy at the date of withdrawal. The
Group receives interests at interest rates guaranteed by the insurer.

The directors of the Company expected that the Policy will be terminated at the
16th policy year in 2026 and there will be no surrender charge in accordance
with the Policy. The expected life of the policy remained unchanged from the
initial recognition and the management of the Group considered that the
financial impact of the option to terminate the Policy was not significant.

Life insurance policy is classified as financial assets at FVTPL as these financial
assets have contractual right to cash flows that do not represent contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding. The fair value gain of HK$258,000 relating to fair value of the
financial asset as at 31 March 2021 (2020: HK$198,000) was recognised.

16.

17.

EHREEE =)

REE G TE AL ERENRERBRLE -
BNRTEEASELERREERAFRAE
BREN - MFANRILRR AT RAEEMIFL
BAITEE - AEEF TR E W T
EfTEHEEE -

EBREEREMHABERBEBRE(CTABEAT
ZEHNERT AREEENTEREEEEE
FETERILE  -REE_R_—FR "R
F=ZR=1—HIFE  WHEBLZHBEMH -

LS - REBEFEERETEEFRHAKRE
MERERBEZMNZFRT - AEERZF
MEEBNEMAEEA  BEEBEEELTH -
AEE-FBNFLSEZEY=EER - |IRA
MBS S - S A BEYEN IR T
DAFEY - AEENTMED D EREHEE
E > MEFHIRDERME - BERRE -

BRAFESABRZEMEE

R M 1ETIRREEREE » BE—HAS
RBRESHMEE - AT —H2ERBATHE
REARIRE RRAABAEE—RES
(MRE ) - IRIBRE » SBRANERABAESR
—REfEAR - RIRAEXE#2,000,00035T (B
715,500,000/ 7T) « INREFIARF » AEEL
{SETEAFRIAG10,000327T (5 4,742,000587T)
KB ERE37,0005TT (FHEH 283,000 7T)
AEFRREFBSPFIRRERP ERKEIRS -
AEFIRRBATREMNFIRBERIS -

FARESTARBNB16EREFEEZ TN
fﬁ@ﬂ%% $Eﬁf%$#¢ﬂ/§iﬁﬁ{%§ﬁﬁ

2&?&@*@@% THIRE
Koo

,,\\JH%E’J i %%%%ix B

AEREDFEAEATEFTAEBZNEREE -
RZESSREENS T WEIR SR ENA KR
K MAEBRSFRENIFEEIERARS KHAREF
BEARSHFENETNENRSHRE - N_F_
—F=A=1+—H  NMFAEHERHEEHEEA
FEEENATERE258,0008T(ZE -8
£ 1 198,00057T ) ©

INVENTORIES 18. F&
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiET
(restated)
(#e=E%1)
Raw materials =Yg 179,526 190,484
Work in progress RS 66,982 59,583
Finished goods R 228,386 151,104
474,894 401,171
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
i B MR EmRMEE (o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

19. B 5 R EAthFEWRIR

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET THTT

(restated)

(#&E31)

Trade receivables B ZEWEIE 744,725 501,118
Trade receivable from a fellow subsidiary RE—ERANBARNE ZEUGIE 426 554
Bills receivables FEW R 7,468 9,699
Trade and bills receivables B S EWGIE M e s 752,619 511,371
Value added tax receivables FEWIEERL 33,418 26,741
Other receivables H I EWGERIE 5,086 6,186
Deposits and prepayments Be RIENTRIE 17,632 32,214
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables &~ FANFIEREMMESRIE 56,136 65,141
Trade and other receivables B 5 NEMEREIE 808,755 576,512

As at 1 April 2019, trade and bills receivables amounted to HK$664,765,000
(restated).

The Group allows credit period ranging from 30 days to 120 days to its trade
customers. Before accepting any new customers, the Group will internally
assess the credit quality of the potential customers and determine appropriate
credit limits. The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables, based on invoice
date which approximates revenue recognition date, at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

RIFB—NFNA—H @ EZESGIARERE
#5664,765,0005 7T (KEF) -

2&%1..:%%%%%?52%%%%?3055120
B - EENTAHRFZH » AEBHHE
BEZEEERIERETHE - 3 @.Jéu*‘ﬁﬁﬁ
5 o B EUGIE REWE BN RS AR B
B A G iEsR B HAAEE) AT 2 BRI DTN T

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

(restated)

(FEH)

0 - 30 days 0%30H 336,684 260,980
— 60 days 31Z260H 166,088 94,136
—90 days 61£290H 165,580 121,895
91— 180 days 91F180H 83,863 32,949
Over 180 days #BiE180H 404 1,411
752,619 511,371

At 31 March 2021, included in the Group's trade receivable balances are
trade receivables of HK$41,593,000 (2020: HK$30,348,000) which are past
due at the end of the reporting period. An amount of HK$404,000 (2020:
HK$1,539,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is not considered as
in default based on financial information available in the market, creditability
and good repayment records of those customers. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables for the year
ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 38.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

AZET—F=A=+—H BN FEECE
BEWGRIBAE V41,593,000 T ( — S T4
30,348,000/87T) E ZEKGFIENREHRE 8
5 - &E81404,000570 (ZF “F 4 1 1,539,000
BIT) FEE@E0R LI L - BEERTHHB L
ARMNEIEER ~ Féﬁ&&%@faﬁaﬁiﬁz
8 ZRERAREEN - REBMERZSHE
MRIEFEEAERR -

E_R_—F=A=+—HILEFE  BHRH
A EERIRRY R E R (A B 38



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
in B M EmRMEE ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &ZET —F=A=1+—HLEFE

19.

20.

21.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Included in trade and other receivables are the following amounts denominated
in currency other than functional currencies of the respective group entities:

19. BS R EMBERFRIE =)

E?ﬁ%%%@?%zlﬁﬁ‘é%m% B 5 LEMER
FIRBELUTEBIIECSE |

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET Tt

(restated)

(#&E31)

Euro &t 1,669 1,148

us$ ESM 186,157 165,135
CONTRACT ASSETS 20. BHEE

The contract assets from sales of cable assembly to a customer primarily relate
to the Group's right to consideration for work completed and not billed because
the rights are conditioned on the Group’s future performance. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the production of cable assembly
products are completed, being when the rights become unconditional.

As at 1 April 2019, contract assets amounted to HK$1,644,000.

The significant decrease as at 31 March 2021 is the result of the decrease in
purchase order from the customer at the end of the year. For the prior year
ended 31 March 2020, the significant increase was the result of the increase in
purchase order from the customer as at 31 March 2020.

MEFHESHFATNANEETRIERERIL
RE® T EARKHRH TRRAENER - RER
M—fﬁ&ﬁ‘ TIDIAREEARKER DR - BREE

H#Euuﬁi?m&ﬁj(ﬁﬂ%&%$ MR
ﬁﬂ%#ﬁﬂ BEEEZEUGR

RIFE-—NWEFEWOA—BH 6HREESER
1,644,000557T °

RIF-—F=ZA=t—HZRERDTIARAE
FEREFPHRBIERIAY - RBEEZF"F
FZA=+—RLEL—FE - ZREBMTIAR
BECT_BF-A=+—RFFRETEEM
FTEg

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND CASH 21. SIEMSRIT S RTRBRES
At 31 March 2021, pledged bank deposits represent deposits placed in a bank RNIFB - —F=B=+—0H - SIEPRITERIE
to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group and carry fixed interest HEIRPMRITLUERS FAEE Y —ETEE Y
rate of 0.3% (2020: 0.3%) per annum. T WIRES03% (T2 -FH 1 0.3%) 2E
EFEFTE
At 31 March 2021, bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates NCET—F=F=+—8 - RITEHRIRESN
ranging from 0.01% to 0.22% (2020: 0.01% to 2.10%) per annum. F0.01%ZE0.22%(—FE"FHF:0.01%ZE2.10% )
ZIBRITHSRER -
Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts denominated KEBEEEE I IhEE S  RITEREES
in currencies other than functional currencies of the respective group entities: BIELTEEEE S -
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET Tt
(restated)
(FE5)
Renminbi (“RMB") AR (TAERK ) 609 643
HK$ BT 15,057 28,572
Euro BRIt 1,466 2,638
us$ ES 22,411 10,752
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

FZA=1t—RLFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
i B MR EmRMEE (o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BZE_"F_—

22. E5 R EMEFFRIA

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
(restated)
(&&E3)
Trade payables B S EIE 482,363 417,262
Trade payables to related companies (notes a and b) FENBRR AT E SR (FYsFakb) 252 223
Bills payables FEA AR 24,754 77,028
Trade and bills payables B SN RIE R ENEE 507,369 494,513
Other payables HAbENIE 6,279 6,200
Salaries and staff related costs payables e METHBARAENTIE 34,364 28,362
Accrued charges EztER 14,809 22,634
Other tax payables A HiE 9,048 1,895
Accruals and other payables FESTEIB R EAME(S B 64,500 59,091
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENTRIE 571,869 553,604
Notes: Bt -
(@) Mr. Paul Lo, a non-executive director of the Company is the controlling shareholder of (a) ANBIFENITEREMELE BRSHEBATINZ
the related companies. MEREER -
(b) The immediate holding company of the related company has significant influence over (b) ZEBATNEEZERADHAEERALEKAT

Linkz Industries, the ultimate holding company of the Group.

BRAILHKBEARE -
The average credit period of trade payables ranges from 30 days to 120 days. S ENFIBENTIEERNF308E1208 -

The ageing analysis of trade and bills payables based on invoice date at the end

BHEIFAMENEERSREPRZERA

of the reporting period is as follows:

HEITIZ BRI DTN ¢

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FiET

(restated)

(&&E5)

0 - 30 days 0Z30H 283,373 275,233
31 -60 days 31260H 60,778 43,135
61— 90 days 61290H 81,089 52,069
91 - 180 days 91F180H 81,759 123,730
Over 180 days HiE180H 370 346
507,369 494,513

REBSEER TR - E5 LEMEN
FIABRELUTEBIIE SR |

Included in trade and other payables are the following amounts denominated
in currencies other than functional currencies of the respective group entities:

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET Tt

(restated)

(#e=E5))

HK$ HBIT 642 11
Euro ERoT 369 644
us$ ESI 26,232 40,878

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
in B M EmRMEE ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

23.

24.

25.

BE_ S —F-A=T—HLEFE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The amounts represent deposits received from customers in relation to their
purchase orders placed with the Group. At 31 March 2021, the deposits
received from customers are contract liabilities and the Group does not expect
to refund any of the deposits.

As at 1 April 2019, contract liabilities amounted to HK$363,000 (restated).

The contract liabilities at 1 April 2020 and 1 April 2019 were fully recognised as
revenue for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, respectively. When the
Group receives a deposit before commencement of the production activity, this
will give rise to contract liabilities at the inception of a contract.

23.

BHRME

ZERERE P NAEBRFENRBIEMS
MEFPWRNEZES NR_F_—F=A=1+—
H  BWEFZEAGNEERAEEERAS
RERAZSRE -

RIF-NFNA—H @ 80 &E%363,000%8

JT (ET)
EA TEFENA-AR-_F-NFNA—HZ
’]:é{aE’ﬁB E"%Szi_?;: FERZEFE

—ﬁ T—HLERFEEHEDR A - WASE
EREEESRRIWEIRS - HERANRR
RELAKNER -

LEASE LIABILITIES 24. HEEE
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET Tt
(restated)
(&)
Lease liabilities payable: ENEESE
— within one year -—FR 7,785 6,653
— more than one year but not exceeding two years - —FL EERNBBME 5,570 6,786
— more than two years but not exceeding five years - MEM L EREBRE 23,725 20,045
— within a period of more than five years - BEAF 7,176 13,571
44,256 47,055
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months shown BRENBE TR 12{8 B REHE
under current liabilities RIB%R (7,785) (6,653)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown under JERBIEE AR 1218 B & EIHIH
non-current liabilities $%8 36,471 40,402

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied by the relevant
group entities range from 2.75% to 5.64% (2020: 2.75% to 5.64%). These
lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the lease payments that
are not yet paid.

Lease obligations are denominated in currencies which are same as the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The amounts are unsecured, non-trade nature, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

25.

BEEBEEEATERNMEFREEERE
NF2.75% E564% (ZF_FFE1275%=F
5.64% ) ZEHESERHRSHAENTHN
BEE -

EAELSEEHEEERDRE
ﬁ' & -

IS HERME R

FEMSL (FEfT ) BRASTERR A BIFRIR

ZERBEREIER EEZNE - FHERE
FEoREE -

Details of amount due from ultimate holding company is as follows: BHEAEWSAERATSIENEENT ¢
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T
(restated)
(&%)
Maximum amount outstanding during the year FARAMKEEZENESSRE 1,064,940 1,024,630
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
i B MR EmRMEE (o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 BE_ZFE_—F=B=1+—HIEFE

*  The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in loan agreements.

The bank loans and import/export trade borrowings carry variable interest
rates, which are ranged from 2% - 2.5% over Hong Kong Interbank Offer Rate
("HIBOR") (2020: 1.75% — 3% over HIBOR) per annum and at the PRC loan
prime rate plus a fixed margin.

The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted interest
rates) on the Group's borrowings as at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

26. UNSECURED BANK BORROWINGS 26. BIKIPERITIERR
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
(restated)
(&EF)
Bank overdrafts ﬁE{ﬁ‘%ﬁS‘Z 67 6,691
Bank loans ﬁE! T 783,089 815,946
Import/export trade borrowings /'dj D,%i%ﬁi” 229,052 356,652
1,012,208 1,179,289
The carrying amounts of the above borrowing are repayable*: AEFRAEREEER T
E@FﬁFL* :
Within one year —FR 259,280 553,111
Within a period of more than one year but not exceeding two ~ —#F L B RBA M F HE
years 171,528 -
Within a period of more than two years but not exceeding R FERNEIB A HAR
five years 234,097 -
664,905 553,111
The carrying amounts of borrowing that contain a repayment on S HEZREREREFL AR EE
demand clause (shown under current liabilities) but repayable:  NFIREIEFRIREEZER T5IE)
EMEE
Within one year —FR 331,303 594,178
Within a period of more than one year but not exceeding two ~ —#4E1_H{BRB1E Ry B
years 16,000 16,000
Within a period of more than two years but not exceeding R 1B R4S A R
five years - 16,000
347,303 626,178
Total borrowing fEFR4BEE 1,012,208 1,179,289
Less: Amounts due within one year shown under current pEAR 7;m§b/\{§7<ﬁﬁ/ﬁ75§—fﬁl79§u,ﬁﬂ
liabilities N (606,583) (1,179,289)
Amount shown under non-current liabilities FRBEE T2 405,625 -

* HHESBEDERERBHEAMBNTATIERB ST

N °

SRATERE HOE S ERIVTENERZNF
REBBRITRZERE (TEBBRITRZERE )
2%F25% (ZF_F4F  FBEITRFERSM
1.75% ZE3% ) IR E SR & EEF ZNEE
¥ -

AEREIIR - REEERZBRERMNE (M
b‘\ ARNR)BEMNT

Jill3

2021 2020
(restated)
(#eE31))

Effective interest rate:
Variable-rate borrowings

BRI
TN R

Included in unsecured bank borrowings are the following amounts denominated

2.34% to £4.80% 2.24% to £6.09%

FREBEEBR I INEEESS - MIERRITER

in currency other than functional currency of the respective group entity: BELTEBI|Ec2HE

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FiT
(restated)

(€<==27))
HKS B 601,903 40,000
us$ ESH 81,402 156,554
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &ZET —F=A=1+—HLEFE

27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 7. BERIBEE

PIR AR FRATERNEREERIEEE (EE)

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised and

movements thereon during the year:

REEE)

Revaluation
surplus on Accelerated
Land and tax  Other timing
Buildings  depreciation difference Total
TR
BFEGRE MEREBEHE HtspdtER et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tt FiT FiT FHIT
(note)
(P3E)
At 31 March 2019 (audited and FNFZA=TR(BERLK

originally stated) J?{?IJ) - 657 160 817
Merger accounting restatement affEsTRBES ()

(note 1) - 8,714 (259) 8,455
At 1 April 2019 (restated) RIF—NEFENA—R (KEF)) - 9,371 (99) 9,272
Charge to profit or loss (note 12) gk (f1zE12) - 855 284 1,139
Exchange realignment P 50 % - - 8 8
At 31 March 2020 (restated) RIF-ZF=R=1—H (BE7) - 10,226 193 10,419
Charge (credit) to profit or loss Biamnk Gt A) (KizE12)

(note 12) - 935 (810) 125
Charge to other comprehensive BH 2 EBRANRR

income 77,980 - - 77,980
Exchange realignment [EE 5 EE 3,088 (48) (32) 3,008
At 31 March 2021 RIZ_—F=R=1—H 81,068 11,113 (649) 91,532
Note:  The amount represents the tax effect of timing difference of revenue recognition MiEE © ZeEREKNGERANEYERREREEER

and timing difference of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. HEEEREEEENRBEE -
At the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has unused tax losses of REEZF_—HF=—A=1+—HLFE Kx&

HK$2,616,000 (2020: HK$1,032,000 (restated)) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unused
tax losses are losses of HK$2,091,000 (2020: nil) that will expire in five years.
The remaining unused tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiary from 1 January
2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to
accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiary amounting to HK$427,957,000
(2020: HK$270,758,000 (restated)) for the year ended 31 March 2021, as the
Group is able to control the timing of reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

EAAEEHE RSN ZE A BHIBEEGE A
2,616,000 7T (ZF " F4F © 1,032,000 7T (&
F7)) - ARAREF RN NI TER T - W
MZEEEERELRIBEE - :STAKRBARIE
EEREE/A2,001,00008 7T (Z B _F4F: M)
R AFERRER - AT AREAHIBEETERS
K o

IREPRMEMERZE  SHPENBARR -
FNEFE—B— BB BRIREEMK S BEMR
TEHIE - PEMBATNREE _S_—F=A
=+—RUEFEARA427,957,0008T(ZFE_F
4 1 270,758,00058 70 (K EF)) 2 Bitim &
(HE R =%E ﬂﬁﬁﬁfﬁ?Aﬁﬁ%ﬂi%{’Ftﬂ?Ekﬁlﬁ
B BEREANEBAEHIES TR BRI
M E R =2 A ﬁéTf&iE#ﬂéT\%ﬁE °
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28.

29.

2R —HFZA=+—HILFE

SHARE CAPITAL

The share capital as at 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 amounting
to HK$28,790,000 represented the combined share capital of the Company of
HK$18,400,000, the Target Company of HK$390,000, Hover Manufacturing
Company Limited (“Hover Manufacturing”) of HK$8,000,000 and Linkz
Industries Technology Limited (formerly known as “Linkz International Limited”,
“Linkz Industries Technology”) of HK$2,000,000. Prior to the Acquisition, the
Target Company, Hover Manufacturing and Linkz Industries Technology were
directly wholly owned subsidiaries of Linkz Industries. As part of the Linkz Cables
Reorganisation, the entire equity interest in Hover Manufacturing held by Linkz
Industries, is transferred to the Target Company and the operating business
of Linkz Industries Technology is transferred to Linkz International Limited
(formerly known as “Linkz Technology Limited”), a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Target Company. The Linkz Cables Reorganisation was implemented before
the completion of the Acquisition and completed on 30 June 2020. Since then,
the Target Company became the holding company of Hover Manufacturing and
Linkz Industries Technology.

The share capital as at 31 March 2021 represents the share capital of the
Company. The followings are the details of the share capital of the Company:

28.

&N
A_F—NFONE—H - B _FF=A=14—
ARZF"FHINA—HRIKAR£%E28,790,000

BT EI AN T £ %8 /418,400,0005% 7T « BIZA
B£E/390,00087T « RMEFTRAR (T
MBI ) £%8/58,000,0005# 7T R 20 T 2RHY
BRAT (A8 BLETIEREERAR . "FER
TR, )) £%8/42,000,0008 T A LA -
RUWEESEIER > BIZAR ~ SMEEREAT
%ﬂ&%ﬁﬁlﬁmaﬁéémgﬂaoﬁﬁﬁ
ABEH AR - BT EAFEMEEN
2R EETEIZAR - mIEL T EREEM
REEFEEHETEREQARNZERBAREL
TXEEERAD (AR EETERTERA
) EABESANKESETRBIEMR » 10
RIF"FFERA=THRK - Blt > BEA
TﬁﬁﬁﬂiL&illiﬂ&m#%ﬁao

R B —F=A=1+—HZRAERATNK

NITEFT

A o PINBAARZBAFE

Number of
shares Amount
BR &%
HK$ HK$'000
BT FHT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREE.0EITE AR
Authorised: R
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, RIF-NENA—F ZF_FF=A=+—H
1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 TEIRENA-ARIEI—F=A=+—H  3,000,000,000 30,000,000 30,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTISERA
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, NIF-NEINA—A - FFE=A=1+—H"
1 April 2020 _E_FHENA—R 1,840,000,000 18,400,000 18,400
Exercise of share options TR 432,000 4,320 4
At 31 March 2021 RIZT—H=A=+—H 1,840,432,000 18,404,320 18,404
SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION 29. ARSI 3RE932 5

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution
passed on 24 January 2018 (the “Share Option Scheme”).

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the best
available personnel, to provide additional incentive to eligible participant(s)
including employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants, advisers,
distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or
service providers of the Group and to promote the success of the business of
the Group.

The exercise price should be the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares of
the Company as quoted in the Stock Exchange on date of grant, which must
be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
quoted on the Stock Exchange for the 5 business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of the Company on
the date of grant.

On 24 August 2018, the directors of the Company announced that 88,992,000
share options (the “Old Options”) to subscribe for ordinary shares of the
Company of HK$0.01 each were offered to be granted to 37 eligible persons,
subject to acceptance of the eligible persons, pursuant to the Company’s Share
Option Scheme.

On 7 August 2020, the directors of the Company announced that 65,328,000
share options (the “New Options”) to subscribe for ordinary shares of the
Company of HK$0.01 each were offered to be granted to 50 eligible persons,
subject to acceptance of the eligible persons, pursuant to the Company’s Share
Option Scheme.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION (continued)

Details of Share Option Scheme were as follows.

(a) New Options
The New Options were granted on 7 August 2020 with an aggregate
estimated fair value of HK$7,187,000.

1/3 of the New Options can be exercised after 18 months of the date
of grant (i.e. 7 February 2022), further 1/3 of the New Options can be
exercised after 30 months of the date of grant (i.e. 7 February 2023), and
the remaining of the New Options can be exercised after 42 months of the
date of grant (i.e. 7 February 2024) and all of these New Options will be
exercisable until 6 August 2030.

The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before 7 August
2020, the date of grant was HK$0.320.

These fair values of New Options were calculated using the Binomial model.
The inputs into the model were as follows:

Date of grant 7 August 2020
Share price at date of grant HK$0.320
Exercise price HK$0.320
Expected volatility 48.95%
Expected life 10 years
Risk-free rate 0.30%
Expected dividend yield 5.81%

(b) OIld Options
The Old Options were granted on 24 August 2018 with an aggregate
estimated fair value of HK$14,496,000.

1/3 of the options can be exercised after 18 months of the date of grant
(i.e. 24 February 2020), further 1/3 of the options can be exercised after 30
months of the date of grant (i.e. 24 February 2021), and the remaining of
the options can be exercised after 42 months of the date of grant (i.e. 24
February 2022) and all of these options will be exercisable until 23 August
2028.

The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before 24 August
2018, the date of grant was HK$0.349.

These fair values of Old Options were calculated using the Binomial model.
The inputs into the model were as follows:

Date of grant 24 August 2018
Share price at date of grant HK$0.340
Exercise price HK$0.349
Expected volatility 53.86%
Expected life 10 years
Risk-free rate 2.2%

Expected dividend yield 2.94%

The variables and assumptions used in the computing the fair value of the New
Options and Old Options are based on the directors’ best estimate. The value
of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

Expected volatility was determined by using the annualised standard deviation
of historical share price daily movements of selected comparable companies
in same industry. The expected life used in the model was based on directors’
best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.

29. LU AT RIS (2)

BREREIZFBAT -

(a) FEBRGIE
FEBEDR-S-SENFTAEE &
sHA{EARZE A 7,187,000 7T ©

=R —HEREATRZE B BRET18E
AEIZTE""HF"AtR)®BETE » B
=0 —HERRE TR H B 83018 A
(BIZ8B_=F"_AtH)®BETE MHRT
IR E R BBEs42EA8 (BN 2%
“MEZ/B+LR)BETE  MATEZEH
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION (continued)

The Group recognised the share-based payments of HK$4,987,000 (2020:
HK$6,259,000) for the year ended 31 March 2021.

At 31 March 2021, the number of shares in respect of which options had been
granted and remained outstanding under the Share Option Scheme was, in
aggregate, 150,816,000 (2020: 88,992,000), representing 8.19% of the
shares of the Company in issue at that date (2020: 4.84%). At 31 March 2021,
57,088,000 (2020: 29,664,000) share options are vested and exercisable.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, 432,000 options in the Company at
an exercise price of HK$0.349 per share were exercised. The weighted average
closing price of the Company’s share granted on the Stock Exchange at the
date of exercise was HK$0.570. An amount of HK$69,000 was reclassified from
share options reserve to share premium.

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share options held
by directors of the Company and employees of the Group during the year:

29.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTD)
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LA MT R 5 (2)

AEENHE_S_—F=R=1t—"HILEE®
ZLIREAD A BB AN 574,987, 00058 T (B -
£ 1 6,259,0003#7T ) ©

RIBE_—FEZA=+—0 ' REERETE
EFHENRITENBERES LNKRDEBE S
150,816,000 8% (ZF ZF £ © 88,992,000
B AR AR ERITRBINSN19% (ZFZ
B 1 484% )  W_FB_—F=A=+—H -
57,088,000/ (— 5 —F 4 : 29,664,000%) &
MRS B RATIE -

E_S T —F=—A=+—HILFE » AQTT
FEAEK0.3495TTHYA432, 00017 BB IR I E BT
o RATIRITE B HR B AR H A9 3 900
ST EA0.5705# 7T - ©%E69,0005 T2
HERIEEEETOBERMRE -

TEREBRAANDEELAEEREEFBEALNTE
AEHERF AR EEED -

Number of share option
FElE"A
Balance at
1.4.2019, Granted Forfeited Exercise
Exercise price 31.3.2020 during during during Balance at
Date of grant per share Exercisable period and 1.4.2020 the year the year the year 31.3.2021
RZE-hE&
mA—-HB-ZB°%F
=A=t+-HEk RIEZ-%
“E_REMA-H =R=t-H
o=t BRITEE T WEEE  FARE  FREM ERTGE HOkEER
Executive directors HiTEE
24.8.2018 HK$0.3497%5 7T 24.2.2020-23.8.2028 6,672,000 - - - 6,672,000
2482018 HK$0.349%7T 24.2.2021-23.8.2028 6,672,000 - - - 6,672,000
2482018 HK$0.349% T 24.2.2022 -23.8.2028 6,672,000 - - - 6,672,000
Non-executive directors FHTEE
2482018 HK$0.349%7T 24.2.2020-23.8.2028 608,000 - - - 608,000
2482018 HK$0.349% T 24.2.2021-23.8.2028 608,000 - - - 608,000
24.8.2018 HK$0.3497%5 7T 24.2.2022 -23.8.2028 608,000 - - - 608,000
Independent non-executive directors ~ BUETEE
2482018 HK$0.349% 7T 24.2.2020-23.8.2028 1,824,000 - - - 1,824,000
2482018 HK$0.34975 7T 24.2.2021-23.8.2028 1,824,000 - - - 1,824,000
2482018 HK$0.3497%7T 24.2.2022 -23.8.2028 1,824,000 - - - 1,824,000
Employees /3
24.8.2018 HK$0.3497%7T 24.2.2020-23.8.2028 20,560,000 - (904,000) (432,000 19,224,000
2482018 HK$0.3497%7T 24.2.2021-23.8.2028 20,560,000 - (904,000) - 19,656,000
24.8.2018 HK$0.349% 7T 24.2.2022 -23.8.2028 20,560,000 - (904,000) - 19,656,000
7.8.2020 HK$0.320%7T 7.2.2022-6.8.2030 - 21,776,000 (120,000) - 21,656,000
7.8.2020 HK$0.320%7T 7.2.2023-6.8.2030 - 21,776,000 (120,000) - 21,656,000
7.8.2020 HK$0.320% 7T 7.2.2024-6.8.2030 - 21,776,000 (120,000) - 21,656,000
88,992,000 65,328,000 (3,072,000 (432,000 150,816,000
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30.

31.

32.

BE_ZR_—HF=A=1+—HLFE

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 30. EAKIE
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
(restated)
(#=&E%)
Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of property, BEEWEETNBERNGE T ERE
plant and equipment contracted but not provided for in the  fERBSHWZE « BE NMERIBER
consolidated financial statements BEARFEXZ 3,580 2,927
RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES 31. BIKIEFIETE
The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all qualifying AEEREBNAMEGEREESHEARGIMATR
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are held separately DETE - BRI ENEEDRAEENE EDH
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group B UHRENIFEAMZEHNES - 7EH
contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs to the scheme, subject to a cap MZstEI I EBE A BMS%EREER - MR
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 of employees, which contribution RESSFABEASZ30,000T © BREAMIKD
is matched by the employees. The Group also makes voluntary contribution in HESHHTR—E - Rt ERN  AEE
addition to the mandatory contribution. TMEE BREHER -
The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are members of a state- KEFERPEINEARNEE D RPBEIBIGE
managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the government of the PRC. PFHEREERKEAFARTNKE - NBATE
The subsidiary is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to R TERANIEEB 2 AR RER F BRI
the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the REBEMNEE - RAEETDRAEFNFE T
Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified —BEERMELIEERRK -
contributions.
The total expenses recognised in profit or loss of HK$33,606,000 (2020: REBEZS—HF=-A=1T—HILHFE Kx&
HK$37,384,000) for the year ended 31 March 2021 represent contributions EizZ Fst BN TSI Bt X m It E 5T 2IF
paid and payable to these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of HENREMNNEANERERNRAZAERR
the plans. 33,606,000 0(—F —F4F :37,384,000557T) ©
MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION 32. FEFHERS
Pursuant to the Sale and Purchases Agreement, the Target Group had RIEEEwHSR  BEREECETELNESESE
undertaken the Linkz Cables Reorganisation. As part of the Linkz Cables Ao FRENBESHAN—FH » TATER
Reorganisation, Linkz Industries Technology transferred certain assets and REETEEREE(EEREE,)) MIFEEE
liabilities (the “Transferred Assets”), rather than the entity as a whole, to Linkz BEETESARMEENBAREL IR
International Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Target Company, which BRAR - WR_FB_FFRA=FTHEK -
was completed on 30 June 2020. The consideration of the Transferred Assets EEEEERE6,583,000/8 T A R L AR AR 4%
amounted to HK$96,583,000 was settled through the current account with BATHRENR B EN -
ultimate holding company.
The carrying amounts of the Transferred Assets, which are included in the RIF—NENA—HFF AREERILEHRNE
opening balances of the Group as at 1 April 2019 as Linkz Industries Technology BEEE (RAWWE AL - AT ERE
is under common control of Linkz Industries before and after the Linkz Cables REASEBHMNBEZEAETELREZS) R
Reorganisation as detailed in note 1, as at 30 June 2020 are as follows: FIFRFEXRA=THNKRAEEBENT ¢
30.6.2020
HK$'000
T
Property, plant and equipment W~ RENE 6,293
Inventories FE 25,563
Trade and other receivables B 5 R EHMEBERIE 183,527
Trade and other payables H 5 REAMENTRIE (14,899)
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ENRIRMBARFIE (297,067)
(96,583)
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32.

33.

2R —HFZA=+—HILFE

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION (continued)

The remaining assets and liabilities (the “Excluded Assets and Liabilities”) would
remain in Linkz Industries Technology and would be excluded from the Target
Group. Upon completion of the Linkz Cables Reorganisation on 30 June 2020,
the Excluded Assets and Liabilities are assumed to be disposed of by the Group
and the consideration would be settled through the current account with
ultimate holding company. The carrying amounts of the Excluded Assets and
Liabilities that are retained by Linkz Industries Technology as at 30 June 2020
are disclosed as below:

32.

FTEFRERS @)

EnEEREE(HRIEERER)) BRER
EATEMNE - BAEENRESERR - #R
SESAN_FTEFAA=THTEE © ER
RAEEFHERIEERER @ MRERES
HRARERATRNARBREEN - R °FF
NA=ZTHREBREATERNENRINEELE
EREERENT

30.6.2020

HK$'000

THT

Other receivables and prepayments HEWERIE & TS FIE 499
Taxation recoverable AU EIRLIE 41
Amount due from ultimate holding company FEM B AR AT TR 1,064,940
Bank balances and cash (note) IRITHEBREES (Fﬁuf) 3,668

Bills and other payables FEA AR R E M FEAT TR (23,456)

Unsecured bank borrowings AR TIER (786,076)

Bank overdrafts (note) RITEL (M) (4,135)
255,481

Less: Consideration of the Transferred Assets B EEEEENRE (96,583)
158,898

Note:  Net cash inflow into the Group arising from the Excluded Assets and Liabilities is
HK$467,000 as at 30 June 2020, being the sum of bank balances and cash of

HK$3,668,000 and bank overdrafts of HK$4,135,000.

Upon the completion of the Linkz Cables Reorganisation, the net assets value
of the Target Group would be reduced by HK$158,898,000 which was the
difference between the Excluded Assets and Liabilities of HK$255,481,000 and
the consideration for the Transferred Assets of HK$96,583,000.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

At 31 March 2020, the Group had given cross guarantees of HK$387,000,000
to banks to secure certain general banking facilities granted to ultimate holding
company and the Group. Out of the banking facilities granted, HK$127,337,000
had been designated for use by the ultimate holding company, and the remaining
banking facilities of approximately HK$259,663,000 had been designated for
use by the Group as agreed among the parties as at 31 March 2020.

At 31 March 2020, the Group had given cross guarantees of HK$154,000,000
to a bank to secure certain general banking facilities granted to ultimate
holding company, a fellow subsidiary and the Group. Out of the banking
facilities granted, HK$59,678,000 had been designated for use by the ultimate
holding company and a fellow subsidiary, and the remaining banking facilities
of approximately HK$94,322,000 had been designated for use by the Group as
agreed among the parties as at 31 March 2020.

At 31 March 2020, the Group had also given another guarantee of
HK$153,000,000 to a bank to secure another general banking facility granted
to ultimate holding company. At 31 March 2020, the amounts utilised by the
ultimate holding company amounted to HK$150,000,000 in respect of the
banking facilities guaranteed by the Group.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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33. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS (continued)

—FZRA=T—HBLFE

The management of the Group considers the fair values and expected credit
loss of these guarantees were insignificant as at 31 March 2020. No provision
of financial guarantee was recognised as at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2021,

these financial guarantees are all

released. At 31 March 2021, the Group did not give any guarantee to bank to

secure bank facilities granted to third party.

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into the following

transactions with related parties as follows:

33.

34. §

HMBEREN @

2&%.*@% B M_FB_ZF=R=1—H

SERNATESEBEERBLEAER < 12
:gig’fﬁ_ﬁ_—i— E&Z%—ﬂfﬁﬂﬁ—lﬂ
AR I S TR IR B RS

REEZF_—F-_A=t—RHLFE ZZFY
BRRC2HME - RS- —F=g=+—
B AEENEABPITEHEMAER > DUEH
RYEZIHRITRE -

AR 5

() BRINEREMBIHREREMADWENRS LM
ERoh - AEE SRR TRI RSB T

2021 2020
Relationships BAR HK$'000 HK$'000
Nature of transactions RGME FHET FHTT
(restated)
(&B=E3)
A fellow subsidiary (note a) —RIERMEA R (ffita)
Sales HE 1,139 1,310
Purchase 2 11 33
Ultimate holding company RAISIERR AT
Service fee P75 & 10,543 9,789
Expenses relating to short-term lease BRRHEEMNR 3,036 2,736
A related company (note b) —RERERAT (kiztb)
Sales HE - 66
Purchase R - 17
Utility fee KEE 979 106
Expenses relating to short-term lease BRREEMNRX 457 225
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HESENH SR 37 19
Sundry fee HMIBER 23 -
Related companies (note c) REA T (Bffakc)
Sales HE 106 -
Purchase 24 293 197
Sub-contracting fee BER - 177

Notes:

(@) Sales to and purchase from a fellow subsidiary, Lighthouse Technologies (Huizhou)

Limited.

(b) Mr. Paul Lo, a non-executive director of the Company, is the controlling
shareholder of the related company, Huizhou Light Engine Limited. The Group
entered into new lease agreements for the use of leasehold properties with
the related company for 1 to 3 years during the year ended 31 March 2021.
The Group recognised an addition of right-of-use asset and lease liability of
HK$36,000 and HK$36,000 respectively. Lease liability as at 31 March 2021

amounted to HK$260,000 (2020: HK$616,000).

(c) Sales to, purchase and sub-contracting fee from certain subsidiaries of GP
Industries Limited. GP Industries Limited has significant influence over Linkz
Industries, the ultimate holding company of the Group.

(@ RRARMBATEMHIAAEHZERARFEL
HOSHE SR -

(b) AATFERITESEMELERBABATENITE
HEBRNBRARZIZEREE - REE_S_—4F
ZBA=+—HIFE - AEERBEVENERR
BEARUHHEERE  A—ZE=F - &%
BN RIERFEREEERE MEEAE36,000/7T
536,000 - RZF_—F=A=1+—HWHEE
& {&%260,000/7T (ZF 254 © 616,00057T) ©

(0 MGPLEBRATETHEATFEHMHEE « ¥

BLROBER - GPIEXERAAHAEEEAKE
BAREETIFBERTE -
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel was as follows:

(0

(d)

BE_ZR_—HF=A=t—HILFE

34. BAEARS ()

(b) TREEAEEME
FEEEASHBEMT

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET Tt

(restated)

(#&&E31)

Short-term employee benefits PHAEEER 27,326 20,788
Equity-settled share-based payments BRI LI R B FRIE 2,191 2,801
Retirement benefits schemes contributions BB AIETEI LRk 1,123 1,165
30,640 24,754

The remuneration of key management personnel is determined by the
remuneration committee and the executive directors, having regard to the

performance of individuals and market trends.

Guarantees given to banks by the following related parties:

FREHABNNES I AFIEEGLRIITES
BEAKRBERTZBEMETE -

(0 LAUTREB S mERITHREER -

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

(restated)

(F&E5)

Guarantees from ultimate holding company R E RN T RER 467,670 1,561,344
Personal guarantees from Mr. Paul Lo, a non-Executive RERARFFRITESEMELELEN

director of the Company B AER 142,272 1,111,094

Cross guarantees from ultimate holding company R B AN TR X IER - 387,000

Cross guarantees from ultimate holding company and a KRB RRZEKRA T R—ER AW E
fellow subsidiary NRIZER - 154,000

Guarantees given by the Group to related parties:

Details of the guarantees given by the Group are disclosed in note 33.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 35. A BRI ARER

The statement of financial position of the Company is as follows:

RABNBAORERLT

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
Non-current asset JERENEE
Investment in subsidiaries RHEATNKE 805,436 146,680
Current assets REEE
Other receivables Hib e FIE 1,221 1,301
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEW BT ZRIE 124,055 201,592
Bank balances and cash IRITAREMNIES 1,499 7,514
126,775 210,407
Current liabilities mENEE
Accruals FEFTE R 945 9,355
Amount due to a subsidiary N —RENBARRIE 70,070 -
Unsecured bank borrowing — amount due within one year — SEIKIFIRITETR — RN —F A ZIE] 124,278 -
195,293 9,355
Net current (liabilities) assets wEN (BB BEFE (68,518) 201,052
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBEE 736,918 347,732
Non-current liability EREBEE
Unsecured bank borrowing — amount due after one year AR IRITIE TN — TN —F A2 405,625 -
Net assets BEFE 331,293 347,732
Capital and reserves BAR
Share capital R 18,404 18,400
Reserves (note) &S (FsE) 312,889 329,332
Total equity it 331,293 347,732
Note: 5T -
Share Capital Share  Accumulated
premium reserve options reserve profits Total
B ME BA G TR RETEF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBIT FBIT FHT FHTT FHBIT
(note a)
(Bf¥za)
on 1 April 2019 RIF—NEF
ME—H 271,921 7,324 3,807 424 283,476
Profit and total comprehensive FRHFEER
income for the year Wi 4858 - - - 94,797 94,797
Dividends paid [SENP:ESS - - - (55,200) (55,200)
Recognition of equity-settled share- & #E 2k 45 & LUIR
based payments ERRFIE R - - 6,259 - 6,259
At 31 March 2020 PIFIEHF
=B=1+—H 271,921 7,324 10,066 40,021 329,332
Profit and total comprehensive FRHEFLE2E
income for the year W ErAR%R - - - 33,623 33,623
Dividends paid EARE - - - (55,200) (55,200)
Recognition of equity-settled share-  $ZHE 45 = LU A
based payments HPRFRIE TR - - 4,987 - 4,987
Exercise of share options 1T 216 - (69) - 147
Share options forfeited and i ESVRITES
transferred to accumulated profits  R&HaA - - (340) 340 -
At 31 March 2021 WIZEZ—F
=B=+—H 272,137 7,324 14,644 18,784 312,889
Note a: The amounts represent capital contribution from ultimate holding company. fizta @ SLEIERESZERATNLIE -
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36. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 36. BB BIRYEEIE
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries held by the Company as at 31 March AN B —FEN_FFEF=A=1+—H
2021 and 2020 are as follows: FENHBATMNES ﬁlﬂt
Nominal
Place of value of issued  Proportion of nominal
incorporation/ share capital/ value of issued share capital
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital held by the Company  Principal activities
_ EIﬂ_ﬂﬁE.\"Z/ ERTRA/  ARARBEETRA
MBARAHE PR IL3E HMEAEE EfEZ L TEXH
2021 2020
Directly held
EREE
Time Interconnect Investment Limited BVI US$10,000 100% 100% Investment holding
(“Time Investment”) KERUES REER
Linkz Cables Limited (Note g) BVI HK$8,390,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
EREBARAT (Mitg) EBRULES (2020: HK$390,000) BERK
Indirectly held
GitE2E)
Time Interconnect HK Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 100% 100% Tradlng of cable assembly products
EBRTXES B BEERAHESR
TIME Interconnect Technology (Huizhou) Limited PRC US$28,600,000 100% 100% Manufacturing and trading of cable
(Note a) \ HE assembly products
EFRE (BM) BARAT (fizta) AERBEEHANER
Hover (Kunshan) Electronic Material Company Limited PRC HK$30,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of networking cables
_ (Notesaand g) . e LEQRER
M (B EFMRBRAR (Mitakg)
Hover Manufacturing (Note g) Hong Kong HK$8,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
SMEYE (zEg) BH REZK
Linkz (HK) Limited (Notq q) Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
FRFEBRAR (Fitg) BE REZK
Linkz Industries (Shanghai) Limited (Notes b, e and g) PRC US$15,000,000 95% 95% Manufacturing and trading of
ERBST 2 (D) ARAR (Kb - efg) HE networking cables
LEREERKER
Linkz Industries (Suzhou) Limited (Notes a and g) PRC US$30,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing and trading of
T3 BRI BRAT (itakg) HE networking cables
Linkz International Limited (Notes ¢ and g) Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Tradmg of networking cables
BATEERFERAR (WiEckg) & BERBER
EILH2EigmaRAR (Notes f and g) PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of networking cables
BILmESsaaRAR (Fikg) FE LERBER
Huizhou Chuangxiang Technology Limited (Note f) PRC RMB145,250,100 100% 100% Manufacturing and trading of cable
ENAIERBERAR (FiE) HE assembly products
AEREESHANER
Time Robotics Technology (Shanghai) Limited (Note a) PRC US$600,000 100% 100% Manufacturing and trading of
BIEHESARE (D8) BRAF (Fzta) FEl (2020:U5$100,000) robotic_products
AEREEBRER
EEHARE (FM) BRAT (Notes aand d) PRC US$100,000 100% ~ Development and trading of
BERARE (BM) BRAR ( ffika K d) HE computer softwares
FaNESERTM

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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36.

37.

38.

BE_ZR_—HF=A=1+—HLFE

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

(@) These companies were established in the PRC in the form of Wholly Foreign-owned
Enterprises.

(b) The company was established as sino-foreign joint venture registered under the PRC
law.

(¢) The subsidiary was formerly known as Linkz Technology Limited before 15 July 2020.

(d) This subsidiary was incorporated on 30 July 2020.

(e) The non-wholly owned subsidiary has immaterial non-controlling interest and related
financial information is not disclosed.

(f)  These companies were established in the PRC in the form of Wholly Owned Enterprises.

(g) These subsidiaries are under common control and were acquired upon completion of
the Acquisition during the year ended 31 March 2021 as detailed in note 1.2.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of both years.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able
to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group's overall
strategy remains unchanged throughout the year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which includes
unsecured bank borrowings and lease liabilities in notes 26 and 24 respectively,
net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with the capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors of the Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues and raising or repayment
of bank borrowings.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

36.

37.

38.

FIES A BIRIEEIE ()
FdsE -

(@ ZEARINPELINEBEENT AR -

(b) ZARBRBEPEEFEEMEALATIHGESED
®

(O ZMBARANR_F_ZFLATARMBAELT
EREAERAR -

(d) ZWBARN-_Z-ZHLA=THZEMKI -

=k

() #ZIF2EWBAREENENIFZBR R
WMERBHBEER -

() ZEARDHRTELUBECENT AR -

(9 ZEWBARANBE_F_—F=R=+—HILF
FEUWFERRTTRR IR ZEG IR - FBRMN
H1.20

RWEFER @ MENBARRTEAESEE
% o

BEREBEE

RERAEEMBEREIHELSE » AEEHH
ERETEE  WEBEEENMERERRET
BRENEFERARER - AEEAVEERRRN
BEFENERFIE -

FEENEARBEEERFE(DBRFENE
26 LAV EIRFIRITEANEERR) - NKRE
ERBESEEVURKNRATRE ANE(LER (B
EOBITERRGERE) -

FARESTERERERUE - FRsERN—
D AARNEFERERRANEEAEREH
Bk - REAQNTDEENESR  AEEBE6
RIS~ BITHRG ~ BRNERRITER
FEHEEEARRE -

LMTA
a. TWMTEMNSHE

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
(restated)
(&EF)

Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REBER AT ENSREE 922,046 1,923,551
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFT A ERCSREE 6,035 5,760
928,081 1,929,311

Financial liabilities =L
Amortised cost EeH A 1,525,856 1,897,949
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets at FVTPL,
trade and other receivables, amount due from/to ultimate holding company,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables,
unsecured bank borrowings and lease liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management of the Group manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure that appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable
rate bank balances and variable rate unsecured bank borrowings (see notes
21 and 26 for details of these balances, respectively). Interest charged on
the Group'’s borrowings are mainly at variable rates and are mainly at the
interest rate offered by the HIBOR. The Group currently does not have a
policy on cash flow hedges of interest rate risk. However, the management
of the Group monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to the
fixed rate pledged bank deposits and fixed rate lease liabilities. However,
the management of the Group considers the fair value interest rate risk on
the fixed deposits is insignificant as the fixed deposits are relatively short-
term.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure
to interest rates for variable-rate bank borrowings. The analysis is prepared
assuming that variable rate bank borrowings outstanding at the end of
the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. 50 basis point
increase or decrease represents the assessment management of the Group
of the reasonably possible change in interest rates of bank borrowings. No
sensitivity analysis is presented for bank balances as the directors of the
Company considered the Group's exposure to cash flow interest rate risk
is not material.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended
31 March 2021 would decrease or increase by HK$4,227,000 (2020:
HK$4,925,000).

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the

inherent interest rate risk as the exposure at the end of the reporting period
does not reflect the exposure during the year.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

BE_ZR_—HF=A=1+—HLFE

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Foreign currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets (mainly including
trade and other receivables, amount due from ultimate holding company,
pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash) and monetary liabilities
(mainly including trade and other payables, amount due to ultimate holding
company and unsecured bank borrowings) denominated in currencies other
than the respective group entities’ functional currencies at the end of the

reporting period are as follows:

38. £ TR )

b. MERAKMEEEERBRK @)
A E ()
SR
REREPRAEENEEEE (EE2BHE
B REMBWEIE - ERREZERAT
AE - EERETERUKBRITER KRR
) REBaE(EEEEEZIREMENRK
18~ [EN RAE A B FRIE SRR SR T (S
) ERAELGEERERNINGEEED
INNEESETE - TSR

Assets Liabilities
&E BfE
2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FHET
(restated) (restated)
(&%) (R=E5))
HK$ against US$ PBITHITT 15,057 28,572 602,545 40,111
RMB against US$ AR R ITT 609 643 - -
Euro against US$ BT R ZETT 3,135 3,786 369 644
US$ against RMB ETLAARLE 16,078 8,953 102,084 141,294
US$ against HK$ ETHEATT 192,490 167,114 5,550 56,138
Other than above, several subsidiaries of the Group have the following Brbaish BT AEENBARCZLU TSR

intra-group receivables (payables) denominated in HK$ and US$, which are
foreign currencies of the relevant group entities.

MIEWGRIE (FEAFIE) LU TR T (B

BASSEERASNE) FHE -

Amounts due from (to)
group entities

FELS (FEf) EEERETRIR

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

TFET FET

(restated)

(FE5)

HK$ against US$ HBITHRZETT (38,609) (13,204)
US$ against HK$ RITRABTT (174,558) (343,111)
US$ against RMB ETRARE 135,513 214,638

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency exposure. However, management monitors
the related foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign currency risk of US$, HK$, RMB
and Euro. Under the pegged exchange rate system, the financial impact
on exchange difference between HK$ and US$ will be immaterial as most
HK$ denominated monetary assets and liabilities are held by group entities
having US$ as their functional currency, and therefore no sensitivity analysis

has been prepared.

ARERHE B AR B ONE B R R SN SO R
ReAm o FEESRIERABINEE
B WHBHERERITERGEER

BRE DT

REETRAZET BT - ARBEERT
HISNERER o EEXRBMHET - ANEE
BRFHIREDLUETIEMNEBEEN
SELETTREINGEEY » BT sTER
EANTBEERAER - A ERRES

RUE DT ©
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The sensitivity analysis below details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% increase
and decrease in US$ against RMB and Euro. 5% is the sensitivity rate used
which represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign currency rate. The sensitivity analysis includes the Group's
monetary assets, monetary liabilities and amounts due from/to group
entities denominated in RMB, Euro and US$. A positive (negative) number
indicates a decrease (increase) in post-tax profit when US$ strengthens 5%
against RMB and Euro. For a 5% weakening of US$ against RMB and Euro,
there would be an equal but opposite impact on the post-tax profit for the
year.

38. £RT R )

b.

MBEREEBEREUR &)

HiGEE ()

BREDNT (@)
TXBRESITHFAAREERETAARKE
EET EARTES%HIERE - FA5%
REBRELERRREEBHEXRNAETR
FHERTE c MRKESIMTBEAEENUAR
BT ARSI EMNEBEE C BEEE
KIEWFEHEEBEZIE - IF (&) 8&KR
BEXTRARBREITHAES% R » BRELE
EAEA (B hN) - EITHEARE EREBRITRE
5% AIEHFENBRRERTELSE
BERTE -

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

(restated)

(&=&E7)

RMB against US$ ARMHET 25 27
Euro against US$ BRITREETT 115 131

US$ against RMB EILRARE (1,857) (3,086)

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the sensitivity analysis
is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign currency risk as the year end
exposures do not reflect the exposure during the year.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on their
contractual obligations resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group's
credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables, trade receivable from
a fellow subsidiary, contract assets, bills receivables, pledged bank deposits
and bank balances. The Group does not hold any collateral to cover its
credit risks associated with its financial assets but maintains credit insurance
policies to insure trade receivables with details mentioned below to insure
counterparty risks with customers.

Trade balances (including trade receivables, trade receivable from a fellow
subsidiary and contract assets)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits and credit
approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal
credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and
defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers
are reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring procedures are in place to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on trade
balances individually. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group applies internal
credit rating for its customers. The following table provides information
about the exposure to credit risk for trade balances which are assessed
individually as at 31 March 2020 and 2021 within lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired).
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade balances (including trade receivables, trade receivable from a fellow
subsidiary and contract assets) (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has concentration of credit
risk as 28% (2020: 21%) and 69% (2020: 74%) of trade receivables
were due from the Group's largest customer and five largest customers,
respectively. As at 31 March 2021, the Group has the concentration risk
from customer A, customer B, customer C and customer D amounted for
a total of 62% (2020: 66%) of trade balances. They are international well-
known companies engaging in telecommunications and global networking
industries and with strong financial backgrounds. The expected loss
rates of these customers are either 0.04% or 0.20% respectively and are
assessed as low risk. The Group also maintains the credit insurance policies
to insure against counter-party risk with all customers, of which 90% of
the actual losses would be covered by the insurance policies. The Group's
concentration of credit risk by geographical location is mainly in the PRC
which accounted for 66% (2020: 55%) of trade receivables as at 31 March
2021.

EE/E fER BB (&)

EBEZEH (BIFEZENTE - RE—/R
FHB L A E BIEWSTER EAIEE) (45)
PSR  AEREAZEHREERR
B S IEGRIANI28% (Z B _Z4F 1 21% )
Fi69% (ZF_FE 1 74%) » I BIZREAR
EERABERAREE -RN_ZE_—HF=
A=1+—H A£EBHBREFA - BFB-
BECREFDHNESRE HARMEES
EERA62% (CE_FH 166% ) RER
FARESARDIBAITENBEENRA
A BEBNEE - 2SRFNESEEEX
DR A0.04%550.20% » MR AERRE -
AEETEREERRBEELRERERP
R T EBRIER - Ho0% BB EEREREE
WE - MBI —F=A=1+—H K&
Bzt EM B ANEREERKREE AT
R ZENERIERG66% (ZF _FF
55% ) °

Gross carrying amount BERMEE
2021 2020

Trade Trade

receivable receivable
Average Trade from a fellow Contract Average Trade  from a fellow Contract
Credit rating EETH lossrate  receivables subsidiary assets loss rate receivables subsidiary assets

PY=EtiEE RE-HRZ

MEAFR MWEATN
TBRE EREKTE BRREE RNEE  TOREX Z5BUGIE BHEIE AREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEr TR T T T
(restated) (restated) (restated)
(&&5) (&E5) (#E5)
Strong B 0.04 516,873 426 2,860 0.04 367,324 554 20917
Good RiF 0.20 200,114 - - 020 98,944 - -
Satisfactory wE 3.00 21,395 - - 3.00 34,579 - -
Watch list E= 10.00 343 - - 10.00 271 - -
744,725 426 2,860 501,118 554 20917

Quality classification definitions:

BRNEES

“Strong” The counterparty has very low risk of default and a 2, 0 HWFEAFELRRBRIERE » WER
prompt payment pattern. They are international well- RIS E M - MEREBRAZ
known companies with strong financial background. HAR] © B NIHEE

“Good" The counterparty has low default risk and has strong TRBIF,: HFEFELRRE  HBESHiE
financial background. E o

“Satisfactory” :  The counterparty has moderate default risk and TmE T WESEBELARREM BRI
occasionally repays after due dates, but with fair HHBEN @ BHEEINE -
financial background.

“Watch list” The counterparty has moderate default risk and TEER, 1 HFHFEBORBREN - KEEE

frequently repays after due dates, but with fair financial
background. They require special attention from the
management of the Group.

HRREN - BMBEENRE -
FEHEEEBERLNEE
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b. MBEMEREBFEREBER @

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade balances (including trade receivables, trade receivable from a fellow
subsidiary and contract assets) (continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2021, trade receivables, trade
receivable from a fellow subsidiary and contract assets were assessed
individually with considering the financial background and the historical
settlement records, including the past due dates and default rates of each
trade balance and forward-looking information is reasonable, supportable
and available without undue costs or effort. Estimated loss rates are based
on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and
are adjusted for forward-looking information. No impairment allowance
was recognised as amounts involved are insignificant.

Other receivables and rental deposits

Other receivables and rental deposits amounted to HK$5,786,000
(2020: HK$7,106,000) were assessed individually for ECL. The Group has
considered the consistently low historical default rate in connection with
payments and concluded that credit risk inherent in the Group’s other
receivables and rental deposits are insignificant and no loss allowance was
recognised.

Amount due from ultimate holding company

In determining the ECL for amount due from ultimate holding company,
the management of the Group considered the loss given default was
negligible as the ultimate holding company had the financial capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and conduced
that the credit risk is insignificant. Accordingly, no loss allowance was made
in the financial statements.

Pledged bank deposits, bank balances and bills receivables

For pledged bank deposits, bank balances and bills receivables, the directors
of the Company considered the probability of default is negligible on the
basis of high-credit-rating issuers as such amounts were receivable from
or placed in banks with high external credit rating of A or above, no
loss allowance was recognised as amounts involved were considered as
insignificant.

Financial guarantee contracts

For financial guarantee contracts given to ultimate holding company,
the Group and certain fellow subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020, the
management of the Group continuously monitored the credit quality
and financial conditions of the guaranteed parties that the Group issued
financial guarantee contracts in favour of to ensure that the Group would
not suffer significant credit losses as a result of the failure of the guaranteed
parties on the repayment of the relevant loans. The management of the
Group considered the probability of default was low and accordingly,
the loss allowance was considered as insignificant. Details of the financial
guarantee contracts are set out in note 33.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains
a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management
of the Group to finance the Group’s operations. The management of the
Group also monitors the utilisation of borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for
their non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The maturity date for
other non-derivative financial liabilities is based on the agreed repayment
dates.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

EE/E fEREFHE ()

B ZE0 (BIEEZENGTE - RE—AR
RUB ARG E ZEMSARSHVEE) (&)
BEZBFERTFE—F=A=1+—H
HFE  BEZEKGIE - RE—RRZRKEB
NRINE BEBHRIEREGHNEE@RETT
i WEEEUEBSSMATERCHE 8
FERIEE ZEWGIANEHE B RELOED
RBEICERADERANZ HENATESNE
B BEBEIFNAIEEEN - AFHEBEX
TIIRBEB AN TARFEABE T EZRIEN
AGED » WIRAIREMERFAE - ARFTS S
BB AREER o HKRHERBEREE -

HitERFIEREE RS

H Ao e U R IE R AR E 125,786,000/ 7T (—
T A 1 7,106,000087T) At TEIEEE
EEBETIE -  AEEERIEBAR
HESSEHNZR—ERE @ R ARNEEEM
EUHERHEERSHNEEEERARKRITRE
K - AR REEEE

EERREAZERARRENAREEEHE
B HRREERAREYEREEANNEHAA
MEEGNRSREERE WAREEERE
ARENBEEY - BERREERARILAE
R oo R - MR EIE B E R -

EBRARITEN ~ RITRRREN TR
HEBEMBITER  RITHASRLERRET
= AREZERRLERESFERINIE
S RBRBARSL ERNERT  BALNT
EERRHENBIT ANSEETR - BN
AR - ARFTSSBRIAER - Rl
REEDRIREE

MBEREXN

AR _BZRF=A=+—BRELERA
A~ REEETRANBARMEHNY T
BEREAME @ AEEEEEFESRSEAS
B LIE R X a8 AR I B E RS RBIER
FNEERERYHNRN - LIRRAEER
NERBERGREEERBETMRZE
REEEBE - AREEEERRENN A
MRE > SEEEELAEXR - WBERS
KIRIRFIE I YEE33 -

REEL/EE

REBERBESER - AEEERMEFAE
EEEEERAEENRELRESSEYK
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

38. 2T R )

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that
interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
current interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

b. MERAKMEEEERBRK @)
REVELEE (=)
ZREENBENASRSHE - HAIERE
BYEBNEX - RITRSEEVREREHRN
BIHAFIZE -

Liquidity risk tables MBI E LR
Weighted
average  On demand Total
effective  or less than 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months tolyear 1to2years 2toSyears OverSyears  cashflows amounts
it 222 BEXE FMFERE
BRfZE  JR=@R Z=@RE-% —ERE MERE BaLE nEBE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T TEL T
31 March 2021 Z5-F=A=1-H
Non-derivative financial ~ 3Efi4£REME
liabilities
Trade and other payables BERAMENTE N/A TER 486,499 27,149 - - - 513,648 513,648
Lease liabiities HERE 5,58 2214 8,019 7,624 28204 7673 53,754 44,256
Unsecured bank borrowings SRR (Mist)
(note) 281 472,809 147,385 180,480 238,624 - 1,039,298 1,012,208
961,522 182,553 188,104 266,848 1,673 1,606,700 1,570,112
31 March 2020 (restated) “ETEE-A=+-H
(&=3))
Non-derivative financial ~ 3EfT4 SRR
liabilities
Trade and other payables B REMEMNFE NARER 460,801 39,912 - - - 500,713 500,713
Lease liabilities HERE 5.54 2115 7,544 9437 25338 14,79 59,228 47,055
Amount due to ultimate holding FEft S EBARZE
Company NA R 217,947 - - - - 217,947 217,947
Unsecured bank borrowings — SESEARSRATRE SN (MT3E)
(note) 434 1,059,922 122,714 - - - 1,182,636 1,179,289
Financial quarantee contracts ~ BTSIERAH NARER 340,015 - - - - 340,015 -
2,080,800 170,170 9,437 25338 14,794 2,300,539 1,945,004
Note: Mzt

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on demand
or less than 3 months” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March
2021, the aggregate carrying amounts of these bank borrowings amounted to
HK$347,303,000 (2020: HK$626,178,000). Taking into account the Group's financial
position, the directors of the Company do not believe that it is probable that the
banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The
directors of the Company believe that such bank borrowings will be repaid within 2

RELI BRI EVE R

ME R SRE R IEFRAVRIT AR LA EIH B AT A
TRERFDR=EH L WFREEE - RZF_—F=
=+—H  ZFRITERNRDE
JTE(ZEFZFF 1 626,178,000/87T) ° iF AALEE RIS
BRI - RAREREGE  RITAKAIBETEERNE
c AARERIEGE  BEERRE
FTBEEEER B - BRERITERENREPREME

/347,303,000

years (2020: within 3 years) after the end of the reporting period in accordance with N((ZERIRFE =FNR)EER  MREREERBH
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and the aggregate EHEMASEBELF SRS RENT ¢
principal and interest cash outflows according to the scheduled repayment dates are
set out as follows:
Weighted
average On demand Total
effective or less than 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months to 1year 1t0 2 years 2to 5 years cash flows amounts
i3] HEXS FRRE
S SR=ER ZERE-£ —ERE MERE nEEE afE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TE TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL
Unsecured bank borrowings RERRTER
At 31 March 2021 RIFZ-F=A=+-H 3.68 268,204 65,607 16,160 - 349,971 347,303
At 31 March 2020 (restated) W E_FF=A=1+-H
(&E3]) 432 508,838 91,384 16,973 16,286 633,481 626,178

#F E# % 2021 ANNUAL REPORT
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

E_F_—F=A=t—HILFE

38. 2T R )

C.

Fair value measured of financial instruments

Fair value of financial assets that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

Some financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of
these financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques
and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which
the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

« BATEHESMIA
B FEER M B EMEEN N FE

REREHR  AoSREETRATER
£ - TRIINIAEEZESREEN AT
EMER (LEZAEBIEERTIREA
&) - LRATHEFEMRNATESRR
BRI (E—RE=PERATEFTEBA
HENABREEEDE) -

Fair value Valuation techniques
Financial assets Fair value as at 31 March hierarchy and key inputs
THEE REA=1+—HWATE ATFEEHR HERTWRIZHARE
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT THT
Financial assets at FVTPL — Life insurance policy 6,035 5,760 Level 3 Quoted asset value provided by
financial institution (note)
BATESANERCESREE - ASRBRE =k SRIMBRENE EEERE
QiEY
Note:  Quoted prices provided by bank represent the fair value based on the quoted Misr © SRITIRMASRERENEEEERENA

prices on the underlying investments.

There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not measured at
fair value on a recurring basis

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
other financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
approximate to their fair values.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

PHE -

REBEZR_—FER"FRF=RA="+—
HIEFE » F— » ERAE= R B
JREA -

WIFER FEERUGENEMEERBR
IR FE
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39.

40.

BE_ZR_—HF=A=1+—HLFE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financial activities.

39.

MEEHMELERRECHR

TERFINAEEREETD (BRESIFRSE
) ELCERE - METSFMELAGEERS
MEBRARKRREMNEREAERGESREN
EXNDNRAREEFDRSNECEE -

Unsecured
bank
Amount due  borrowings,
Amountdue  to ultimate other
to a fellow holding than bank Dividend Lease Interest
subsidiary company  overdrafts payable liabilities payable Total
BIERBT
Ef—FRR EfEie f&3h (817
WBARGE BRARDNE EXI) ERRS HEaE EFIE gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T s T Tt
At 1 April 2019 (restated) RZZE-NEMA—H
(BE5]) 22 272,673 1,168,444 - 46,047 - 1,487,186
Financing cash flows BERSTHE 22) 178 27,360 (55,200) (9,243) (67,377) (104,304)
Finance costs recognised BRRERA - - - - 2,868 67,377 70,245
Waiver of current account by RRERARBRENIRER
ultimate holding company - (28,832) - - - - (28,832)
Intra-group transfer to amount SENATEEEERERA
from ultimate holding company BERARE - (26,072) - - - - (26,072)
Dividends declared EERIKRE N = - 55,200 - - 55,200
New lease entered EAuRARE - - - - 4,147 - 4,147
Exchange realignment B AR - - (23,206) - 3,236 - (19,970)
At 31 March 2020 (restated) R_F_FE=F=1—H
(i=51) - 217,947 1,172,598 - 47,055 - 1,437,600
Financing cash flows HERSTE - (121,364) 598,415 (55,200) (10,061) (39,803) 371,987
Finance costs recognised BRRERA - - - - 2,722 39,803 42,525
Dividends declared EERNKS - - - 55,200 - - 55,200
Non-cash transaction (note 32) FHER5H (H:832) - (96,583) (786,076) - - - (882,659)
New lease entered EfTufmiag - - - - 845 - 845
Lease modification HEBET - - - - (32) - (32)
Exchange realignment R - - 27,204 - 3,727 - 30,931
At31 March 2021 W_F-—£=A=t-H - - 101214 - 44,256 - 1,056,397
EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 40. SREHREE

On 31 May 2021, Time Investment, a directly wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement with GP Industries
Limited (the “Vendor"), which owns 38.13% of Linkz Industries and is a related
party of the Company.

Pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement, Time Investment conditionally
agreed to acquire, and the Vendor conditionally agreed to sell, the entire issued
share capital of GP Industries Marketing Limited (“GP Marketing”) at the initial
consideration of HK$69,000,000 (subject to adjustment), subject to the terms
and conditions of the sales and purchase agreement.

Details of the transaction are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
31 May 2021. GP Marketing and its subsidiary to be acquired, as a condition
of the transaction, are engaged in marketing and production of the automotive
wire harness products. The Group can leverage their knowledge and production
facilities to immediately deliver reliable and high quality products to the
customers.

As at the date of the authorisation of these consolidated financial statements,
the transaction has not yet completed.

RIE_—FRA=+—H AQTMNEERE
BB /AR Time InvestmentSiGP T 25 R AT (TH
75, BEELET¥38.13% 5% + AXRATNE
BT AT EE R o

RIBEEE W= » Time InvestmentB B4R B UL
EMESAEERGRELESILTIEEZERA
A(SIUES,) 2HERTRA  WFREA
69,000,000 7T (AT FHA%E) » XEEWHHRIEAKL
1EUHARIR ©

RBNFBERRAARBRR T _—FARA=
T—HWAER - ERXZNEAZ— &I
B RHETHERNBRARDNSFEHLEERE
ERER AKEUEREABREERIE
YRREFPINAEREBENER

RitSrEMBHREERETIRAY - ZX5H
RFERK
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

BT E
RESULTS £
For the year ended 31 March
HBHE=HA=1T—HL=FE
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT BT Tt Tt FET
(note) (note) (restated) (restated)
(FfdzE) (BfF5E) (#&5E3%1)) (#e5E%1))
Revenue 25 864,571 1,238,374 2,971,501 2,780,150 3,008,019
Profit before taxation BREL AR A 97,344 171,014 202,937 188,852 268,111
Taxation G| (15,660) (38,894) (36,050) (34,368) (41,480)
Profit for the year FRitAl 81,684 132,120 166,887 154,484 226,631
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERERE
At 31 March
R=B=+—H
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T BT FBT Tt FET
(note) (note) (restated) (restated)
) (fI5E) (#&5E351) (7e5E3%1))
Total assets BEE 502,047 882,906 3,142,733 3,187,431 2,598,964
Total liabilities walE (380,785) (424,184)  (2,045,691)  (2,021,536)  (1,734,563)
Net assets EEFE 121,262 458,722 1,097,042 1,165,895 864,401

Note:  The assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2017 and 2018 and the results for each of the izt @ RIF—tHERZZF—\F=A=1T—HMEERK

two years then ended have not been restated to present the effect of the acquisitions BEMEEZEZE B A IEWMEFE S ER AT &
of the Target Group. B2 EREENE -

- E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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